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Kemira is the leading player in all of its four business areas. We are present in
40 countries, our markets are global. Our paint business focuses on Northern
and Eastern Europe.

Kemira is a chemicals group made up of four business areas: Kemira Pulp&Paper,
Kemira Water, Kemira Specialty and Kemira Coatings. Kemira is a global group
of leading chemical businesses with a unique competitive position and a high
degree of mutual synergy.

Kemira Pulp&Paper
We are the world’s leading supplier of pulp and paper
chemicals. Our extensive solutions are spanning
throughout the pulp and paper industry’s value chain
from pulp to paper coating.

cooperative

Kemira Water
We are the world’s leading supplier of inorganic coagulants
and ranks third in water treatment polymers. We offer
customized water treatment and sludge treatment solutions
to municipal and private water treatment plants and industry.

responsible
p

Kemira Specialty
We are the leading supplier of specialty chemicals in selected
customer segments, serving our customers in a wide array
of industries, such as the cosmetics, packaging inks, food,
feed and detergent industries, through our customer-driven
solutions.

proactive

Kemira Coatings
We are the leading supplier of paints in Northern and Eastern
Europe, providing consumers and professionals with branded
products. Our products consist of decorative paints and
coatings for the woodworking and metal industries.

reliable

Proﬁtable growth
In 2006, Kemira recorded revenue of EUR 2,522.5 million and posted an operating
proﬁt of EUR 201.7 million. Earnings per share were EUR 0.96 and return on capital
employed (ROCE) stood at 10.6%. On December 31, 2006 the company had a
payroll of 9,327 employees. The Board of Directors proposes that a per-share
dividend of EUR 0.48 be paid for 2006.
Financial indicators on the right trajectory
Kemira’s consolidated revenue rose by 26%, operating
proﬁt by 22% and earnings per share by 32%. In addition
to organic growth (5%), corporate acquisitions contributed
to growth, all business areas improving their revenue and
operating proﬁt.

Strategic focus on proﬁtability
In the fall of 2006, Kemira announced its re-focused strategy, stressing improved proﬁtability, business expansion
into emerging markets and the development of complete
customer-driven solutions and applications.
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Key ﬁgures
EUR Million

Revenue
EBITDA
% of revenue
Operating proﬁt
% of revenue
Financial income and expenses
Proﬁt before tax
Net proﬁt
EPS, EUR
Capital employed *
ROCE, % *
Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Cash ﬂow after investments excluding acquisitions
Equity ratio, %
Personnel at year-end
* 12-month

2006
2,522.5
325.2
12.9
201.7
8.0
–37.2
162.2
120.2
0.96
1,876.6
10.6
216.8
155.0
39
9,327

2005
1,994.4
284.4
14.3
165.5
8.3
–30.5
133.5
91.4
0.73
1,662.9
9.9
155.6
170.8
44
7,670

Change, %
26
14
22

21
32
32
13

rolling average

Since all ﬁgures in this Annual Report have been rounded, the sum of individual
ﬁgures may deviate from the presented sums.
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Strategy

Focus on value creation
Re-focused in the fall of 2006, Kemira’s strategy highlights great proﬁtability.
We also emphasize continuous improvement, expansion into emerging
markets and solution provider leadership driven by customer needs.
The project aimed at reshaping business, launched two years
ago, has turned out well and efforts to consolidate the company’s international competitive position have made good
progress. In line with the target set, each of Kemira’s business areas has taken the leading position in its competitive
arena. Our primary aim is now to improve all of our business
areas’ proﬁtability on an ongoing basis.

Continuous proﬁtability improvement
We aim at great proﬁtability and continuous improvement.
Our key proﬁtability indicators comprise earnings per share,
cash ﬂow and the return on capital employed (ROCE), which
also provide the basis for management performance-based
incentives. Our earnings-per-share target is an annual
increase of 10% and the ROCE target is countinous improvement. We also aim to show a positive net cash ﬂow after
capital expenditure and dividends paid, excluding company
acquisitions.

in their work, improve their skills and be rewarded for good
performance. We aim to create a workplace in which everyone has an opportunity to improve their skills and personal
growth according to his/her aptitude and wishes. Work
should be meaningful, inspiring and enjoyable.

Continuous shareholder value creation
We aim to increase shareholder value on an ongoing basis,
in terms of both dividends paid out and higher share prices.
Throughout our operations, we seek to appear as an attractive, proﬁtable and competitive investment.

What is GREAT – Our goal
BRAND

Expansion into emerging markets
With a global presence in some 40 countries, we seek to
continue to expand our operations and gain a signiﬁcant position in emerging markets, especially in South America and
Asia. We serve our customers on a local basis and actively
create new business opportunities in vigorously growing and
emerging markets.

Solution provider leadership
We have the objective of shifting towards complete customer-driven solutions and applications in such a way that solution-based operating models will account for a larger share of
our revenue and proﬁt. Within the pulp and paper chemicals
business and the water treatment business in particular, our
customers already appear to appreciate the opportunity to
purchase complete solutions instead of single chemicals.

Towards a participative, entrepreneurial corporate
culture
We aim to enhance a participative and entrepreneurial
culture based on employees’ opportunity to have their say
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Our employees and customers feel that we deliver
on our brand promises
Kemira employees >80%
Customers >80%

Brand Promises
We are a reliable, professional partner whose creative initiatives continuously
enhance our customers’ products and manufacturing processes.

Reliable

Responsible

We keep our promises and do our utmost to solve everyday
problems. We adapt to our customers’ changing needs and
stick to our promises.

We constantly look for ways to improve the safety of our
products and processes. We seek to contribute to social
development and are doing our best to protect the environment. A good corporate citizen goes with good business
practice.

Cooperative
We put time and effort into understanding our partners’
environment. For us, an assignment always begins with
listening and moves ahead as we share our expertise
and experience. This is how we can together achieve our
customers’ objectives.

Proactive
We work unstintingly to improve our customers’ business.
We plan for the future and develop new applications,
processes and products that help our customers in their
efforts to meet their goals.

What is GREAT – Our goal
STRATEGY AND OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY
STRATEGIC GOAL
Global

•

Presence in all major
markets globally

•

Gaining a signiﬁcant
market share in emerging
markets

•

Leading

•

Unique

No 1 positions
globally in the
selected market
and customer
segments

Capability to serve global
customers with consistency

CONTINUOUS GROWTH

•
•
•

Organic growth >5% per year
New product ratio 30% of sales
Share of solution concepts dominate in business portfolio

Synergistic

•

We offer superior
customer beneﬁts

•

Our solutions help
customers to be more
competitive and more
successful in their own
business

•
•

Shared knowledge

•

Best overall use of
corporate resources

Shared use of assets
and infrastructure

PROFITABILITY

•
•
•
•

EPS growth >10% per year
ROCE continuously improving, long term goal 20%
Free cash ﬂow positive after capital investments
Proﬁt growth and higher share of proﬁts generated
by solution business
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Leading position through corporate transactions
Kemira is the leading player in all of its four business areas: Kemira Pulp&Paper,
Kemira Water, Kemira Specialty and Kemira Coatings. We are seeking to become
a global group of leading chemical businesses with a unique competitive
position and a high degree of mutual synergy. The competitive edge created by
our position is reﬂected in our successful performance and, ﬁrst and foremost,
our future prospects.
In order to take a leading position and reinforce our four
business areas, we have carried out several corporate
transactions based on company disposals and acquisitions
since 2004. We base our investment decisions on improving proﬁtability, seeking growth potential, creating a strong
competitive position and exploiting synergies.

Growth potential within all of our business areas
We are making continuous efforts to improve operational efﬁciency while aiming at a greater return on capital employed.
Our business areas’ strategic cornerstones include welldeﬁned customer segments and product and service portfolios with the potential to be classed as superior. All of our
business areas have growth potential.

Considerably stronger market position through
company acquisitions
In 2006, we carried out a number of acquisitions. As a result
of the acquisition of the Lanxess paper chemicals business,
ﬁnalized in April, Kemira became the world’s leading supplier
of pulp and paper chemicals. In October, Kemira purchased
Bayer AG’s agency business in charge of the sales and marketing of pulp and paper chemicals.
The acquisition of the US Cytec water treatment chemicals operations represented the most signifcant event within
water treatment chemicals. The deal was closed in October,
except for the Botlek production plant in the Netherlands that
was conﬁrmed in January 2007. This acquisition will almost
double Kemira Water’s revenue to around EUR 700 million.

Acquisitions and divestments

E.QU.I.P 2004
Eaglebrook 2004
Zlotniki 2004

Acquisitions worth total EUR ~ 1 billion, revenue EUR ~1.4 billion

Belinka 2004
Kolorit paints 2004

Kemira Pulp&Paper
Kemira Water
Kemira Specialty

Kemira Coatings
Fine Chemicals 2004
Calcium Chloride business 2004

Divestments worth total EUR ~ 900 million, revenue EUR ~ 1.3 billion
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GrowHow 2004
Ecocat 2004
Kemira Engineering 2004

Within Kemira Specialty, in April Kemira acquired IFAC
of Germany, specializing in research services and development projects for the cosmetics industry. In charge of Kemira
Coatings, Tikkurila became the leading decorative paint
company in Russia through the conﬁrmation in February of
the acquisition of Kraski Teks, a paint company. Tikkurila also
strengthened its position in Eastern Europe by buying several
smaller companies.

Kemira – from Good to Great
Launched in the spring of 2005, our Group-wide development program, Kemira – from Good to Great, is up and
running and is aimed at ensuring the swift implementation

of the strategy. It focuses on the following three elements:
strategy and operational efﬁciency, our corporate culture and
our brand. In 2006, we deﬁned concrete and quantiﬁable
targets for these elements (see pages 2–3, 22).

World-class business process efﬁciency through
OneKem
In an effort to seek world-class business process efﬁciency,
in April 2006 Kemira launched OneKem, a development
program aimed at achieving consistent and efﬁcient business processes and implementing an integrated information system in support of them. The program is covering all
Kemira business areas, except Kemira Coatings.

Bayer paper chemicals agencies 2006
Lanxess paper chemicals 2006
IFAC 2006
Kraski Teks 2006
OOO Gamma and OOO Ohtinski 2006
Finncolor, Prague 2006
Chongqing Lanjie Tap Water Materials 2006

Global group of leading chemicals businesses with
a unique position and high mutual synergy

Cytec water treatment chemicals 2006
Parcon 2006
Galvatek 2006
Finnish Chemicals 2005
Kemiron (40%) 2005
Verdugt 2005

Growth potential within the business
areas (Kemira´s projection)
Kemira Pulp&Paper
Global market EUR 20 billion,
growth 700 MEUR/a
Biolchim 2006
Hydrogen peroxide in
South Korea 2006

Kemira Water
Global target market EUR 8 billion,
growth 600 MEUR/a

Kemira Specialty
Global relevant market EUR 14 billion,
growth 400 MEUR/a

Coil coating 2005

Kemira Coatings

UK industrial coatings business 2005

Target market in Nothern and Eastern Europe
EUR 4 billion, growth 250 MEUR/a
5

CEO’S review

Corporate culture as
the basis of success

A shared corporate culture
is an important tool on our
way from being a good
corporation to becoming
a great one. I believe in
management by walking
around and collaborative
management, and think
that inspiring, enjoyable
and challenging work pays
dividends.
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Focus on proﬁtability
In 2006, we completed the ﬁrst stage of our strategic
transformation and rose to the leading position in all of our
business areas, according to our strategic plan. Kemira is now
ﬁrmly positioned for great growth opportunities. In the fall of
2006, we entered a new stage in this process, focusing on
improving Group proﬁtability.
Corporate acquisitions in the last few years have been
hugely time-consuming and have required vast amounts of
resources throughout the Group, as evidenced by the last 30
months seeing an average of one acquisition per month. In
addition, we have also analyzed a number of other projects
related to corporate transactions which did not result in a
ﬁnal acquisition, for one reason or another.
Every potential acquisition requires thorough analyses on
a sustainable basis, in terms of strategic ﬁt, technical and
environmental analyses, proﬁtability and the purchase price.
At the same time, a company must also manage its existing
business and improve its efﬁciency and performance.
The ﬁrst stage’s implementation proved a great challenge, but we gave a good account of ourselves. During
the second stage, we must mobilize all synergies provided
by our expanded business portfolio i.e., we must efﬁciently
integrate acquired companies as part of Kemira’s organization in order for them to cater for the needs of our business
operations in the best possible way.

Driven by corporate culture
Serving as an important tool on our way from being a good
corporation to becoming a great one, a shared corporate
culture does not, however, have to take the same form in
our ofﬁces and sites across the world. National cultural differences and a local corporate culture ﬁt in well with Kemira’s
way of working. However, we believe that there must be

– and there surely are – common features in our corporate
culture across national borders.
We must nurture a working environment in which people
ﬁnd their work inspiring, challenging and enjoyable. Kemira
must be able to provide all of its employees with opportunities for competence development, in one way or the
other. We must also ensure safety at work, which is why we
constantly pay close attention to continuous improvements
in industrial safety throughout our sites.
Our shared corporate culture is clearly visible to our
customers and other stakeholders. Kemira is renowned as a
reliable and responsible company. We are in close cooperation with our customers and make continuous efforts to
intensify this further, with the aim of being able to provide
them with new solutions and service packages to a greater
extent and more quickly.

Opportunities provided by changes
Customer service will require us to demonstrate greater
initiative. Initiative stands a chance of ﬂourishing only if we
can search for new things without fear of change. Accepting
changes and enjoying them will provide us with stunning
opportunities to expand Kemira’s business and transform the
corporation into a globally leading chemicals Group. We have
forged ahead with our plan for quite a while but still have a
long way to go.
I would like to thank our employees for our good performance and achievements. This would not have been
possible without fruitful cooperation with our stakeholders.
I should like to take this opportunity to thank our customers, shareholders and other stakeholder groups for the work
done together and hope to see this cooperation intensify
further during the current year.

Lasse Kurkilahti
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Kemira Pulp&Paper

Growth focus in emerging markets
We seek to maintain our position as the world’s leading supplier of
pulp and paper chemicals and achieve world-class proﬁtability and
competitiveness. We have a global presence close to our customers.

A

s a global provider of chemicals and chemicals solutions for the pulp and paper industry,
we have doubled our revenue in the last two
years to become the world’s largest supplier of pulp and paper chemicals. Kemira’s
well-deﬁned growth strategy has lead to complementary
and successfully integrated acquisitions which have resulted
in rapid growth at Kemira and our position as the market
leader.

Stronger position in emerging markets
We have the global presence required to serve our customers worldwide. While South America represents an important growth market for pulp, China does so for paper. The
acquisition of the Lanxess paper chemicals business strongly
supports our growth strategy in emerging markets, reﬂected
in our ﬁrmer foothold in China, Japan and South America in
particular. Furthermore, the acquisition of Bayer AG’s agency
business in charge of the sales and marketing of paper
chemicals augmented our sales and marketing network in
10 countries, such as Thailand, Columbia, South Korea and
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Taiwan. Given that Kemira is already well advanced with its
plans to engage in research and development in China, it is
poised to make a strong R&D contribution in the Asian market in the near future.

Complete service through customized solutions
We are blazing a trail in chemical technologies. As a cooperative partner to our customers, we methodically and systematically research and develop new and better solutions
for their pulp and paper manufacturing processes. The most
extensive product portfolio available in the market enables us to provide our customers with complete services.
Kemira’s chemical plants to be built adjacent to Botnia’s pulp
mill in Uruguay, and a comprehensive supply agreement for
chemicals with Botnia prove that customers appreciate the
opportunity to purchase all bleaching chemicals required for
their pulp production from a single supplier.

Emphasis on proﬁtability and competitiveness
We aim at world-class efﬁciency in every aspect of our
operations. Our primary focus is on improving proﬁtability

Customers:
Pulp and paper industry
Market position:
#1 worldwide
Market area: Global
Market potential:
Total global market of EUR 20 billion with
annual growth of around EUR 700 million.
(Kemira’s projection)
Products and services:
Chemical solutions for pulp and paper
manufacturing processes end-to-end
Revenue: EUR 993.3 million

Cooperation – mutual beneﬁts

Operating proﬁt: EUR 90.8 million

K

ROCE: 11.0%
Personnel: 2,285

and competitiveness by further strengthening our internal
synergies. Within a short period, we have succeeded in
enhancing our internal efﬁciency, especially in procurement
and logistics and production and energy management. Major
synergies are also evident with other Kemira business areas,
with Kemira Water especially. For example, the volume of
water used by the pulp manufacturing process is so vast that
an effective water treatment system is a must. In cooperation with Kemira Water, we are capable of developing and
offering customized water treatment chemical solutions for
these pulp mill systems.

New position reﬂected in the organization
Our current organization enables more customer-focused
and efﬁcient operations on a global basis. As the industry
leader, we are breaking new ground. Our strength lies in our
strategy, corporate culture and the Kemira brand. We will
continue to make every effort to be renowned as an industry expert and a reliable partner.

emira’s ﬁrst-ever product designed for the
paper industry was created to treat slime
which disrupted the papermaking process
and worsened paper quality. Intense cooperation
with the customer led to the development of a
successful solution.
Cooperation has come to play an ever more
important role as pulp and paper manufacturers
look for new ways to raise productivity. In this
respect, creating applications that enhance productivity requires an in-depth understanding of
the related chemical processes.
We expect cooperation to strengthen further
when we, together with our customers, perfect
chemical technology throughout their production
processes. In fact, outsourcing chemical production will present a genuine alternative, and our
expertise and commitment in this area make us
an excellent partner.
Botnia’s pulp mill in Fray Bentos, Uruguay,
serves as a good example of increasing cooperation. Kemira is building its own chemical plant
adjacent to the mill, feeding the required chemicals directly into the customer’s process.
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Kemira Water

Water treatment – the business of future
Our strategy is based on organic growth and growth through corporate
acquisitions. With a global presence, we focus on providing our customers
with customized complete solutions.

W

e provide water treatment and sludge
treatment solutions for municipal and
private water treatment plants as well
as industry. We aim to be renowned
for our global expertise combined with
local and customized service.

Leading position in inorganic coagulants
Kemira Water is the world’s market leader in inorganic
coagulants and ranks third in water treatment polymers. We
provide our customers with applications for purifying drinking
and wastewater and processing sludge, as well as for other
industrial processes. We are developing new solutions and
widening our product range and services. Oil-industry services and the recycling and recovery of industrial sidestreams
represent examples of our new areas of expertise.

Stronger position through growth
During the last quarter of 2006, we carried out several
corporate and business acquisitions, with the purchase of
the water treatment chemicals and acrylamide business

from Cytec, a US company, accounting for the most signiﬁcant share of our growth. This acquisition will enable us to
increase our revenue almost 70% and considerably enhance
our global market potential, while signiﬁcantly widening our
product range and strengthening our presence in key market
areas and customer segments. China, Brazil, Mexico and
North America showed the greatest organic growth in
relative terms.

Complete service for customers
Our product development is characterized by strong goal
orientation and customer focus. New technologies are important to us in both creating new products and services and
upgrading existing ones. In 2006, we received ﬁrst complete
service agreements encompassing research, process planning, a production plant, chemicals and the operation of a
completed plant. Our future aim is that complete solutions
and emerging markets will account for an increasing share
of our growth.

Cost-efﬁcient operations
We are making continuous efforts to improve operational
efﬁciency, for example by paying attention to distribution
channels and processes and analyzing opportunities to use
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Customers:
Municipal and private water treatment plants
and industry.
Market position:
#1 in inorganic coagulants worldwide.
Market area: Global
Market potential:
Total global market of EUR 8 billion
with annual growth of around EUR 600 million.
(Kemira’s projection)
Products and services:
Water treatment and sludge treatment solutions.
Revenue: EUR 467.6 million
Operating proﬁt: EUR 35.3 million
ROCE: 13.4%
Personnel: 1,596

alternative raw materials. In the fall of 2006, we acquired
four distribution companies from Parcon of Denmark. This
acquisition, combined with Kemira’s position, forms a
strong chain within water treatment, adding to our distribution network’s efﬁciency and cost-efﬁciently providing
our customers in Denmark and southern Scandinavia with
specialty chemicals and expertise.

Industrial residues – new business
In the fall of 2006, we acquired Galvatek, based in Finland,
with a view to fortifying our complete services for water
treatment and the treatment, recycling and recovery of
industrial side streams. This complete service will enable us
to recover and recycle precious metals, acids and bases back
into customers’ processes or convert these into commercial
products. Kemira re-processes iron and aluminum into water
treatment chemicals that replace virgin raw materials. Environmental friendliness is enhanced by the fact that landﬁll
load will decrease fundamentally from its current level and,
at best, industrial landﬁll sites can be even closed down.

Clean water
– a prerequisite for life

E

very creature needs clean water in order
to live and survive. The availability of clean
water has played, and will continue to play,
a key role in society and its development.
Industrialized countries often take clean water
for granted, and we seldom come to think of how
many years of research and technology development lie beneath the supply of clean drinking
water.
In most cases, raw water as such is not sufﬁciently clean for drinking. Water puriﬁcation technologies vary according to raw water characteristics and the desired standard of purity.
Responsibility forms an integral part of our
business, bearing in mind that we provide our customers with complete solutions for water treatment. We work for the purpose of understanding
our customers’ needs, operations and processes.
By developing our service and the range of our
solutions on an ongoing basis, we will at the same
time expand our environmental business. For us,
responsibility means assuming responsibility for
water treatment.
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Kemira Specialty

The customer at our strategic core
We are the leading supplier of specialty products in selected
customer segments. Our new strategy will take us even closer
to the customer.

O

ur products range from titanium dioxide
pigments, organic acids and acid derivatives
to bleaching chemicals for detergents. Such
expertise is reﬂected in consumers’ daily
lives: our products help in activities as diverse
as painting, melting snow and ice on airstrips to ensure safe
landing, making laundry much whiter, and in suntan lotions
blocking UV radiation.

Strong position in specialty product markets
We aim to maintain the no. 1 position in selected customers’ segments for our specialty products, based on strong
organic growth and acquisitions supporting our strategy. We
are the world’s leading supplier of printing ink pigments and
hold a particularly strong position in the paint industry in
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Russia and the Nordic countries. We are the world’s leading
producer and marketer of organic acid and acids derivatives in selected customer segments and rank second as a
formic acid producer globally. Within bleaching chemicals for
detergents, we are the quality leader and the world’s third
largest supplier.

Added value through customer applications
We reshaped the business area’s strategy and organization in the fall of 2006 and will continue their development
during 2007. With the aim of safeguarding our customer
focused operating policy, our operations are based on customer segments instead of product lines and business units.
Segments focusing on customer-driven solutions are Cosmetics, Packaging Inks, Food and Feed, while those focusing
on superior product excellence consist of Paints and Coatings, Chemical and Pharma, Environment and Detergents.

Customers:
Cosmetics, packaging inks, food, feed, paint,
chemical, pharmaceutical, environmental and
detergent industries.
Market position:
#1 worldwide as a supplier of titanium dioxide for
printing ink
#1 producer of organic acid derivatives in selected
customer segments.
Market area: Global
Market potential:
Total global market of EUR 14 billion with annual
growth of around EUR 400 million.
(Kemira’s projection)
Products and services:
Titanium dioxide pigments, organic acids and acid
derivatives, and sodium percarbonate.
Revenue: EUR 456.2 million
Operating proﬁt: EUR 45.8 million
ROCE: 10.1%
Personnel: 1,102

Market potential through a segment approach
Switching from a product approach to an approach based on
customer segments will also enhance our market potential.
Through our growth in these segments, we are active in
emerging markets as well. For example, Kemira operates in
the world’s most vigorously expanding feed industry market,
in Brazil, through a joint venture. We also cooperate intensively with Kemira’s other business areas.

Boosting operational efﬁciency
We completed two major projects aimed at higher proﬁtability by the end of 2006. Our production rationalization
program resulted in greater plant capacity utilization rates
and energy efﬁciency while cutting variable costs. We also
perfected the linkage between production and marketing,
guaranteeing better service for our customers, greater plant
capacity utilization rates and reduced working capital.

Protect yourself against
UV radiation

E

njoying the warmth and tanning effects
of strong sunlight risks overexposure to
ultraviolet radiation, which causes premature ageing of, and damage to, the skin. For this
reason, many people pack suntan lotion into their
beach bags and more are protecting themselves
against harmful solar radiation on a daily basis.
The purpose of a sun tan lotion is to protect
and screen the skin from excess UV radiation.
This screening feature in a sun tan lotion is
achieved by adding a physical sunscreen, Kemira
UV-TITAN, to the emulsion. The prominent feature
of this ultraﬁne titanium dioxide is its ability to
block harmful UV radiation while transmitting
visible light.
The cosmetics industry, represented here by
sunscreen manufacturers, is a worldwide customer
segment. Close cooperation with our customers
help us plan and develop new applications that
improve the ﬁnal product and its production. The
upgraded product and the more efﬁcient manufacturing methods also beneﬁt end-users,
or consumers.
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Kemira Coatings

Leading position bolstered by strong brands
As the leading player in the paint business in Northern and Eastern
Europe, we aim to grow further and maintain our strong position.
Customer focus is our core competence.

O

ur strategy is based on growth within decorative paints and certain industrial coatings
segments. We are seeking to develop our
position further and grow both organically
and through acquisitions. Eastern Europe
represents our key growth market area, where an improving
standard of living is expanding the region’s paint market.

Leading local paint brands
Our leading decorative paint brands comprise Tikkurila in
Finland and Poland, Tikkurila and Teks in Russia, Alcro and
Beckers in Sweden and Vivacolor in the Baltic countries,
Tikkurila Coatings being a well-known industrial coating
brand in the same regions.

Eastern Europe the key growth area
Customer focus is our core competence
We offer paints and related services on a local and customized basis in some 30 countries. While a network of 4,000
paint stores sell our decorative paints, in industrial coatings
we focus on customers within the metal and woodworking industries, whom we serve through direct deliveries and
260 distributors. We boast solid experience in tinting system
exploitation and brand marketing – in emerging markets too.
Our service range includes advisory services, color design
and training.

Eastern Europe forms our key growth area. As a result of
the acquisition of Kraski Teks, ﬁnalized in February 2006,
we took the leading position in the Russian paint market. In
December, we decided to acquire production of industrial
coatings in Russia. We also bought the remaining 49% holding in Kolorit Paints of the Ukraine. We set up a 50–50 joint
venture with Sto, based in Germany, in Russia and established a subsidiary in Kazakhstan. In the Czech Republic, we
consolidated our position by acquiring one of our importers.

Still seeking great proﬁtability
We have been successful in enhancing efﬁciency and
proﬁtability e.g. by controlling costs, reinforcing distribution channels, targeting marketing efforts, introducing new
14
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Customers:
Consumers, professionals, industry
Market position:
#1 in Finland, Sweden, Russia and the Baltic
countries
Market area:
Northern and Eastern Europe
Market potential:
Regional target market of EUR 4 billion with
annual growth of around EUR 250 million.
(Kemira’s projection)
Products and services:
Decorative paints, industrial wood and metal
coatings and advisory services.
Revenue: EUR 562.8 million
Operating proﬁt: EUR 72.1 million
ROCE: 23.7%
Personnel: 3,541

products onto the market, re-pricing products, winning
new customers as well as investing in customer training,
superior service and customer loyalty programs. In Sweden,
we disposed of our old factory site and started to build a
new plant in Nykvarn near Stockholm. We also agreed to
supply Colorama, Sweden’s largest paint store chain, with
Alcro paints. The integration of purchasing, production and
logistics functions as a single supply chain has also improved
operational efﬁciency.

Environmentally sound products at the core of
product development
Products which are safe for people and the environment
form the basis of our operations. Our product development is continuously working on discontinuing hazardous or
harmful chemicals and replacing them with less harmful raw
materials. Our priorities include replacing solvent-containing
products, on the one hand, and developing water-borne,
UV-curing and high solids products, on the other. Our alkyd
paints also meet the requirements set by the EU’s VOC
Directive, effective from early 2007.

Swedes rely on the Alcro brand

T

he creation of a new paint store chain, Colorama,
as a result of Färgtema’s and Spektrum’s merger
at the end of 2006, marked a historic event in
Sweden. With its 240 stores, the chain is the largest in
the sector in the country.
“Opting for Alcro as our paint supplier was an easy
decision”, says Ulf Hennings, Colorama’s Managing
Director. “It is a strong, reliable brand with long traditions”, he continues. In addition, paints are available
only in stores for professionals, which is a major advantage over brands available, say, from supermarkets.
Information and service form the cornerstones of
sales for professionals. “Selling mere paints is no longer
enough. We must also offer solutions for interior design.
In this respect, we can count on the Alcro Designers
store concept, contributing to experiential shopping
that clearly distinguishes us from the competition”,
says Hennings.
Kemira’s decision to build a brand new paint manufacturing plant for Alcro-Beckers AB in Nykvarn was another historic event in Sweden. According to Hennings,
it is highly important for Colorama that modern and
environmentally friendly paint production be based in
the country. “In this way, we can secure deliveries in the
long term while avoiding long transportation distances
and high freight costs”, he explains.
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Business areas in ﬁgures
Kemira Pulp&Paper
EUR million

Revenue
Costs
Depriciation
Operating income
Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Capital employed (average)
Return on capital employed, % (ROCE)
Capital expenditure
Personnel (average)

2006
993
–852
–46
91
106
820
11
166
2,285

2005

2004

2003

2002

715
–610
–44
62
84
703
9
256
2,050

566
–475
–46
45
84
452
10
34
1,753

521
–434
–45
42
78
453
9
73
1,677

485
–409
–48
28
52
479
6
96
1,611

2005

2004

2003

2002

353
–310
–15
28
35
215
14
57
1,479

285
–253
–18
14
40
167
10
70
1,262

215
–178
–13
24
34
135
18
53
1,010

176
–147
–11
18
32
107
17
11
868

2005

2004

2003

2002

408
–328
–35
45
59
420
11
62
1,440

315
–253
–29
33
66
298
11
34
1,318

410
–335
–34
41
62
364
11
38
1,670

404
–344
–33
27
64
348
8
35
1,775

2005

2004

2003

2002

458
–388
–14
56
57
283
20
18
2,375

440
–382
–20
38
52
295
14
14
2,401

439
–389
–21
29
26
319
9
14
2,387

450
–405
–21
24
61
325
8
24
2,505

Kemira Water
EUR million

Revenue
Costs
Depriciation
Operating income
Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Capital employed (average)
Return on capital employed, % (ROCE)
Capital expenditure
Personnel (average)

2006
468
–414
–18
35
38
269
13
202
1,596

Kemira Specialty
EUR million

Revenue
Costs
Depriciation
Operating income
Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Capital employed (average)
Return on capital employed, % (ROCE)
Capital expenditure
Personnel (average)

2006
456
–379
–31
46
73
452
10
32
1,102

Kemira Coatings
EUR million

Revenue
Costs
Depriciation
Operating income
Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Capital employed (average)
Return on capital employed, % (ROCE)
Capital expenditure
Personnel (average)
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2006
563
–474
–17
72
55
311
24
47
3,541
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Pulp Chemicals
Paper Chemicals
Pigments & Additives

Revenue
Operating profit, % of revenue

Revenue
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600

Revenue by Strategic Business
Unit (SBU)

%

EUR million
02

03

04

05

06

12

500

10

400

8

20

03

04

05

06

16
12

300

6

200

4

100

2

4

%

0

0

02

8

Kemwater
Kemwater
Kemwater
Kemwater
Kemwater

Revenue
Operating profit, % of revenue

Revenue

ROCE

600

02

03

04

05

06

12

500

10

400

8

300

6

200

4

100

2
%

0

12

02

03

04

05

Revenue

9
6
3
0

Chemidet
ChemSolutions
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Revenue
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Research and development

R&D – the basis for competitiveness
As the breeding ground of our business and competitiveness, research
and development (R&D) has come to play a stronger role and will
become increasingly important in the future. We require world-class
efﬁciency from our product development programs and continuously
monitor R&D productivity.

R

&D is reﬂected in more efﬁcient production
and new solutions. Retaining the leading
position and developing solutions also require
peak R&D performance. Kemira’s development
towards a provider of complete services and
solutions will increase the need for top expertise not only in
the company’s own operations but also customer processes
and business.

R&D enhancement in tandem with
business expansion
Our globalizing operations and market leaderships have
also reinforced our R&D considerably and widened its
geographical scope, as evidenced by almost half of our R&D
staff working outside Finland. However, larger, centralized
R&D units in Finland and Sweden are in charge of research
related to strategic core competencies. R&D spending in
2006 accounted for around 2.0% of our revenue (2.2% in
2005) and the number of R&D employees totaled some
534 (415), 60% of whom worked in Finland.
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Pulp and paper chemicals solutions throughout the
customer’s value chain
Within pulp and paper chemicals, we have supplemented
our product portfolio to enable solutions that cover our
customers’ value chains on an extensive basis. For instance,
we have introduced a method of optimally increasing paper
brightness throughout the process from bleaching to coating, proactive management system of deposits and bioﬁlm
control, and new-generation process concepts enabling the
production of recycled ﬁber suitable for higher quality paper
grades.

Water treatment chemicals – customized expertise
Our water treatment R&D focuses on customized complete
applications. Our new sludge technology, our measurement
technique for water treatment processes and the development of a remote monitoring system enable solutions and
services for wastewater puriﬁcation, sludge processing or
even the outsourcing of water treatment plant processes in
full. Within industrial water treatment, we have developed

research
Remote technology for
customer process control
new service concepts for the treatment of hazardous waste
from industries using iron and aluminum in their processes,
enabling them to recycle waste for re-use or other purposes.

Reinforced expertise in specialty chemicals through
an acquisition
Kemira Specialty’s major projects have created added value
through customized applications, the business area’s key
development projects implemented in the ﬁeld of feed
additives, cosmetics and printing color technology. We also
enhanced our application knowhow in cosmetics by acquiring IFAC, a development company, boasting nanotechnology
expertise and integrated as part of our development organization. We will also make use of this expertise within the
Kemira Coatings and Kemira Pulp&Paper business areas.

Environmental friendliness and easy purchasing
– guidelines within paints
Constraints based on stricter environmental regulations
have served as important guidelines for R&D within Kemira
Coatings. Due to the new VOC Directive, we have introduced
new binders requiring lower amounts of harmful solvents.
When it comes to development for paint production, we
have created a concept which makes it possible to manufacture a major part of the product on-site at the retail store,
primarily using only a few basic components. This provides
customers with more freedom of choice while reducing
retailers’ needs to keep large stocks.

O

ur remote control system enables not
only the monitoring of chemical dosing
systems and the control of measuring
values for adjustable processes but also the reaction to the process status in case of disruption.
For example, the server of a research center is
capable of monitoring the phosphorous content
and the pH value of efﬂuent water from a water
treatment plant located at a distance of hundreds
of kilometers from the research center. If, for
example, a disruption suspends the operation of a
pump that doses puriﬁcation chemicals, resulting
in the higher phosphorous content of the water
discharged from the water treatment plant, the
remote control system at the research centre will
give a deviation alarm. As a result, our expert
notiﬁes the local process operator of the malfunction. Based on an internet connection, this system
also operates by mobile phone.
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Corporate
responsibility

Engagement in corporate
responsibility improves our
competitiveness

Kemira Code of Conduct addresses:

We are committed to

Financial reporting

promoting sustainable

Environment, health and safety (EHS)

development and expect

Business partners

our partners to do the same.

Fair competition

Our operations are steered
by economic, social and
environmental aspects.

Conﬂicts of interest and bribery
Support for human rights
Insider information and investor relations
Company assets
Conﬁdentiality and privacy
Reporting procedures
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We are committed to conducting business ethically and
in compliance with applicable laws throughout our global
organization and expect our partners to do the same. Engagement in corporate responsibility improves our competitiveness.

The Group Legal Affairs provides guidance and advice on
applying the Kemira Code of Conduct. Anyone identifying
actions in violation of laws, the Code of Conduct and ethics
shall report to the Internal Audit and the management concerned. Such reported information is handled in conﬁdence.

Operations steered by Code of Conduct

The Board of Directors has approved the Kemira Code of
Conduct, whose latest, full version is continuously available
on the company’s website.

The Kemira Code of Conduct is in line with the OECD
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. Every employee
is required to adhere to this Code of Conduct unless it is in
conﬂict with local, national or international laws or other
regulations. The management is responsible for supervising
compliance with the Code of Conduct and promoting it by
setting an example for others.

Kemira Code of Conduct

Economic responsibility

Social responsibility
Prohibition of offering and accepting bribes

Consistent accounting policies,
reliability, veracity

Equal treatment and non-discrimination

Responsibility for the protection
of company assets

Conﬁdentiality
Fair partnership and respect for multi-culturalism

Prohibition of the use and disclosure
of any insider information

Avoidance of personal conﬂicts of interest and personal beneﬁts

Compliance with applicable
competition laws, ethical competition

Transaction with reliable partners

Environmental responsibility
Prevention and minimization
of harmful effects
Efﬁcient use of natural resources
Development of environmentally
preferable products and services
Development of the environmental business
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Human resources

Greater efﬁciency and employee wellbeing through
skilful leadership and employee involvement

An interactive and uplifting corporate culture, underscoring an entrepreneurial
spirit and employee involvement, remained at the core of our human
resource efforts in 2006. The cultural element within our Kemira – from
Good to Great development program forms an important practical tool in HR
development. In 2006, we set tangible targets for the great corporate culture.

What is GREAT? – Our goal

CORPORATE CULTURE
Participative and entrepreneurial culture
Personnel survey index 75
Response rate in personnel survey 90%
10 ideas / person, participation in
suggestion creation 50%
Development plan for all staff
Zero accidents
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Leadership and leadership tools, occupational safety, a reward
scheme, a suggestion scheme and employee wellbeing constitute components used in the development of our corporate
culture. Regular employee opinion surveys and the launch
of a suggestion scheme are aimed at increasing employee
involvement across the board.

Employee opinion survey reveals favorable
development
In 2006, we carried out the third ever Group-wide employee
personnel survey, whose response rate was 70.6% (66.5%)
and job satisfaction index 64.1 (61.6). Improving from the previous year’s level, the value of both indicators was markedly
above that of the international benchmark data. In particular,
communication, rewarding and leadership scored better than
a year ago and only working conditions fared somewhat
worse on a year earlier. Employee opinion survey results are
always handled on a local basis.

The ingredients of a great corporate culture

Leadership and
other personal
development
Development
tools

Participation

Culture
Well-being
programs

Participative
Entrepreneurial

Safety

Rewarding

Resources

Performance reviews – the basic HR tool
Regular and highly effective performance reviews with employees are among key HR management tools. In 2006, we
standardized the performance review process on a Groupwide basis and drew up standardized material in support
of review sessions. Both the review’s process and content
reﬂect our corporate values: Respect for Individuals, Innovation, Working Together and Result Orientation. In 2006,
some 76% of Kemira employees participated in performance reviews with their supervisors/managers. Based on a
monitoring procedure as part of the new process, we aim
to ensure that every employee will have the opportunity for
high-quality performance reviews.

Zero accident level as the goal
As part of the Kemira – from Good to Great program, the
ﬁnancial year saw the launch of the Safety – from Good to
Great scheme aimed at enhancing the safety culture and
occupational safety. Although we have made good progress
in occupational safety, there is still much room for improve-
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ment. We start from the premise that the zero accident level
is the only acceptable goal and that any accidents and liferisking situations are preventable.
The LTA (Lost Time Accident) incident rate – an indicator
of accidents resulting in at least one-day sick leave – recorded by Kemira’s production sites stood at 6.0 at the end of
2006. The best performers within the chemicals sector score
clearly better. The overall situation within job safety is characterized by wide variations in safety levels and attitudes
between our production plants and sites.

the Group. Information on management compensation can be
found in the Corporate Governance section, pages 33–35.

Kemira European Forum for dialog between management and personnel
As a cooperation body, in accordance with the Directive on
a European Works Council, the Kemira European Forum provides a discussion channel for direct dialog between Kemira
management and the representatives of employees, and
convenes once a year. Its June meeting in Finland covered, for
example, the CEO’s review and the Kemira Code of Conduct.

Generating ideas through the Great Idea! project
In an effort to stimulate initiative and idea generation, we
launched the Great Idea! project, with the aim of generating
an annual average of ten documented ideas per employee
and encouraging a minimum of 50% of employees to make
a suggestion. The project is being piloted in Poland. It has
begun with the provision of training for in-house trainers and
supervisors/managers and the production of shared support
material.

Lost time incidents
per million working hours
02

03

04

06

05

12
10
8

Management development in support of corporate
renewal and cooperation
Concentrating on operational efﬁciency and leadership
issues, in addition to our strategy, our Group-wide management development program provides its participants with
an excellent opportunity for networking and the creation of
development ideas beyond business areas. In 2006, some
70 Kemira executives took part in the program.
Kemira applies a shared, Group-wide feedback practice
serving as a tool for developing leadership activities further.
In 2006, more than 200 supervisors/managers received personal feedback on their performances. We also intensiﬁed
successor planning for key positions.

Motivating reward system
Kemira’s reward system is based on the principles of internal
fairness, external competitiveness and performance, and
consistent job evaluation and communication on achieved
results ensure compliance with these principles throughout
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ur work climate would be better if only
others had the decency to change.” This
message could have been an interpretation of the poor results revealed by the 2005 work
climate survey conducted by the Kemira Pulp&Paper
Chemicals North American unit. This unit, with some
700 employees, was an outcome of twelve mergers
and operated in ten locations.
Enhancing the work climate required efforts to
create an organizational culture which everyone could
be proud of and to which everyone could feel committed. We call this chemistry. It involves people, ideas,
consistency, change and technology; faith in an individual’s dreams and the power of teams; commitment
to our customers’ future, our company and each of us
and one another.
This project proved a success. The current qualities
emblematic of Kemira and its employees are as follows: overt, straightforward and fair communication;
decentralized decision-making; organizational structures beyond the boundaries of functions and operations; entrepreneurial spirit; and zero tolerance
of schedule delays.
We ﬁrmly believe that we have made huge
progress. The unit’s 2006 work climate survey revealed
marked improvements on a year ago, showing one of
the best results within the Kemira Group.

* Permanent personnel
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High proﬁtability is in everyone’s interests

Proﬁtability and competitiveness not only provide the basis of
business but also enable us to create broader, social prosperity.

No. 1 in shareholder value creation
Published in the fall of 2006, a survey by Arthur D. Little
showed that Kemira ranked number one in shareholder
value creation among the surveyed 92 European chemical
companies between 2000 and 2004. According to a study
published by Boston Consulting Group in the fall of 2006,
Kemira was between 2001 and 2005 the eighth best chemical company globally in shareholder value creation.
During the last ﬁve years (2002–2006), Kemira’s share
price rose from EUR 6.65 to EUR 17.03 and the company
paid out a total of EUR 355 million in dividends. In 2006,
Kemira’s share price improved by 26% on the Helsinki Stock
Exchange.
The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General
Meeting that the company distribute a total of EUR 58.1 million in dividends for 2006, or EUR 0.48 (0.36) per share.
At the end of 2006, the number of Kemira’s shareholders
totaled 16,280, the Finnish State holding 48.6% (48.7%) and
international investors 21.7% (17.4%) of company shares.

Fair partner
All of Kemira’s units apply consistent accounting and reporting policies based on the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Our Kemira Code of Conduct also addresses
ﬁnancial reporting and ethically sustainable business conduct.
We make every effort to appear as a fair partner to all of
our stakeholders. This means, for example, fair competition
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and transactions with reliable partners only. We conclude
major agreements in writing and aim at long-term business
relations. We categorically refrain from illegally exchanging
information and acquiring information by means contrary to
good practice.

A major job creator and good employer
Our business expansion has contributed to the steady
growth in our payroll, totaling 9,327 (7,670) employees at
the end of 2006. Proﬁtable and growing business creates
new jobs and opportunities. Personnel expenses in 2006
came to EUR 425.9 million (362.3).

Supporting youth work, environmental projects and
culture
Kemira supports research, education and studies in natural
sciences with a view to promoting business development
and Kemira’s global competitive advantages in these areas
while securing the availability of skilled employees in the
future. The chemistry class at the Espoo Research Centre
serves as an example of Kemira’s sponsorship.
In 2006, Kemira supported, for instance, children and
youth work projects, research and environmental projects
as well as culture. The company is one of the sponsors for
the Millennium Technology Prize and has contributed to
the WWF’s protection of the Baltic Sea through the Helsinki
Festival.

Tax revenues
Kemira paid taxes in 2006 EUR 45.1 million (45.5). Moreover,
payroll taxes paid by Kemira employees will add to this tax
revenue.

A global supplier network and customer base
Kemira have tens of thousands of customers and thousands
of suppliers of goods and services. 82% of Kemira’s revenue
stems outside Finland. In 2006, Kemira bought goods and
services from external suppliers for a total of EUR 1,800.3
million (1,379.0).

Sponsoring well-being

T
Kemira´s economic impact
EUR million

2006

2005

2,532.3

2,000.6

–1,800.3

–1,379.0

–425.9

–362.3

Investors
Interest paid and ﬁnancial
expenses, dividends

–90.5

–101.4

Taxes

–45.1

–45.5

Capital expenditure on maintenance
and improvement

–94.6

–81.1

Customers
Income from customers on the
basis of products and services
sold, and ﬁnancial income
Suppliers
Payments to suppliers of raw
materials, goods and services
Employees
Wages and salaries and
social expenses

Surplus

Income from divesting assets
Capital expenditure on
expansion and acquisitions
Repayment of capital
Repayment of loans (–) and new loans (+)
Capital injections
Additional equity from owners
Net change in cash

75.9

31.3

102.8

131.5

–367.4

–320.8

208.3

–171.2

0.3

0.6

19.9

–328.6

he Millennium Technology Prize and the
Helsinki Festival represent Kemira’s most
important sponsorship events. In addition,
we sponsor mathematics and science education,
environmental protection activities and projects
of societal importance.
The Millennium Technology Prize is awarded
every second year for an innovation with a favorable impact on people’s quality of life and wellbeing. In its operations, Kemira aims to follow
the same principles, as evidenced by our water
treatment business’ solutions that improve the
quality of life.
Cooperation between Kemira and the
Helsinki Festival is long-term in nature, with the
Baltic Sea as its special theme. As part of this
theme, we cooperate with the World Wildlife
Fund (WWF). Renowned for its unconventional
approach to cultural offerings and high-quality
activities, the Helsinki Festival has an excellent ﬁt
with Kemira in terms of image.
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The environment – responsibility and an opportunity

The environment plays an important role in Kemira’s business. We aim
not only to bear our environmental responsibility but also develop and
provide environmental solutions and pro-environmental products and
services for our customers.

We are committed to:
Preventing and minimizing any
harmful effects of our operations
Continuously improving our
environmental performance
Promoting sustainable development
by making efﬁcient use of energy
and natural resources

Responsibility and transparency form our guiding environmental management principles. For us, the environment
not only involves responsibility but also constitutes a major
competence area providing business opportunities.

A smaller ecological footprint
Kemira undertakes to prevent and minimize harmful effects
on the environment, people and property caused by its operations, and to make economical use of natural resources.
We have been successful in these long-term efforts, as
evidenced by major reductions in emissions, efﬂuents and
waste volumes.
Structural changes in our business have also contributed
to smaller environmental effects reﬂected, for example, in
the very low amounts of greenhouse gas emissions generated by our current operations. As a result of lower emissions
and discharges, we have shifted our environmental focus
towards closed manufacturing process monitoring, more
efﬁcient recycling and waste treatment.

Environmental costs on the rise

28

Kemira 2006

In 2006, environmental operating costs totaled EUR 35.4
million (33.3), up by 6.3% on the year before, and environ-

Environmental Business
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mental capital spending EUR 12.2 million (7.4), up by 64.9%
on a year earlier.
Capital expenditure of EUR 25.9 million on the management and productization of the Pori plant’s by-products is
our largest, single environmental investment. Due for completion by the end of 2007, this project will end the series of
over EUR 100 million in investments made in the plant.
All of Kemira’s production sites have been subject to soil
investigation, covering around 95 sites on a global basis,
including those received through the latest company acquisitions. We have made a provision of EUR 16.8 million for any
future soil remediation measures. The single, largest soil
remediation project is currently underway in Kokkola.

Environmental business already around 40 percent of
Kemira’s revenue
Products and services related to environmental protection and improvement are taking up an increasing share of
Kemira’s business, as evidenced by the company’s environmental business accounting for 36% of revenue in 2006,
showing a year-on-year rise of over 10%.
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In particular, the acquisitions in 2006 of the water
treatment chemicals business of Cytec Industries Inc. of
the USA and Galvatek of Finland, specializing in the treatment, recycling and recovery of industrial side streams,
have augmented the total environmental business volume.
Established in 2006, the Kemira Industrial and Environmental
Services unit has a service concept based on providing municipalities and manufacturing plants with complete services
ranging from water and environmental engineering research,
process planning and plant and chemicals deliveries to plant
operation.

Towards standardized environmental systems
globally
Some 40 of Kemira’s production sites have a certiﬁed Environment, Health, Safety and Quality (EHSQ) management
system in place. While we seek to have all of our production
sites certiﬁed, corporate acquisitions and harmonizing our
sites’ environmental management systems on a global basis
will present us with a challenge.

Environmental report available in Mach 2007
Kemira will publish a speciﬁc, audited environmental report
for 2006, available at www.kemira.com/Group/English/Environment/. More information on environmental risks can also
be found on page 94, Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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he recycling and recovery of industrial
side streams represent an excellent
example of an expanding business with
pro-environmental effects. Kemira takes charge
of plants’ operations related to the recovery and
re-processing of industrial side streams, water
treatment and sludge processing. Customers
tend to outsource these operations due to their
non-core nature within their business portfolios.
Kemira’s complete service enables customers
to recover and recycle precious metals, acids and
bases back into their processes or convert them
into commercial products. Kemira re-processes
iron and aluminum into water treatment chemicals that replace virgin raw materials.
Environmental friendliness is enhanced by
the fact that landﬁll load decreases fundamentally from its current level and, at best, industrial
landﬁll sites can even be closed down. Taking
care of the environment and proﬁtable business
go hand in hand.
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Kemira Oyj’s corporate governance is based on the Finnish
Companies Act and the Articles of Association. Kemira Oyj
shares are listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange and the
Company complies with the rules and regulations on listed
companies and recommendations on Corporate Governance
issued by the Helsinki Stock Exchange.
The Kemira Code of Conduct deﬁnes the Kemira Group’s
general operating principles, mutual responsibilities and lines
of responsibility. Kemira’s core values and ethical principles
underpin the Company’s corporate governance and the way
the Company interacts with its main stakeholders.
According to Kemira Oyj’s Articles of Association, the
Company’s affairs are managed by the Supervisory Board,
the Board of Directors and the managing director, who is
called the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer. The Company has a managing director’s deputy, the Deputy Chief Executive Ofﬁcer.
Kemira Oyj’s Articles of Association can be found on the
Company’s website at www.kemira.com under Investors,
Corporate Governance.

Shareholders’ meeting
Kemira Oyj’s shareholders’ meeting is the Group’s highest
decision-making body held at least once a year. The Annual
General Meeting (AGM) must be held each year by the end
of May. The AGM makes decisions on tasks within its competence under the Companies Act, such as the adoption of
the ﬁnancial statements and dividend payout, the discharge
of Board members and the managing director from liability,
as well as the election of the Supervisory Board, the Board of
Directors and auditors, and their emoluments and fees.
A notice of a shareholders’ meeting must be published in
at least two national newspapers, speciﬁed by the Board of
Directors, no earlier than 2 months and no later than 17 days
prior to the meeting.

Shareholder-appointed Nomination Committee
On April 11, 2006, the AGM passed a resolution according to
which a Nomination Committee, represented by the Company’s major shareholders, will prepare proposals for Board
members and their emoluments and submit said proposals
to the next AGM.
Nomination Committee members
The following members were appointed to the shareholders’
Nomination Committee on November 24, 2006:
Pekka Timonen, Chief Counsellor, Ministry of Trade and
Industry, (Chairman)
Risto Murto, Chief Investment Ofﬁcer, Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company

•
•
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•
•

Jussi Laitinen, Senior Vice President, Ilmarinen Mutual
Pension Insurance Company
Anssi Soila, Kemira Oyj’s Board Chairman, an expert
member

Supervisory Board
Elected by the AGM, the Supervisory Board comprises 8–10
members, whose term begins on the date of their election and terminates at the close of the next AGM. The AGM
elects one member as the Chairman and a maximum of two
Vice Chairmen.
Tasks and duties
The Supervisory Board’s tasks and duties include overseeing
the management of the Company’s affairs by the Board of
Directors and the managing director, as well as delivering its
opinion on the ﬁnancial statements and the auditors’ report
to the AGM. In addition, the Supervisory Board may issue
instructions to the Board of Directors in matters of wideranging importance or which are important in principle. The
shareholders’ meeting decides on the emoluments payable
to Supervisory Board members.
During the ﬁnancial year, the Supervisory Board met four
times at an average attendance rate of 94 percent.
Members
The AGM 2006 elected the following Supervisory Board
members:
Aulis Ranta-Muotio (b. 1946), Member of Parliament,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Mikko Elo (b. 1943), Member of Parliament, First Vice
Chairman
Heikki A. Ollila (b. 1950), Member of Parliament, Second
Vice Chairman
Susanna Rahkonen (b. 1968), Member of Parliament
Risto Ranki (b. 1948), Industrial Counsellor
Pekka Kainulainen (b. 1941), professional board member
Mikko Långström (b. 1940), Managing Director
Katri Sarlund (b. 1965), teacher

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Having the right to attend Supervisory Board meetings without voting rights, employee representatives are as follows:
Terttu Saukko-Vähämäki (b. 1958), Shipping and Safety
Manager
Jouni Kukkonen (b. 1947), Responsible Foreman
Reino Holappa (b. 1951), Chief Shop Steward
Teuvo Virtala (b. 1952), process operator
Juha Outila (b. 1962), research assistant (deputy)
Pauli Lehtonen (b. 1949), driver (deputy)

•
•
•
•
•
•

Emoluments
Based on decisions by the shareholders’ meeting, Supervisory Board members are entitled to a monthly fee and a
fee per meeting. Compensation for travel expenses is based
on the Company’s Traveling Compensation Regulations. The
monthly fee payable to the Supervisory Board Chairman is
EUR 1,000, with EUR 600 payable to the Vice Chairman and
EUR 500 to other members. The fee for meeting attendance
is EUR 200 per meeting.
Emoluments to the Supervisory Board
EUR

2006

2005

Chairman

12,800

12,800

Vice Chairmen

16,000

16,000

Other members

33,400

33,400

Total

62,200

62,200

Board of Directors
The AGM elects the Chairman, Vice Chairman and other
members of the Board of Directors. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors comprises 4–8
members, whose term begins on the date of their election
and terminates at the close of the next AGM. On April 11,
2006, the AGM elected seven Board members.
In 2006, the Board of Directors met 13 times at an attendance rate of 98 percent. All of the Board members are independent of the Company. Of the Board members, Markku
Tapio is employed by the Ministry of Trade and Industry of
the State of Finland, Kemira Oyj’s largest shareholder.
Tasks and duties
According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is tasked with duties within its competence under the
Companies Act. It has drawn up written rules of procedure
deﬁning its duties and procedures. The Board of Directors
evaluates its performance and working methods on an annual basis.
The Board of Directors is in charge of Corporate Governance and the due organization of the Company’s affairs. It
prepares the agenda for the shareholders’ meeting, decides
on convening the shareholders’ meeting and sees to it that
decisions by the shareholders’ meeting are put into practice.
In addition, the Board of Directors decides on authorizations
for representing the Company.
The Board of Directors decides on matters which, in view
of the scope and type of the Company’s operations, are
uncommon or involve wide-ranging effects, such as the approval of the Group’s objectives and the strategy formulated
for achieving them, the approval of action plans, the deﬁnition and approval of control principles, the approval of the

Company’s organizational structure, as well as the approval
of the managing director, his deputy and members of the
Management Boards and the supervision and assessment of
their performance.
The Board of Directors also manages other tasks within
its competence under the Companies Act. It is responsible
for the due organization of the supervision of the Company’s
accounting and asset-liability management. The Board of
Directors must see to it that the Company’s ﬁnancial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs
and that the consolidated ﬁnancial statements are prepared
under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and the parent company’s ﬁnancial statements under the
acts and regulations in force in Finland (FAS). The Board of
Directors’ meetings discuss the Company’s proﬁt performance at monthly level. The Board of Directors discusses the
Company’s audit with the auditor.
Members
Anssi Soila (b. 1949), M.Sc. (Eng.) and M.Sc. (Econ.),
Board Chairman
Eija Malmivirta (b. 1941), M.Sc. (Eng.)., Vice Chairman of
the Board
Elizabeth Armstrong (b. 1947), Ph.D, member
Heikki Bergholm (b. 1956), M.Sc. (Eng.), member
Ove Mattsson (b. 1940), Ph.D, member
Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen (b. 1962), M.Sc. (Eng.), member
Markku Tapio (b. 1948), B.Sc. (Pol. Sc.), member

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Emoluments
Based on decisions by the shareholders’ meeting, Board
members are entitled to a monthly fee and a fee per meeting. Compensation for travel expenses is based on the Company’s Traveling Compensation Regulations. The monthly
fee payable to the Board Chairman is EUR 4,500, with EUR
3,250 payable to the Vice Chairman and EUR 2,550 to other
members. In addition, members living in Finland are entitled
to a fee of EUR 600 per meeting, those living elsewhere in
Europe receive EUR 1,200 and non-European Board members
EUR 2,400. Those attending Board committee meetings are
also entitled to a fee per meeting.
Emoluments to the Board of Directors
EUR
Chairman

2006

2005

67,740

63,080

52,200

50,150

Other members

222,000

189,650

Total

341,940

302,880

Vice Chairman
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Board committees
Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors has two permanent committees: the Audit Committee and the Nomination and
Compensation Committee.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee works in accordance with the guidelines
conﬁrmed by the Board of Directors. It is tasked with assisting the Board of Directors in ensuring that the supervision of
the Company’s accounting and asset-liability management is
organized duly and that the internal control system, risk managemement, the audit process and Kemira’s operations are
organized in compliance with laws and regulations and the
Kemira Code of Conduct conﬁrmed by the Board of Directors.
The Audit Committee is made up of members independent of the Company, elected by the Board of Directors from
amongst its members. Chaired by Heikki Bergholm, the Audit
Committee comprised Eija Malmivirta and Anssi Soila and
met six times in 2006.
Nomination and Compensation Committee
The Nomination and Compensation Committee is made
up of members independent of the Company and elected
by the Board of Directors from amongst its members. The
Board of Directors has approved procedures and principles
for the Committee, according to which the Committee deals
with matters related to management compensation and
personnel reward schemes.
Chaired by Anssi Soila, the Nomination and Compensation
Committee comprised Ove Mattsson and Markku Tapio and
met 3 times in 2006.

Managing Director
The Board of Directors appoints the managing director and
the managing director’s deputy. Under the Articles of Association, the managing director is responsible for managing
and developing the Company and the Group in accordance
with the instructions and regulations issued by the Board of
Directors. Lasse Kurkilahti, M.Sc. (Econ.), is Kemira Oyj’s Managing Director and Esa Tirkkonen, M.Sc. (Eng.), his deputy.
The managing director and the managing director’s
deputy, including their related parties, are not involved in any
substantial business relationships with the Company.

Group Management Board
In early 2007, Kemira Oyj combined its previous Strategic
Management Board and Operational Management Board to
form one Group Management Board. The Strategic Management Board addressed matters from the perspective
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of the Group as a whole, its business portfolio and support
functions, with the aim of ensuring Group-wide proﬁtability
and growth. The Operational Management Board dealt with
matters from the perspective of the Group as a whole and
the business areas, with the aim of ensuring their proﬁtability and growth.
Group Management Board members:
President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer (Chairman)
Deputy President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
(Vice Chairman)
Group General Counsel (Secretary)
Executive Vice President, Human Resources
Executive Vice President, Procurement and Logistics
Executive Vice President, Group Controller

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Executive Vice President, Information Technology
Executive Vice President, Research & Technology
Executive Vice President, Group Communications
Business area Presidents

Management compensation and employment terms
The Board of Directors determines Management Board
members’ salaries and other remuneration and the Managing Director’s and his deputy’s employment terms. Performance-based bonuses are determined by the achievement
of Group and personal performance targets for the ﬁnancial
year. Management compensation consists of a monthly salary, perquisites and performance-based bonuses, the latter
being based on cash bonuses and Kemira Oyj shares.
The Managing Director and his deputy are entitled to
retire at the age of 60. The Managing Director’s entitlement
is based on a contract according to which the maximum
pension accounts for 60 percent of his pensionable earnings.
His deputy’s maximum pension represents 66 percent of
his pensionable earnings. This opportunity is based on the
beneﬁts provided by the Company pension fund, closed to
new members since January 1, 1991.
A six-month notice period applies to the Managing Director and his deputy. The Managing Director will receive severance pay equaling his 12–month salary and his deputy will
receive severance pay equaling his 18–month salary if the
Company gives them notice.
Information on the management stock option program
and share-based incentive plan can be found on page 61,
Shares and Shareholders, and page 105, Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The stock option scheme will
discontinue on May 31, 2007 when the subscription period
for stock options terminates.

Compensation to Group Management Board
2006

2005

Salary incl. perquisites

698,207.72

518,790.91

Performance-based bonus, EUR *

651,111.00

686,386.00

1,349,318.72

1,205,176.91

13,800

14,200

Salary incl. perquisites, EUR

287,323.40

257,965.80

Performance-based bonus, EUR *

327,225.00

452,601.00

Total salary, EUR

614,548.40

710,566.80

6,900

7,100

Salary incl. perquisites

1,980,494.20

1,827,922.19

Performance-based bonus, EUR *

1,344,973.75

2,022,212.38

Total salary, EUR

3,325,467.95

3,850,134.57

23,805

36,920

Lasse Kurkilahti, President and CEO

Total salary, EUR
Kemira shares, as performance-based bonus
Esa Tirkkonen, Deputy President and CEO

Kemira shares, as performance-based bonus
Other Management Board members

Kemira shares, as performance-based bonus
* The performance-based bonus also comprises salaries and company
shares received on the basis of the stock option program and the sharebased incentive plan.

Group structure
The Group’s business is organized into four business areas
(BA) subdivided into strategic business units (SBU). The
Corporate Center is responsible for the exploitation of intraGroup synergies and managing and coordinating certain
Group-wide functions such as energy procurement, human

resources, legal affairs, logistics, purchasing and sourcing,
ﬁnancing, risk management, internal control, ﬁnances, R&D,
environmental protection and communications. For more
detailed information, please visit www.kemira.com.

Kemira Group
BA
Kemira Pulp&Paper

BA
Kemira Water

BA
Kemira Specialty

BA
Kemira Coatings
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Internal control
Kemira applies an internal control system aimed at ensuring
appropriate and efﬁcient processes and operations, reliable
ﬁnancial and operational reporting and compliance with
established rules, policies and practices. Key internal control
areas include management and organizational culture, risk
assessment, control measures, reporting and communication, as well as monitoring and audit.
Management and organizational culture
Kemira’s corporate values and Code of Conduct provide the
basis for managing and administering the Company and
interacting with major stakeholder groups. The Kemira Code
of Conduct has been brought to the attention of all Group
staff. Every employee has the right and duty to notify of any
action in breach of law and the Code of Conduct. Kemira
conducts an annual employee opinion survey and an internal
control survey to elicit its staff’s views of the job climate and
the status of internal control.
Risk assessment
In accordance with a decision by the Management Board,
Kemira Group’s risk management is based on the principle of
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM). The Company’s holistic
risk management approach refers to the systematic and
proactive identiﬁcation, assessment and management of
various risk categories, such as strategic, damage, operational and ﬁnancial risks, with the aim of deﬁning and attaining the intended total risk level in relation to the Group’s
risk-taking capacity, while ensuring continuous operations.
More information on the risks can be found on pages 38–39
and 94–97.
Control measures
Implemented throughout the units and organizational levels,
control measures apply, for example, to reporting, approval
procedures, reconciliations, the segregation of duties and the
safeguarding of assets. Kemira’s Business Control Manual
aims to support the maintenance and further development
of the sufﬁcient and consistent internal control system
throughout Group companies.
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Reporting and communication
All of Kemira’s units apply consistent accounting and reporting policies based on the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The Group’s ﬁnancial reporting policies and
guidelines, including all other Group policies and codes of
practice, are available on the Group’s intranet. The Company
has launched an extensive project with the primary goal of
standardizing its business processes in line with its strategy,
one of the objectives involving the global introduction of a
comprehensive enterprise resource planning system ensuring the rapid supply of reliable information.
Monitoring and audit
As part of operational management, supervisors and
managers monitor the effectiveness of the internal control
system. Kemira Group’s internal audit unit is in charge of
independent assessment and assurance activity within the
Group, based on its key role of supporting the management
and the Board of Directors in their supervisory duties. With
its unlimited scope of activities encompassing all Group business areas, units and functions, the internal audit unit operates under the President and CEO and informs Kemira Oyj’s
Audit Committee of its observations and recommendations.
Internal audit representatives discuss their audit plans and
observations with auditors during the course of the year.

Audit
Under the Articles of Association, the shareholders’ meeting elects 1–3 auditors, one of whom must represent an
accounting ﬁrm certiﬁed by the Central Chamber of Commerce as an Authorized Public Accountant. The auditors’
term of ofﬁce terminates at the close of the AGM following
their election. The AGM of April 11, 2006 elected KPMG Oy
Ab, a ﬁrm of authorized public accountants, Kemira Oyj’s
auditor, with Pekka Pajamo, Authorized Public Accountant,
acting as the chief auditor. In 2006, the audit fee paid to the
auditor (KPMG) totaled EUR 1.9 million and the fee unrelated
to audit totaled EUR 2.3 million.

Insiders
As provided by the Finnish Securities Markets Act, Kemira
Oyj’s insiders consist of insiders subject to disclosure
requirements, permanent company-speciﬁc insiders and
project-speciﬁc insiders. Kemira’s insiders subject to disclosure requirements comprise, on the basis of their position,
Supervisory Board members, Board members, the managing
director and the deputy managing director, members of the
Group Management Board and the auditor or the chief auditor representing the independent ﬁrm of public accountants.
Kemira Oyj’s permanent company-speciﬁc insiders comprise
certain other persons separately speciﬁed by the Board of
Directors.
Kemira Oyj complies with the Insider Guidelines issued
by the Helsinki Stock Exchange, according to which insiders
should trade in Company shares at a time when the marketplace has the fullest possible information on circumstances
inﬂuencing the value of the Company’s share. Accordingly,
Kemira Oyj’s insiders may not trade in Company shares for
30 days prior to the disclosure of the Company’s interim
accounts or the release of the ﬁnancial statements bulletin.
The Kemira Corporate Center maintains Kemira Oyj’s
insider register and updates information on the Company’s
insiders subject to statutory disclosure requirements to be
entered in the public insider register of Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd. Kemira’s insider information is available
in the web-based NetSire service maintained by Finnish
Central Securities Depository Ltd.
The table on this page shows insider shareholdings in
Kemira Oyj on December 31, 2006. Shareholdings include
personal shareholdings and related-party holdings as well
as holdings in companies over which the shareholder has
signiﬁcant inﬂuence or control. Persons belonging to Kemira’s
public insiders did not hold any stock options on December
31, 2006. Updated shareholding information can be found on
the Company’s website at www.kemira.com under Investors, Share, Insiders.

Insiders’ shareholdings in Kemira
December 31, 2006
Name

Shares

Supervisory Board
Elo Mikko

0

Kainulainen Pekka

2,300

Långström Mikko

12,100

Ollila Heikki
Rahkonen Susanna

100
0

Ranki Risto

725

Ranta-Muotio Aulis, Chairman

300

Sarlund Katri

0

Board of Directors
Armstrong Elizabeth
Bergholm Heikki

0
5,000

Malmivirta Eija

2,700

Mattsson Ove

19,300

Pehu-Lehtonen Kaija

0

Soila Anssi, pj

25,800

Tapio Markku

0

Management Board
Arasjärvi Raija

5,570

Boman Petri

0

Hakkila Jukka

1,035

Jungar Mats

0

Kerminen Harri

11,200

Kurkilahti Lasse, CEO

32,000

Leppä Timo

5,020

Ojanpää Pekka

2,070

Pekkarinen Visa

12,400

Räty Timo-Pekka

0

Tammi Helena

4,910

Tirkkonen Esa

15,075

Toivonen Hannu

4,910

Auditors
Pajamo Pekka

0
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Based on Enterprise Risk Management (ERM), we identify, assess and
manage risks consistently and systematically, with the aim of reaching the
desired level of aggregate risk and ensuring the continuity of operations.

Risk management principles
Kemira’s risk management is based on the principle of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM). We deﬁne risks as potential
events or circumstances, which, if they materialize, may
affect Kemira’s ability to meet its strategic and operational
goals in a sustainable and ethical way. The Enterprise Risk
Management approach refers to the systematic and proactive identiﬁcation, assessment and management of various
risk categories, such as strategic, operational, hazard and
ﬁnancial risks, with the aim of deﬁning and reaching the
desired level of aggregate risk in relation to the Group’s risk
tolerance, while ensuring the continuity of operations.
Various Group guidelines and policies specify management objectives, the division of responsibilities and risk
limits in greater detail. One of our leading risk management
principles is that risk ownership remains with the business or
function owner, which also assumes responsibility for its risk
management. While the Group’s Risk Management function
has the role of developing and coordinating risk management and risk management networks within the Group,
Kemira’s Internal Audit is in charge of assessing the Risk
Management function and its measures.

Risk management practices
Kemira performs risk identiﬁcation and assessment by business area, applying the jointly agreed self-assessment methodology. Risk reporting by business area is also supplemented by identifying and assessing risks associated with various
support functions, major manufacturing plants or investment
projects, for example. As a result of these assessments,
Kemira’s management and business areas have risk maps
and risk lists at their disposal and the risk management action plans based on these are integrated as part of business
action plans by business area. Kemira primarily implements
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its risk identiﬁcation and assessment as speciﬁc projects
but is currently integrating the holistic risk assessment and
management process more closely into its business areas’
processes, especially with respect to strategic planning.
In order to reap cost beneﬁts and ensure sufﬁcient Grouplevel control, Kemira manages certain risk management
activities on a centralized basis, including the purchase of
insurance cover for certain risks, such as general third party
and product liability, cargo, property and business interruption for major production sites, as well as the hedging of
treasury risks. The Group also manages industrial and business environment, customer and technological intelligence
processes on a centralized basis with a view to being able
to respond to changing circumstances in a proactive and
synergic way.

Examples of risks
Since a variety of risks affect how we can achieve our
targets, we aim to proactively identify, assess and manage
strategic and operational risks, as well as hazard and ﬁnancial risks. Despite our dedicated risk management efforts, it
is possible that some of the risks will materialize and have
a signiﬁcant impact on the achievement of Kemira’s targets.
Pages 94−97 in the Notes to the Financial Statements
provide more detailed information on environmental, hazard
and ﬁnancial risks. Our other major risks presented below
are associated, for example, with acquisitions, integration,
changes in the industry, human resources, product development, sourcing and competition.
Acquisitions
Continuous growth, in line with our strategy, will require
not only organic growth but also acquisitions. If we cannot
identify appropriate acquirees or if the purchase price of prospective companies proves too high, we may be exposed to

the risk of not meeting our targets set for growth. Any bad
timing of acquisitions may also contribute to the availability
and price of acquirees. Furthermore, if our corporate culture
is overly risk-averse, we may fail to identify and buy strategically ﬁt acquirees.
Integration
A successful post-acquisition business integration process is
vital for the purpose of achieving the intended results. We
may be unsuccessful in integrating an acquiree if we do not
remain determined to manage the integration process or
if we have not secured sufﬁcient resources for the process.
Diverse corporate cultures and their poor management may
also slow down the integration process, reﬂected in weakerthan-planned ﬁnancial performance.
Changes in the industry
Major changes in the customer base or business practices
may signiﬁcantly affect our business and proﬁt performance.
For instance, we may lose certain customers or gain a more
disadvantaged position in sales negotiations as a result of the
consolidation of our customer companies. Major global production capacity ﬂuctuations may affect demand for and the
price determination of our products. The migration of certain
industries to new geographic regions may also involve a risk.
Human resources
We may run the risk of not being able to implement our
growth strategy if we are unsuccessful in hiring and retaining
skilled and motivated employees. Succeeding in successor planning is essential for continuous, smooth operations,
considering that the related training is a long-term process.
The monitoring and management of our personnel’s age
structure are also important.

Product development
Product development without a customer-driven approach
would have an adverse effect on our market position and
competitiveness. We must also ensure that our product
development focuses on expertise as well as products and
services important to us and our customers and that it operates sufﬁciently systematically and fast.
Sourcing
Great proﬁtability requires cost-efﬁcient sourcing and competitive raw material and commodity prices. Lack of availability of certain raw materials may affect our production if
we have not prepared for this by mapping out alternative
suppliers or opportunities for process changes. Any rise in
raw material and logistics costs will erode our ﬁnancial results if we are not able to pass such hikes onto the prices of
our end products. Kemira’s purchase of some raw materials
from rival companies may also be perceived as a risk associated with sourcing.
Competition
Any major change in competition, such as new entrants or
very aggressive regional price competition, represents a
risk. Substitute products may also weaken our competitive
position.
Given that the price/quality ratio is a salient part of competition, it is possible that competitors in some of our business areas will increase their sales by combining low prices
with inferior quality.
Understanding business practices and local needs in
certain market areas provides local companies with a
competitive edge.
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Anssi Soila
Kemira shares: 25,800
M.Sc. (Eng.), M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1949.
Board Chairman. A member of
the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors
since 2000, Chairman since 2003.
Chairman of the Board: Sponda Oyj,
Medone Oy. Vice Chairman and
member of the Board: Normet Oy.
Member of the Board: Aspocomp
Group Oyj, Lindström Oy, Å&R Carton
AB, Outokumpu Technology Oyj. In
1973 – 1999 he was employed by
Kone Oy, for the ﬁnal ﬁve years as
its President.
Eija Malmivirta
Kemira shares: 2,700
M.Sc. (Eng.), b. 1941.
Vice Chairman of the Board. A
member of the Kemira Oyj Board of
Directors since 2000, Vice Chairman
since 2003. Member of the Board:
National Emergency Supply Agency,
Finnish National Theatre Ltd, Petroplus Holdings AG, Kotimaa-Yhtiöt Oy,
Miinan Hoitolat Oy. Director of Neste
Oil Trading 1982 – 1996. Neste Oy,
Executive Vice President 1990– 1996.
Main shareholder in Merei Energy
Oy Ltd and Chairman of the Board of
Directors 1996 – 2002.
Elizabeth Armstrong
Kemira shares: 0
Ph.D., b. 1947.
A member of the Kemira Oyj Board
of Directors since 2003. In senior
management positions in the chemical industry since 1985 (Cyanamid,
Cytec Industries, Zeneca, Avecia).

Anssi Soila
Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen
Markku Tapio
Eija Malmivirta
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Heikki Bergholm
Kemira shares: 5,000
M.Sc. (Eng.), b. 1956.
A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors
since 2004. Chairman of the Board: Componenta
Oyj, Lakan Betoni Oy. Member of the Board:
Suominen Corporation, MB Funds Oy, Medone
Oy. Researcher and Development Manager with
Industrialisation Fund of Finland Ltd 1980 – 1985.
CFO of Lassila & Tikanoja Group 1985 – 1986, business unit director 1986 – 1997, Deputy Managing Director 1997 – 1998 and Managing Director
1998 – 2001. Managing Director of Suominen
Corporation 2002 – 2006.
Ove Mattsson
Kemira shares: 19,300
Ph.D., b. 1940.
A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors
since 2003. Chairman of the Board: Aromatic AB,
Exel Oyj, Geveko AB, XCounter AB. Member of
the Board: Arctic Island Ltd, Biotage AB, Mydata
Automation AB. President of Casco Nobel AB
1978 – 1991. President and CEO of Nobel Industries AB 1991 – 1994. Member of Management
Board of Akzo Nobel nv and COO of Akzo Nobel
Coatings 1994 – 2000.
Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen
Kemira shares: 0
M.Sc. (Eng.), b. 1962.
A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors
since 2004. Site Manager of the Rauma pulp mill
of Oy Metsä-Botnia Ab since 2001. In expert and
managerial positions with Kymmene Oy and
Metsä-Botnia since 1986.

Elizabeth Armstrong

Heikki Bergholm

Ove Mattsson

Markku Tapio
Kemira shares: 0
B.Sc. (Pol. Sc.), b. 1948.
A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors
since 2003. Head of the State Shareholdings Unit
of the Ministry of Trade and Industry. Employed by
the Ministry of Trade and Industry since 1979.
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Lasse Kurkilahti
Kemira shares: 32,000
B.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1948,
President and CEO of Kemira Oyj since 2004.
Chairman of the Group Management Board.
Board member: Elisa Corporation and Lassila
& Tikanoja plc. President and CEO of Are
Group 1985 – 1988 and Nokian Tyres plc
1988 – 2000, Raisio Group plc 2000 – 2001 and
Elcoteq Network Corporation 2001 – 2004.
Harri Kerminen
Kemira shares: 11,200
M.Sc. (Eng.), MBA, b. 1951,
President of the Kemira Pulp&Paper business
area since November 2006 and member of
the Group Management Board. At Kemira
since 1985, project manager in plant construction projects in Finland, Sweden, Belgium
and the US 1989 – 1994 and production
manager at Kemira Kemi AB 1990. Manager
of the Oulu plant 1994 – 1996. Vice President
HR of Kemira Chemicals Oy 1996 – 2000,
President of the Kemira Specialty business
area 2000 – 2006.
Raija Arasjärvi
Kemira shares: 5,570
M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1957,
Executive Vice President and member of the
Group Management Board. Group Controller
since 1995. Employed by Coopers &
Lybrand/Salmi, Virkkunen & Helenius
1983 – 1989. At Kemira, Controller 1989 – 1994
and Assistant Vice President 1994 – 1995.

Harri Kerminen

Lasse Kurkilahti
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Raija Arasjärvi

Esa Tirkkonen
Kemira shares: 15,075
M.Sc. (Eng.), b. 1949,
Deputy President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
since 2001, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer since 2000.
Vice Chairman of the Group Management
Board. Board member:
Kemira GrowHow Oyj, Industrial Power
Company Ltd, Northern Power
Company Ltd. At Kemira Uusikaupunki plant
from 1974: Plant Manager 1979 – 1980.
Purchasing Director, Agricultural Division
1980 – 1990. In charge of Kemira Agro
1990 – 1993. Board member of Kemira
Oy/Oyj 1990 – 1999, in charge of ﬁnance and
treasury since 1995.
Mats Jungar
Kemira shares: 0
M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1966,
President of the Kemira Water business
area since 2006 and member of the Group
Management Board. Assistant Controller,
Business Controller and Finance Director
at Partek Cargotec Group in Sweden and
Finland 1992 – 2001. Product Line President of
Hiab Loader Cranes at Cargotec Corporation
2001 – 2006.

Mats Jungar

Jukka Hakkila

Esa Tirkkonen

Jukka Hakkila
Kemira shares: 1,035
LL.M., b. 1960,
Group General Counsel since 2005 and
member of the Group Management
Board. At Finnish Export Credit Ltd, Legal
Counsel 1988 – 1995, Senior Legal Counsel
1995 – 1996 and Chief Legal Counsel for business matters 1996 – 1998.
At Leonia Corporate Bank: First Vice President 1998 – 1999 and Senior Vice President
at Leonia Bank New York 1999 – 2000, Chief
Representative at Sampo Bank New York
2001 – 2002. Senior Vice President, Lending
and Legal Affairs at Finnish Export Credit Ltd
2002, General Counsel at Elcoteq
Network Corporation 2002 – 2005.
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Timo Leppä
Kemira shares: 5,020
M.Sc. (Eng.), CEFA, b. 1957,
Executive Vice President, Group Communications, since
2001 and member of the Group Management Board.
Researcher for Teknos Oy 1983 – 1985. At Kemira, Market
researcher 1985 – 1988, business analyst 1988 – 1997 and
in charge of Corporate Planning 1997 – 2001.
Visa Pekkarinen
Kemira shares: 12,400
B.Sc. (Econ.), eMBA, b. 1951,
President of the Kemira Coatings business area since 2000
and member of the Group Management Board. Sales Manager at Valio 1980 – 1983. Marketing Manager at Saarioinen
1983 – 1988. Employed by Kemira since 1988: Head of BU
Decorative Paints of Tikkurila Oy 1988 – 2000, President of
Tikkurila Oy since 2000.
Helena Tammi
Kemira shares: 4,910
M.Sc. (Agr. & For.), b. 1956,
Executive Vice President, Human Resources, since 2004
and member of the Group Management Board.
Trainer at Kesko Oy 1987 – 1989. Product manager, Valio Oy
1989 – 1996, Manager of Valio’s Helsinki plant 1996 – 2000,
in charge of Human Resources at Valio 2000 – 2004.
Timo-Pekka Räty
Kemira shares: 0
M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1966,
Executive Vice President, Information Technology, since
2006 and member of the Group Management Board.
Management consultant at SIAR-Bossard 1991 – 1994.
Management consultant at Mecrastor Oy 1994 – 1998.
Manager at Andersen Consulting 1998 – 2000 and Senior
Manager 2000. Development Director at Finland Post
Corporation 2000 – 2005.

Visa Pekkarinen

Helena Tammi
Timo Leppä
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Hannu Toivonen
Kemira shares: 4,910
D.Sc. (Tech.), b. 1947,
Executive Vice President, Research & Technology, since 2000 and
member of the Group Management Board. Researcher and acting
Director of Kemira’s Espoo Research Center 1973 – 1987. Head of BU
Speciality Chemicals 1988 – 1994 and Manager of the Vaasa plant
1988 – 1997. Technology Director of Kemira Chemicals Oy 1997 – 2000.
Petri Boman
Kemira shares: 0
M.Sc. (Tech.), b. 1966,
Executive Vice President, Procurement and Logistics as from January
1, 2007 and member of the Group Management Board. Engineer at
Vaisala Ltd 1993 – 1996; designer and New Technology Purchasing
Manager for Nokia Corporation in Denmark and the UK 1997 – 2002;
SLM at Nokia Corporation 2002 – 2005; Group Vice President, Supply
Chain, the Kemira Coatings business area 2005 – 2006.

Petri Boman

Pekka Ojanpää

Pekka Ojanpää
Kemira shares: 2,070
M.Sc. (Econ.), b. 1966,
President of the Kemira Specialty business area since November 2006, member of the Group Management Board. In
sales and logistics managerial positions at Nokia
Corporation 1994 – 1998, Managing Director of Nokia
Hungary 1998 – 2001, Director/VP Sourcing & Procurement,
Nokia/Electromechanics SLM 2001 – 2004. Kemira Oyj, EVP,
Procurement & Logistics 2005 – 2006.

Timo-Pekka Räty

Lauri Junnila, who also acted as a member of the Operational
Management Board in 2006, took up his duties as Pulp & Paper Chemicals’ Executive Vice President, Asia Paciﬁc & Latin
America, in November 2006.
Hannu Toivonen
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Board of Directors’ review for 2006
Non-recurring items included in operating proﬁt:

Kemira Group’s revenue for 2006 rose by 26% year on year, to
EUR 2,522.5 million (2005: EUR 1,994.4 million). Operating proﬁt in-

EUR million

1 – 12/2006

1 – 12/2005

creased by 22%, to EUR 201.7 million (165.5), including EUR 31.2 million

Kemira Pulp&Paper

11.0

–3.4

Kemira Water

–0.2

2.2

Kemira Specialty

3.6

6.1

Kemira Coatings

16.4

9.5

in non-recurring income (14.6). Earnings per share increased by 32%,
from EUR 0.73 to EUR 0.96. Return on capital employed was 10.6%
(9.9%). Full-year revenue, operating proﬁt, and earnings per share for
2007 are expected to increase from 2006 levels.
The Board of Directors will propose a per-share dividend of EUR 0.48

Other, including eliminations
Total

for 2006, corresponding to a dividend payout ratio of 50% and an in-

0.4

0.2

31.2

14.6

crease of 33% on a year earlier. For the ﬁnancial year 2005, Kemira paid

Raw material and energy prices were considerably higher than in

out a dividend of EUR 0.36 per share. Kemira’s dividend policy comprises

2005 although energy prices edged down towards the end of 2006. On

a payout of 30-50% of the Group’s net operating proﬁt.

average, Kemira was successful in passing higher raw material and energy costs onto its prices. The business areas differed in raw material

KEY FIGURES AND RATIOS
EUR million
REVENUE

and customer price developments.
2006

2005

Change, %

2,522.5

1,994.4

26

325.2

284.4

14

12.9

14.3

OPERATING PROFIT

201.7

165.5

Operating proﬁt, %

8.0

8.3

EBITDA
EBITDA, %

22

–37.2

–30.5

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

162.2

133.5

Proﬁt before tax, %

6.4

6.7

120.2

91.4

32

0.96

0.73

32

1,876.6

1,662.9

13

10.6

9.9

EPS, EUR
ROCE, %*

utilization of tax losses against gains on assets sold.

2005 Financial Statements and interim reports for 2006. In 2006,
21

the Group met its annual ﬁnancial targets: a minimum of 5% organic growth in revenue, a minimum of 10% growth in earnings per share
and continuous improvement in return on capital employed.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Gross capital expenditure, excluding acquisitions, amounted to
EUR 164.7 million (116.4). The largest ongoing investment involves a

Cash ﬂow after

chemical plant under construction at the site of a pulp mill in Uruguay,

investments, excluding
acquisitions

Current tax came to EUR 42.0 million (42.1), representing an effective tax rate of around 25.9%. The fall in the tax rate was due to the

line with those projected by Kemira’s Board of Directors in Kemira’s

and expenses

Capital employed*

EUR 0.96 (EUR 0.73).

Revenue, operating proﬁt and earnings per share for 2006 are in

Financial income

NET PROFIT

Proﬁt before tax amounted to EUR 162.2 million (133.5) and
net proﬁt totaled EUR 120.2 million (91.4). Earnings per share were

155.0

170.8

–9

* 12-month rolling average

with its 2006 capital expenditure totaling EUR 41.2 million. Maintenance
investments represented some 24% of capital expenditure.
The Group recorded EUR 123.5 million (118.9) in depreciation.
Gross capital expenditure, including acquisitions worth EUR 297.3

REVENUE AND OPERATING PROFIT

million (285.5), totaled EUR 462.0 million (401.9). Proceeds from assets

Kemira Group’s revenue for 2006 rose by 26% over the previous year,

sold were EUR 102.8 million (131.5). The largest divestments includ-

to EUR 2,522.5 million (1,994.4). With organic growth at 5%, or rough-

ed the sale of the South Korean hydrogen peroxide business and the

ly EUR 105 million, acquisitions accounted for around EUR 416 million of

Kemira Coatings business area’s factory site in Stockholm. The Group’s

revenue growth. Divestments eroded revenue by approximately EUR 18

net capital expenditure totaled EUR 359.1 million (270.4).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

million.
Revenue by market area was as follows: Europe 68%, Americas

The Group maintained a good ﬁnancial position and liquidity throughout

creased by 23%, 38% and 18%, respectively.

the ﬁnancial year.

Operating proﬁt grew by 22%, to EUR 201.7 million (165.5), with the

In 2006, the Group reported cash ﬂows of EUR 216.8 million (155.6)

acquisitions carried out enhancing operating proﬁt by around EUR 20

from operating activities. Working capital management remained ef-

million. Divestments lowered operating proﬁt by roughly EUR 2 million.

fective and the working capital’s share of revenue fell to 15% (16%).

Operating proﬁt as a percentage of revenue fell from 8.3% to 8.0%.

Kemira showed a negative free cash ﬂow of EUR 142.3 million (nega-

Non-recurring income contributed favorably to this ratio, whereas it

tive EUR 114.8 million). Kemira Oyj paid out EUR 43.6 million (41.1) in

was depressed by proﬁtability lower than Kemira’s average registered

dividends to its shareholders.

by the Lanxess paper chemicals business, acquired in April, and by the

On December 31, 2006, the Group’s net debt stood at EUR 827.4

Cytec water treatment chemicals business, acquired in October. In addi-

million (December 31, 2005: EUR 619.7 million). This increase was due

tion, acquisition-related integration costs lowered the ratio.

to acquisitions.

Operating proﬁt includes capital gains on the sale of assets and oth-
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26%, Asia 5% and Others 1%. Sales in Europe, Americas and Asia in-

On the same date, interest-bearing debt was EUR 903.6 million,

er non-recurring items, with their net effect on operating proﬁt coming to

with ﬁxed-interest loans accounting for about 29% of total interest-

EUR +31.2 million, compared with EUR +14.6 million reported a year ago.

bearing loans. Pension loans are classiﬁed as ﬁxed-interest loans. The

Kemira 2006

duration of the Group’s interest-bearing loan portfolio at the year-end

ing the holistic risk assessment and management process more close-

was 16 months.

ly into its business areas’ processes, especially with respect to strate-

On December 31, 2006, equity ratio stood at 39% (December 31,
2005: 44%), while gearing was 76% (December 31, 2005: 61%).
Net ﬁnancial expenses grew to EUR 37.2 million (30.5), due to increas-

gic planning.
In order to reap cost beneﬁts and ensure sufﬁcient Group-level risk
coverage, Kemira manages certain risk management activities on a

es in loans raised for acquisitions and higher market interest rates. Re-

centralized basis, including the purchase of insurance cover for cer-

ported foreign exchange gains amounted to EUR 0.9 million (–6.2).

tain risks, such as general third party and product liability, cargo, prop-

Cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2006 totaled EUR 76.1

erty and business interruption for major production sites, as well as the

million. The unused amount of the revolving credit facility, falling due in

hedging of treasury risks. The Group also manages industrial and busi-

2011, came to EUR 566.8 million.

ness environment, customer and technological intelligence processes

In April, Kemira and the European Investment Bank (EIB) signed a
12-year research and development loan agreement worth EUR 100 million.
In October, Kemira signed a credit facility worth EUR 80 million, ena-

on a centralized basis.
In addition to strategic risks and hazard and ﬁnancial risks, Kemira’s
other major risks are associated, for example, with acquisitions, their

bling six Group companies to sell certain account receivables to the ﬁ-

integration, changes in the industry, human resources, product develop-

nance company. The related credit risk transfers to the ﬁnance company

ment, sourcing and competition.

and the receivables are derecognized from the Group companies’ balance sheet. The amount of outstanding sold receivables on December

Notes 31–32 to the Financial Statements describe environmental,
hazard and ﬁnancial risks.

31, 2006 was EUR 15.7 million.
The revolving credit facility and a few other bilateral loan agreements

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

include a clause enabling lenders to call in the loan and oblige the com-

Research and development expenditure totaled EUR 51.3 million (43.1),

pany to prepay outstanding loans if control over Kemira Oyj changes.

accounting for 2.0% (2.2%) of revenue, and the year-end number of
R&D personnel was 534 (415).

STRATEGY

Knowledge of customer processes and cooperation with customers,

In September, Kemira announced its re-focused strategy of stressing

external research groups and universities play a key role in Kemira’s re-

proﬁtability improvements.

search and development. Kemira implements technical customer serv-

Kemira is seeking to be a global group of leading chemical business-

ice and smaller-scale application development close to its customers

es with a unique competitive position and a high degree of mutual syn-

and its research centers in Finland and Sweden are in charge of strate-

ergy. Kemira aims at:

gic research and long-term development. Kemira’s globalizing opera-

–

Great proﬁtability and continuous proﬁtability improvement;

tions and market leaderships have widened Group R&D’s geographical

–

Continuous growth both organically and through mergers and ac-

scope and, as the breeding ground of the Group’s business and com-

quisitions: the Group will focus on the expansion of business into

petitiveness, R&D has come to play a stronger role. Kemira aims to in-

emerging markets and the development of customer-driven services

troduce new products onto the market on an ongoing basis. In 2006,

and applications;

the new products’ share of revenue rose to 27% (16%) and the Group

–

Participative, entrepreneurial corporate culture; and

has the goal of increasing it further.

–

Continuous increase in shareholder value.

The business units provide the required capital for development
projects connected directly with their business area, while the Corpo-

RISK MANAGEMENT

rate Center allocates Group ﬁnancing to support the strategic projects

Kemira’s risk management, based on the principle of Enterprise Risk

of ﬁelds deﬁned as growth areas and promotes the utilization of syner-

Management (ERM), refers to the systematic and proactive identiﬁca-

gies across the Group.

strategic, operational, hazard and ﬁnancial risks.
Various Group guidelines and policies specify management objec-

ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY
The bulk of Kemira’s business is in the chemical industry, whose prod-

tives, the division of responsibilities and risk limits. Risk ownership re-

ucts and operations are governed by numerous international agree-

mains with the business or function owner, which also assumes re-

ments and regional and national legislation all over the world. The

sponsibility for its risk management. While the Group’s Risk Manage-

Group treats its environmental liabilities and risks in its ﬁnancial state-

ment function has the role of developing and coordinating risk manage-

ments in accordance with IFRS. The Kemira Code of Conduct contains

ment and risk management networks within the Group, Kemira’s Inter-

up-to-date environmental and health and safety guidelines, compliance

nal Audit is in charge of assessing the Risk Management function and its

with law setting the minimum requirement. No signiﬁcant non-compli-

measures.

ance conditions with respect to environmental and safety permits have

Kemira performs risk identiﬁcation and assessment by business area,
applying the jointly agreed risk self-assessment methodology. Risk re-

been brought to the management’s attention.
In 2006, capital expenditure on environmental protection at com-

porting by business area is supplemented by identifying and assess-

pany sites totaled EUR 12.2 million (7.4) and operating costs EUR 35.4

ing risks associated with, for example, various support functions, major

million (33.3). Capital expenditure of approximately EUR 26 million on

manufacturing plants or investment projects. Risk management action

the management of the Pori plant’s by-products represented the larg-

plans based on risk assessments are integrated as part of business ac-

est, single environmental investment project launched in 2006. For the

tion plans by business area. Kemira primarily implements its risk iden-

most part, Kemira will implement the investment during 2007.

tiﬁcation and assessment as speciﬁc projects but is currently integrat-
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tion, assessment and management of various risk categories, such as
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Provisions for environmental remediation measures, EUR 16.8 mil-

Salaries and wages for 2006 totaled EUR 326.2 million (278.9). Pay

lion (22.9), are mainly related to landﬁll closures and remediation

is determined by national collective and individual agreements, person-

projects for contaminated soil. The decline in provisions was mainly

al performance and job content. In the context of job evaluation, Kemira

due to the outsourcing of landﬁll operations and the progress of reme-

applies systems in global use, enabling the Group to ensure fair pay,

diation measures. No environmental liability cases related to previous

which is competitive in the market, and provide a framework for em-

operations, which would have any signiﬁcant effect on Kemira’s ﬁnan-

ployee performance appraisal. Basic pay is supplemented by perform-

cial position, have been brought to the management’s attention.

ance-based bonus schemes, which cover a large share of Group em-

Corporate acquisitions and divestments did not alter the Group’s
overall environmental liabilities signiﬁcantly. The acquisitions of the

ployees.
Kemira conducts a Group-wide employee opinion survey every

Lanxess paper chemicals business and the Kraski Teks paint business

year, with a view to evaluating developments in leadership work and

did not involve any signiﬁcant environmental liabilities. Kemira con-

the climate at workplaces. The survey assesses job satisfaction and

ducted detailed environmental assessments at the ﬁve sites of the wa-

satisfaction with working conditions, leadership, communication, super-

ter treatment chemicals business acquired from Cytec Inc., which will

visory/managerial performance and performance on unit and Group

answer for any veriﬁable environmental liabilities that may arise from

level. Its results are compared with those of previous surveys and the

these assessments.

corresponding surveys conducted in the industry, and are used as the

The European Council reached a political agreement on the pro-

basis of various development projects. With the response rate at 80%

posed, new EU chemicals legislation (REACH). This regulatory frame-

in 2006, the survey’s results exceeded the global comparison index

work, which is expected to come into force in 2007, will add to the

and showed a year-on-year improvement in job satisfaction. In partic-

costs of registration, testing and risk assessment of existing chemical

ular, communication, employee reward systems and leadership scored

substances sold in or imported to the EU. Kemira currently manufac-

better than a year ago. However, the level of satisfaction with work-

tures within, or imports to, the EU area approximately 200 substanc-

ing conditions was somewhat lover than a year earlier. Kemira stress-

es affected by registration under REACH. About ten substances will be

es the importance of survey results handled on a local basis and the

subject to authorization. Under the guidance of its REACH Competence

entire staff’s involvement in analyzing results and planning and imple-

Center in Finland, Kemira has made an inventory of the substances and

menting any remedies.

is preparing for future registration. The implementation of REACH is not

The Kemira Code of Conduct speciﬁes Group principles governing

expected to have any major effects on the Group’s competitiveness.

equality. Accordingly, Kemira treats all people equally in recruitment

The EU Emissions Trading Scheme no longer has any major di-

and working conditions, irrespective of race, gender, religious beliefs,

rect effect on the Group’s business, owing to structural changes in the

political opinions and national and social origin. Kemira aims to achieve

Group’s energy production.

equal numbers of applications for vacancies by women and men, equal

As a result of active safety management efforts, the frequency of

opportunities for competence development and career progression,

occupational accidents fell to 6.0 (8.4) accidents per million working

equal placement on various organizational levels, equal pay for equal

hours. The ﬁnancial year saw no major industrial accidents accompa-

work and equality in other employment terms and conditions. On De-

nied by serious personal injuries or environmental damage. Kemira has

cember 31, 2006, women accounted for 29% (28%) of Group employ-

set a zero target for accidents for each of its business areas and initiat-

ees and men 71% (72%).

ed the related action plans.
Kemira publishes an annual Environmental Report veriﬁed by a third

The human resources strategy aims to promote a participative
and culture. The culture module of the Group-wide development pro-
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party and prepared in accordance with IFRS and the guidelines issued

gram, Kemira – from Good to Great, deﬁnes the following action areas

by the European Chemical Industry Council (CEFIC). The report deals,

for strategy implementation: leadership skills and other skill develop-

for example, with emissions and efﬂuents, waste, environmental costs,

ment, employee involvement, rewarding, resources, safety, wellbeing

safety and product safety as well as the use of natural resources. The

programs and development tools. HR development tools — employ-

majority of the Group’s sites have certiﬁed environmental and safety

ee opinion surveys, performance reviews and the 360-degree feed-

management systems in place. Integrating these with quality manage-

back method — form the basis for HR action planning, with particu-

ment and so-called Group certiﬁcation is underway, with the aim of ex-

lar attention being paid to the reward system’s competitive and moti-

tending the systems on a global basis.

vational aspects. Leadership and personal development also represent
an important area. Greater employee empowerment, resource plans

HUMAN RESOURCES

based on business strategies and the qualitative elements of employ-

The number of Group employees totaled 9,327 on December 31, 2006

ment — such as the diversity of duties, opportunities for employees to

(December 31, 2005: 7,670), while the average payroll numbered

have their say in the workplace, others’ support and employee well-

9,186 employees (7,717) in 2006. This growth in staff numbers came

being issues — are among the key areas in HR development. Supervi-

from acquisitions carried out during the ﬁnancial year.

sors/managers monitor and measure these success factors in coopera-

The year-end number of employees in Finland, elsewhere in Europe,

tion with HR professionals.

the Americas and Asia came to 3,020 (3,059), 4,506 (3,077), 1,514
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(1,240) and 287 (294), respectively. Kemira Pulp&Paper had 2,304 em-

KEMIRA PULP&PAPER

ployees (2,111) on its payroll, Kemira Water 1,846 (1,570), Kemira Spe-

Kemira Pulp&Paper is the world’s leading supplier of pulp and pa-

cialty 1,011 (1,182), Kemira Coatings 3,494 (2,272) and Group func-

per chemicals, its extensive solutions spanning throughout the

tions 672 (535).

pulp and paper industry’s value chain from pulp to paper coating.

Kemira 2006

EUR million

2006

2005

Change, %

REVENUE

993.3

715.3

39

EBITDA

137.1

105.5

30

EBITDA, %

13.8

14.7

OPERATING PROFIT

90.8

61.5

Operating proﬁt, %

9.1

8.6

819.5

702.5

11.0

8.7

77.6

36.7

111

65.1

57.8

13

paper industry, whereas the Korean unit mainly catered for the needs

2,304

2,111

9

of customers outside this industry. The unit’s annual revenue has been

Capital employed*
ROCE, %*

48

Personnel at period-end

In May, Kemira announced that it would start producing hydrogen
Botnia’s future pulp plant, supplementing the chemicals production facility already under construction. The plant’s products comprise sodi-

17

um chlorate, chlorine dioxide, hydrogen peroxide and oxygen. Capital
spending totals some EUR 80 million and the plants will begin production during 2007.

Cash ﬂow after investments,
excluding acquisitions

ness has annual revenue of approximately EUR 35 million.
peroxide in Uruguay by building a production plant adjacent to Metsä-

Capital expenditure,
excluding acquisitions

and South America, where Lanxess did not operate. The agency busi-

In September, Kemira completed the divestment of its South Korean
hydrogen peroxide business to DegussaHeadwaters Korea. The primary
objective of Kemira Pulp&Paper is to serve customers in the pulp and

* 12-month rolling average

Kemira Pulp&Paper reported year-on-year growth of 39% in revenue, totaling EUR 993.3 million (715.3), due largely to the acquisi-

around EUR 20 million. The ﬁnal selling price amounted to EUR 27.5 million.
In November, Kemira announced that it would build a chlorine di-

tion of the Lanxess paper chemicals business in April. Finnish Chemi-

oxide unit adjacent to Cellulosa Argentina’s pulp mills in Argentina. The

cals, acquired in April 2005, was for the ﬁrst time included in Kemira’s

contracting parties also signed a long-term agreement for the supply

accounts throughout the ﬁnancial year. Acquirees accounted for rough-

of chemicals used in pulp bleaching. With approximately EUR 10 mil-

ly EUR 226 million of revenue. Divestments weakened revenue by ap-

lion in capital spending on the unit, its production is scheduled to begin

proximately EUR 6 million. Excluding acquisitions and divestments,

in early 2008.

growth was 8%. In 2005, revenue was depressed by an industrial dis-

In November, Kemira bought Mondi’s holding in Kemira Swiecie

pute in the Finnish pulp and paper industry (a decrease of approxi-

Sp.zo.o shares. Kemira Swiecie was previously co-owned by Kemira

mately EUR 30 million). Excluding the industrial dispute, organic growth

(65%) and a South African paper producer, Mondi (35%). Kemira pro-

was 4%.

duces crude tall oil received from Mondi and processes it further at its

Operating proﬁt grew by 48%, to EUR 90.8 million, including non–re-

Krems plant in Austria. This cooperation with Mondi has continued in

curring income of EUR 11.0 million (EUR 61.5 million, including EUR 3.4

the same way after the share transaction. In addition, Kemira Swiecie

million in non-recurring expenses). Acquirees represented around

produces and sells a wide variety of other paper chemicals.

EUR 9 million of operating proﬁt. Divestments sapped operating prof-

Harri Kerminen, formerly working as President, Kemira Special-

it by less than EUR 1 million. Operating proﬁt as a percentage of rev-

ty, took up his duties as President, Kemira Pulp&Paper, on November

enue rose from 8.6% to 9.1%, due to streamlining measures and re-

1, 2006. Lauri Junnila, former President for Kemira Pulp&Paper, took

ported non-recurring income. This ﬁgure was eroded by the Lanxess

charge of Kemira Pulp&Paper’s strategic expansion in Asia and South

paper chemicals business, which was less proﬁtable than other busi-

America.

nesses within Kemira Pulp&Paper. Operating proﬁt was also depressed
by around EUR 4 million in integration costs related to the acquisition of

KEMIRA WATER

the Lanxess paper chemicals business. Raw material prices were higher

Kemira Water is the world’s leading supplier of inorganic coagu-

than a year ago. In 2005, operating proﬁt was affected by the 5-week

lants and ranks third in water treatment polymers. Kemira Water

industrial dispute in the Finnish pulp and paper industry.

offers customized water treatment and sludge treatment solutions
to municipal and private water treatment plants and industry.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

In early April, Kemira closed the acquisition of the Lanxess paper
chemicals business, making Kemira the world’s leading supplier of pulp
and paper chemicals. The acquiree’s main range of products consists of

EUR million

2006

2005 Change, %

colorants and ﬂuorescent whitening agents. In addition, toll-manufac-

REVENUE

467.6

353.2

32

EBITDA

53.4

43.4

23

EBITDA, %

11.4

12.3

OPERATING PROFIT

35.3

28.2

Operating proﬁt, %

7.5

8.0

269.2

214.8

13.4

13.8

19.4

18.1

tured products traded for the paper industry generate a large share of
its revenue, which totaled around EUR 166 million in 2006. At a debtfree purchase price of roughly EUR 88 million, this acquisition is projected to raise Kemira’s earnings per share as from 2007. Synergy and cost
beneﬁts resulting gradually from the combined businesses should annually total approximately EUR 20 million in two years’ time. The ac-

Capital employed*

quired business has been included in Kemira Group’s consolidated ac-

ROCE, %*

counts since April 1, 2006 as part of Kemira Pulp&Paper. Integration of

Capital expenditure,

the operations is progressing well.

excluding acquisitions

In October, Kemira announced that it had acquired a paper chemi-

25

7

Cash ﬂow after investments,

cals agency business from Bayer AG, as part of the integration of the

excluding acquisitions

Lanxess paper chemicals business with Kemira. The Bayer agencies

Personnel at period-end

have been responsible for the sales and marketing of Lanxess paper

25

26.7

22.4

19

1,846

1,570

18

* 12-month rolling average

chemicals in some 20 countries, mainly in Eastern Europe, the Far East
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Kemira Water’s revenue increased by 32%, to EUR 467.6 million

pickling hot-rolled steel. The project is Kemira’s ﬁrst full-scale regenera-

(353.2), with organic growth at 11%. All market areas reported high-

tion plant delivery to a metal-industry customer. The regeneration plant

er sales, North America showing particularly strong growth. In addition,

processes the iron-containing hydrochloric acid arising from the steel

the acquisition of the Cytec water treatment chemicals business and

pickling process and Kemira is tasked with removing the iron from the

other smaller acquisitions contributed to growth. Acquirees accounted

acid and using it to make water treatment chemicals. The puriﬁed hy-

for around EUR 75 million of revenue.

drochloric acid is then led back into Ruukki’s hot-rolled steel strip man-

Due to the organic growth and acquisitions, Kemira Water’s operating proﬁt rose by 25%, to EUR 35.3 million, including EUR 0.2 mil-

ufacturing process.
In November, Kemira announced that it had signed an agreement

lion in non-recurring expenses (EUR 28.2 million, including non-recur-

with the shareholders of Chongqing Lanjie Tap Water Chemicals Co., Ltd

ring income of EUR 2.2 million). Acquirees represented around EUR 3

to buy 80 per cent of company shares in Central China. The new com-

million of operating proﬁt. Operating proﬁt as a percentage of revenue

pany, Kemira Water Solutions (Chongqing) Co,. Ltd., produces inorgan-

fell from 8.0% to 7.5%, due the Cytec water treatment chemicals busi-

ic coagulants and organic polymers for water treatment in the city of

ness’ lower proﬁtability compared to that of Kemira Water, as well as

Chongqing in Central China. The company’s annual revenue, currently

integration costs resulting from the acquisition. Year on year, raw mate-

around EUR 2 million, is expected to grow rapidly in the years to come.

rial and transport costs rose signiﬁcantly in North America.

In addition to growing water treatment markets for potable water, the

In early October, Kemira completed the acquisition of the Cytec wa-

company will focus on the industrial wastewater and municipal sew-

ter treatment chemicals and acrylamide business. Cytec’s water treat-

age treatment sectors. The acquisition is expected to be closed during

ment chemicals business consists mainly of water treatment solu-

the ﬁrst quarter of 2007.

tions for industry and municipal water treatment plants. This acquisi-

In January 2007, Kemira announced that it would acquire two

tion expanded Kemira’s product range considerably and reinforced its

Dalquim Industria e Comercio Ltda companies manufacturing inorganic

geographical position. Cytec’s water treatment chemicals business re-

water-treatment coagulants in Southern Brazil. With combined revenue

ported revenue of roughly EUR 250 million in 2006 and its proﬁtability

of around EUR 12 million, the acquirees’ main customers include the

has been somewhat weaker than Kemira Water’s. At a debt-free pur-

paper industry and municipalities. Anti-trust approval and the fulﬁllment

chase price of approximately EUR 190 million, the acquisition is pro-

of other terms and conditions are required to close the deal.

jected to raise Kemira’s earnings per share from 2007. A deal for acquiring Cytec’s Botlek production plant in the Netherlands was ﬁnalized

In March 2006, Mats Jungar took up his duties as Kemira Water’s
President.

in January 2007, until which the plant acted as Kemira’s subcontractor. Assets in Latin America and Asia-Paciﬁc are expected to transfer to

KEMIRA SPECIALTY

Kemira during the second quarter of 2007.

Kemira Specialty is the leading supplier of specialty chemicals in

In October, Kemira acquired four subsidiaries wholly owned by Par-

selected customer segments, serving customers in a wide array of

con A/S, a Danish distribution company. The acquirees run a strong

industries, such as the cosmetics, printing ink, food, feed and de-

sales and distribution network in Denmark, their product offerings cov-

tergent industries, through its customer-driven solutions.

ering process chemicals and services for water treatment and surface
cleaning applications. Their combined revenue for 2006 totaled about

EUR million

2006

2005 Change, %

EUR 20 million.

REVENUE

In October, Kemira announced that it had acquired Oy Galvatek Ab
in Lahti, Finland, in order to strengthen Kemira’s wastewater treatment
and the treatment, recycling and recovery of industrial side streams.
Specializing in the planning of industrial wastewater treatment plants
and project management services, Galvatek posted revenue of around
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

456.2

408.4

12

EBITDA

77.0

80.7

–5

EBITDA, %

16.9

19.8

OPERATING PROFIT

45.8

45.4

Operating proﬁt, %

10.0

11.1

451.6

420.2

10.1

10.8

30.8

34.7

EUR 10 million in 2006 and runs two subsidiaries, one in Sweden and

Capital employed*

one in Poland.

ROCE, %*

In April, the Käppala sewage treatment works in Stockholm adopt-

7

Capital expenditure,

ed Kemira’s sludge treatment solution. In June, Oulun Vesi opted for

excluding acquisitions

Kemira to process and dispose of sludge from the city’s wastewa-

Cash ﬂow after investments,

ter treatment processes. This agreement, worth approximately EUR 13

excluding acquisitions

million, will cover 15 years and sludge processing should begin in sum-

Personnel at period-end

mer 2007.

1

–11

53.6

40.5

32

1,011

1,182

–14

* 12-month rolling average

In August, Kemira and St. Petersburg Water Works signed an agreement, extending to 2015, for developing and producing new chemicals to be used in producing drinking water and purifying wastewater.

52

Kemira Specialty’s revenue increased by 12%, to EUR 456.2 mil-

Related to this agreement, Kemira is investing in refurbishing its St. Pe-

lion (408.4), with organic growth at 3%, due in particular to favorable

tersburg-based production line and branching out into wastewater by

developments in sales of organic acids and acid derivatives as well as

building a new production line for iron-based chemicals.

sodium percarbonate used in detergents. Remaining at the previous

In November, Kemira agreed to supply Rautaruukki’s Raahe mills

year’s levels, titanium dioxide sales were affected by production losses

with a regeneration plant (a recovery plant) for pickling acid used in

at the Pori plant in Finland due to a one-day strike and the subsequent

Kemira 2006

difﬁculty of re-starting production in April, planned maintenance down-

EUR million

2006

2005 Change, %

time in September and power failure in November. Acquirees account-

REVENUE

562.8

457.5

23

EBITDA

88.9

70.0

27

EBITDA, %

15.8

15.3

OPERATING PROFIT

72.1

55.9

Operating proﬁt, %

12.8

12.2

310.5

282.7

23.7

20.2

22.5

18.0

ed for roughly EUR 35 million of revenue. Verdugt, acquired in April
2005, was for the ﬁrst time included in Kemira’s accounts throughout
the ﬁnancial year.
Operating proﬁt was EUR 45.8 million, including non–recurring income of EUR 3.6 million (EUR 45.4 million, including EUR 6.1 million in
non-recurring income). Operating proﬁt as a percentage of revenue fell

Capital employed*

from 11.1% to 10.0%, due to the above mentioned losses in titanium

ROCE, %*

dioxide production, higher energy and raw material prices and the pre-

Capital expenditure,

vious year’s higher non-recurring income. The weaker US dollar also

excluding acquisitions

depressed the ﬁgure, since titanium dioxide is mostly traded in US dol-

Cash ﬂow after investments,

lars globally. Acquirees accounted for roughly EUR 3 million of operat-

excluding acquisitions

ing proﬁt.

Personnel at period-end

The titanium dioxide business generated 50% of Kemira Specialty’s

29
10

25

71.2

52.8

35

3,494

2,272

54

* 12-month rolling average

revenue. Market demand for titanium dioxide was at a good level. Specialty products accounted for 53% (50) of sales. Average euro prices
for titanium dioxide were only slightly higher than in 2005, despite an
increase in dollar prices in the market.
Market demand for organic acids and acid derivatives was at a
good level, with average selling prices showing an increase.
Sales volumes of sodium percarbonate, used in detergents, rose
year on year. Prices fell slightly.
In March, Kemira decided to make a capital investment of ap-

Kemira Coatings increased its revenue by 23%, to EUR 562.8 million
(457.5), with organic growth at 6%. Growth in revenue was due primarily to the acquisition of Kraski Teks in Russia, ﬁnalized in early February. Acquirees accounted for around EUR 80 million of revenue. Divestments eroded revenue by approximately EUR 2 million.
Revenue reported by the Decorative Paints unit was up 28%. Demand for decorative paints remained at a good level in almost all of

proximately EUR 26 million in the Pori titanium dioxide plant, in order

the main market areas. Meanwhile, sales of locally manufactured prod-

to meet future environmental permit requirements. The investment

ucts in Russia continued their robust growth. The Industrial Coatings

project is scheduled for completion by the end of 2007.

unit’s sales increased in all of the main market areas and revenue rose

In April, Kemira agreed to buy the business of IFAC from IFAC GmbH
& Co KG, a leading German development company creating applica-

by 4%.
Operating proﬁt climbed by 29%, to EUR 72.1 million, including

tions for the cosmetics industry. This acquisition strengthened Kemira

EUR 16.4 million in non-recurring income from the sale of a factory

Specialty’s expertise in customer solutions and technology for the food,

site in Stockholm (EUR 55.9 million, including non-recurring income of

pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries.

EUR 9.5 million). Operating proﬁt as a percentage of revenue rose from

In July, Kemira announced that it had established a company with

12.2% to 12.8%, due to reported non-recurring income and streamlin-

Metachem Industrial e Comercial Ltda., a Brazilian company, in São Pao-

ing measures. Raw material prices increased from 2005 levels. Acqui-

lo, Brazil. The new company in which Kemira has a 51% holding pro-

rees accounted for roughly EUR 5 million of operating proﬁt.

duces, markets and sells feed additives throughout the South American

In February, Kemira ﬁnalized the acquisition of Kraski Teks, a Russian

market. The region is the most rapidly growing market area for feeds

paint company, making Kemira-owned Tikkurila Russia’s leading deco-

and the organic acid derivatives used in their manufacture.

rative paint company, with Tikkurila and Kraski Teks holding a combined

expansion of its formic acid facilities in Oulu, Finland. The expansion,
which will cover existing production lines, entails technological im-

share of around 22% of Russia’s decorative paints market. The integration of the acquiree with Kemira Coatings is making good progress.
In June, Tikkurila Oy and Sto AG of Germany agreed to establish

provements and energy-conservation measures. This investment will

a company, OOO Sto-Tikkurila, in Russia, co-owned on a 50-50 basis.

enable a capacity increase of 25,000 tons, to over 100,000 tons. The

Sto-Tikkurila’s business idea covers the manufacture and project sales

new capacity will be phased in by the end of 2007.

of various coating systems for facades in Russia. These products are

Pekka Ojanpää, formerly working as Executive Vice President, Pro-

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

In July, Kemira announced its plan to invest EUR 10 million in the

based on Sto’s technology and marketed under the Sto brand name

curement and Logistics, took up his duties as President, Kemira Special-

making use of Tikkurila’s existing infrastructure and local knowledge in

ty, on November 1, 2006.

Russia.

KEMIRA COATINGS

Ukraine, to 100% by buying a 49% holding from the Ukrainian co-own-

Kemira Coatings is the leading supplier of paints in Northern

er, LGU. With revenue for 2006 totaling EUR 4.8 million, Kolorit Paints

and Eastern Europe, providing consumers and professionals with

manufactures waterborne paints under the Kolorit brand. The company

branded products. Its products consist of decorative paints and

will also market decorative paints under the Tikkurila and Teks brands

coatings for the woodworking and metal industries.

and industrial coatings under the Tikkurila Coatings brand.

In July, Kemira increased its holding in Kolorit Paints, based in

In September, Kemira announced that it had established a sales
company in Kazakhstan responsible for marketing decorative paints under the Tikkurila and Teks brands. In the future, the sales company will
also market Tikkurila’s industrial coatings.
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In September, Kemira further announced that it had acquired a

During the ﬁnancial year, a total of 166,011 new shares were regis-

100% shareholding in Finncolor s.r.o., a sales company based in Prague,

tered following subscriptions using warrants under the 2001 stock op-

the Czech Republic, which has acted as one of Tikkurila’s importers. In

tion program. Following the corresponding increase of share capital, on

2005, Kemira Coatings recorded revenue of EUR 3 million in the Czech

the balance sheet date the company’s share capital totaled EUR 221.6

paints and coatings market, of which Finncolor accounted for around

million and the number of registered shares 124,967,611. The number

EUR 1 million.

of shares may increase by a maximum of 77,389, based on share sub-

In December, Kemira agreed to buy a 70% shareholding in OOO
Gamma and OOO Ohtinski zavod poroshkovyh krasok, two paint fac-

scriptions under the 2001 stock option program.
On December 31, 2006, Kemira held 3,979,670 treasury shares, rep-

tories based in St. Petersburg. Gamma is a major producer of met-

resenting 3.2% of all outstanding company shares. In March 2006, un-

al industry coatings in Russia while Ohtinski zavod poroshkovyh kra-

der the authorization by the Annual General Meeting in 2005, Kemira

sok manufactures and markets powder coatings under its OHTEK brand.

transferred 116,610 treasury shares to persons covered by the share-

Their combined annual revenue is approximately EUR 11 million. The

based management incentive plan. In 2006, 8,520 of the shares trans-

acquisition will considerably strengthen Tikkurila’s sales and market po-

ferred as part of the incentive plan returned to the company due to

sition in the Russian metal-industry coatings market. The acquisition is

terminations of employment, in accordance with the plan’s terms and

expected to be closed during the ﬁrst few months of 2007.

conditions.

OTHER OPERATIONS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The operating loss of EUR 42.3 million reported by other operations in-

The Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2006 decided that the

cludes EUR 0.4 million in non-recurring income (a loss of EUR 25.5 mil-

number of Board members be seven. The AGM elected the following

lion, including non-recurring income of EUR 0.2 million).

Board members for 2006: Anssi Soila (Chairman), Eija Malmivirta (Vice

Other operations include corporate expenses not charged to the

Chairman), Elizabeth Armstrong, Heikki Bergholm, Ove Mattsson, Kaija

business areas, such as some research and development costs and the

Pehu-Lehtonen and Markku Tapio. The Board of Directors met 13 times

costs of the Kemira Corporate Center. They also include the water-solu-

during 2006.

ble specialty fertilizers unit, which is not part of Kemira’s core business
operations.
The water-soluble specialty fertilizers unit’s revenue for 2006 was

The AGM elected Aulis Ranta-Muotio Supervisory Board Chairman,
Mikko Elo as the ﬁrst Vice Chairman and Heikki A. Ollila as the second
Vice Chairman, and the following Supervisory Board members: Pekka

EUR 52.8 million (65.6) and its operating loss came to EUR 9.3 million,

Kainulainen, Mikko Långström, Susanna Rahkonen, Risto Ranki and Katri

including EUR 5.8 million in non-recurring expenses (operating prof-

Sarlund.

it of EUR 0.4 million, including EUR 4.4 million in non-recurring income).

The AGM elected KPMG Oy Ab, Authorized Public Accountants, the

The results of the water-soluble specialty fertilizers business’s associ-

company’s auditor, with Pekka Pajamo, Authorized Public Accountant,

ate companies, stated below operating proﬁt, showed a loss of EUR 3.9

acting as chief auditor.

million (a loss of EUR 3.7 million). In March, Kemira sold its shareholding
(50%) in Biolchim Spa, a co-owned company supplying water-soluble

AGM DECISIONS

specialty fertilizers. In 2005, Biolchim reported revenue of EUR 27.2 mil-

The Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2006 authorized the Board of

lion, of which Kemira accounted for EUR 13.6 million. In February 2007,

Directors to decide on buying back company shares using retained dis-

Kemira announced that it had sold its 50% holding in its water-soluble

tributable proﬁts in such a way that the number of shares to be bought

specialty fertilizer associate in Jordan. Following this disposal, Kemira is

back may not exceed 2,146,640. These shares, including treasury

not engaged in the water-soluble specialty fertilizers business, except

shares already held by Kemira, may account for a maximum of 5% of

for selling products of the sold co-owned company during the transi-

company share capital and voting rights. This authorization is valid until

tion period until the end of 2007.

April, 11, 2007. In 2006, the company did not buy back shares.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

In May, the European Commission imposed a ﬁne of EUR 33 million

The AGM authorized the Board to decide to dispose of a maximum

on Kemira Oyj for anti-competitive practice associated with the com-

of 6,240,080 treasury shares. The Board of Directors may dispose of

pany’s hydrogen peroxide business in 1994–2000. Provisions made by

shares, waiving shareholders’ pre-emptive rights, provided that there

the company covered this ﬁne, paid in August.

is a cogent ﬁnancial reason for said disposal, such as ﬁnancing or implementing mergers, acquisitions and similar corporate transactions, as

KEMIRA OYJ’S SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

well as incentivizing personnel or management, including disposals un-

On December 31, 2006, Kemira had 16,280 registered shareholders.

der the 2004 share-based incentive plan. This authorization is valid until

The Finnish State’s shareholding and voting rights accounted for 48.6%

April, 11, 2007. In 2006, the Board did not exercise this authorization.

(48.7%) and nominee-registered shares 21% (17%).
The volume of company shares traded on the Helsinki Stock Ex-
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The AGM authorized the Board to decide to increase the company’s share capital by issuing new shares, stock options or converti-

change during the 2006 calendar year totaled 76.3 million at a to-

ble bonds in one or several tranches. As a result of such a share issue,

tal trading price of EUR 1,084.1 million. Kemira Oyj shares registered

share subscriptions based on stock options and the conversion of con-

a high of EUR 17.17 and a low of EUR 11.07, the share price averag-

vertible bonds into company shares, the company’s share capital may

ing EUR 14.19. The share closed at EUR 17.03, showing a 26% price in-

increase by a maximum of EUR 22.1 million. The maximum number of

crease during the year. On December 31, 2006, the company’s mar-

new shares to be issued is 12,480,160 and the per-share stated value

ket capitalization, excluding treasury shares, totaled EUR 2,060 million

is around EUR 1.77. This accounts for a total of 10% of the registered

(1,627).

share capital and votes conferred by the shares. This authorization is

Kemira 2006

valid until April, 11, 2007. In 2006, the Board did not exercise this au-

– from Good to Great, full-year revenue, operating proﬁt, and earnings

thorization.

per share for 2007 are expected to show an increase from 2006 levels.

Shares and Shareholders in the Financial Statements provides more
detailed information on Board authorizations given by the AGM.
The AGM decided that a Nomination Committee be set up for

It is projected that capacity utilization rates in the Kemira
Pulp&Paper’s customer industry will remain at good levels in 2007 and
the business area is expected to increase its revenue and operating

Kemira to prepare proposals for Board member candidates and Board

proﬁt from 2006 levels (excluding EUR 11.0 million in non-recurring in-

emoluments to the next AGM. The AGM also decided that Kemira’s

come included in operating proﬁt for 2006). As the acquired Lanxess

three largest shareholders, registered in the book-entry securities sys-

paper chemicals business’s integration proceeds, the acquiree is ex-

tem on November 1, 2006, be members of the Nomination Commit-

pected to improve its proﬁtability. This acquisition, entailing new cus-

tee who agree to said membership. In November 2006, the following

tomers and products, coupled with entry into new emerging markets

persons were elected to the Nomination Committee: Pekka Timonen,

in South America and Asia, will contribute to higher revenue and op-

Chief Counselor, Ministry of Trade and Industry (Chairman); Risto Mur-

erating proﬁt. A chemical plant under construction at the site of a pulp

to, Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Ofﬁcer, Varma Mutual Pen-

mill in Uruguay should be completed in the second half of 2007, but

sion Insurance Company; and Jussi Laitinen, Senior Vice President, In-

will not yet contribute markedly to Kemira’s revenue or operating prof-

vestments, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company. Anssi Soi-

it for 2007.

la, Kemira Oyj’s Board Chairman, is acting as an expert member of the
Nomination Committee.

Kemira Water is expected to increase its revenue and operating
proﬁt from 2006 levels, due in particular to the previous acquisitions,
and demand for its water treatment chemicals is anticipated to remain

CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE

at a good level. During 2007, Kemira Water will focus on integrating the

During the ﬁnancial year, Kemira carried out a number of corporate ac-

acquired companies. On the basis of experiences of the current cus-

quisitions and business divestments.

tomers, sludge treatment and outsourcing services for industry will see

Kemira ﬁnalized the acquisition of Kraski Teks, a Russian paint company, in early February and that of the Lanxess paper chemicals busi-

further development.
Kemira Specialty expects to increase its revenue and operating

ness in early April. In early October, Kemira completed the acquisition

proﬁt. It is projected that demand for titanium dioxide will be at the

of the Cytec water treatment chemicals and acrylamide business. In

2006 level. Specialty pigments are expected to increase their share of

addition, the ﬁnancial year saw a number of smaller acquisitions and

Kemira’s total sales. The business area’s sales of organic acids and acid

the closure and merger of several companies. Sections speciﬁc to each

derivatives are anticipated to continue to show favorable development.

business area cover acquisitions in greater detail and the Notes to the

It is projected that formic acid product prices will rise further. The sales

Financial Statements provide more detailed information on changes in

volume of sodium percarbonate, used in detergents, will remain at the

the Group’s structure.

2006 level and prices are estimated to decrease slightly resulting from
tough competition.

PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Kemira Coatings is expected to generate higher revenue due to de-

The parent company posted revenue of EUR 266.1 million (235.6) and

mand remaining healthy in all market areas, with the strongest growth

an operating loss of EUR 53.1 million (operating proﬁt of EUR 26.9 mil-

anticipated in Russia and other CIS countries. Operating proﬁt for 2007

lion). The parent company bears the cost of Group management and

is expected to grow year on year (excluding EUR 16.4 million in non-re-

administration as well as a portion of research costs.

curring income included in operating proﬁt for 2006), spurred by favo-

Parent company’s net ﬁnancial expenses came to EUR 3.8 million

rable developments in sales and recent years’ restructuring.

(13.3). Proﬁt before tax was EUR 2.6 million (60.3 million) and capital
subsidiaries.

Helsinki, February 5, 2007

DIVIDEND PROPOSAL

Board of Directors
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expenditure totaled EUR 30.4 million (26.2), excluding investments in

The Board of Directors will propose a per-share dividend of EUR 0.48 for
2006, corresponding to a dividend payout ratio of 50%. For the ﬁnancial
year 2005, Kemira paid out a dividend of EUR 0.36 per share. According
to the Board’s proposal, the dividend record date is April 19, 2007, and
the payment date April 26, 2007.

All forward-looking statements in this review are based on the
management’s current expectations and beliefs about future
events, and actual results may differ materially from the expectations and beliefs contained in the forward-looking statements.

OUTLOOK FOR 2007
Kemira Group expects to continue its growth in 2007, as a result of
both the previous acquisitions and organic growth. It is projected that
demand for Kemira’s products will remain at a healthy level and the
largest production plants’ capacity utilization rates will remain high.
Raw material and energy prices as well as transportation costs are
projected to behave more moderately than in 2006. Due to efﬁciency improvements in production and other operations, the introduction
of new products and the Group-wide development program, Kemira
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Group key ﬁgures
PER SHARE FIGURES

IFRS

FAS

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

2002

Per share ﬁgures

Earnings per share, EUR

1) 4)

0.96

0.73

0.65

0.64

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 1) 4)

0.96

0.73

0.65

0.64

Cash ﬂow from operations per share, EUR 1)

1.79

1.29

2.20

1.85

2.45

0.48

0.36

0.34

1.67

0.30

49.7

49.1

53.1

51.5

428.6

2.8

2.7

3.4

18.0

4.6

Dividend per share, EUR

1) 2) 3)

Dividend payout ratio, % 1) 2) 3)
Dividend yield 1)
Equity per share, EUR

1)

Price per earnings per share (P/E ratio)
Price per equity per share

1)

1)

8.92

8.33

7.69

8.77

17.65

18.40

15.63

14.38

0.07
0.07

8.47

2.45
0.30

8.94
94.14

1.91

1.62

1.32

1.09

0.78

0.74

Price per cash ﬂow per share 1)

9.50

10.45

4.62

4.97

2.69

2.69

Dividend paid, EUR million 2) 3)

58.1

43.5

40.9

199.6

35.5

35.5

Share price, year high, EUR

17.17

14.02

11.69

9.30

8.50

8.50

Share price, year low, EUR

11.07

9.86

9.20

5.75

5.75

5.75

Share price, year average, EUR

14.19

11.59

10.45

7.39

7.22

7.22

Share price, end of year, EUR

17.03

13.48

10.16

9.20

6.55

6.55

76,252

65,578

41,991

23,011

24,606

24,606

Share price and turnover

Number of shares traded (1,000), Helsinki
% of number of shares
Market capitalisation, end of year, EUR million

63

54

34

19

21

21

2,060.4

1,627.2

1,222.3

1,087.2

774.0

774.0

120,877

120,628

119,187

118,170

118,170

118,170

121,051

121,024

120,202

119,270

118,257

118,257

120,988

120,714

120,306

118,170

118,170

118,170

121,204

121,057

120,707

119,620

118,257

118,257

274

408

2,136

-

-

-

221.6

221.3

220.7

217.0

217.0

217.0

0.3

0.6

3.7

-

-

-

Increase in share capital

Average number of shares (1,000) 1)
Average number of shares, diluted (1,000)

1)

Number of shares at end of year (1,000) 1)
Number of shares at end of year, diluted (1,000)

1)

Increase in number of shares (1,000)
Share capital, EUR million
Increase in share capital - share options, EUR million
1)

Number of shares outstanding, adjusted by the number of shares bought back.

2)

The 2006 dividend is the Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting.

3)

The total cash dividend payout during 2004 for the 2003 ﬁnancial year was EUR 39 million (EUR 0.33 per share), in addition to which GrowHow shares were
distributed as a dividend to a total amount of EUR 161 million (EUR 1.34 per shares). The dividend payout was based on a dividend of EUR 0.33.

4)

In 2004, earnings per share from continuing operations was EUR 0.13, excluding one-off impairment EUR 0.50 per share.
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FINANCIAL FIGURES

IFRS
2006

2005

Revenue, EUR million

2,523

1,994

Foreign operations, EUR million

2,159

1,642

Sales in Finland, %

17

Exports from Finland, %
Sales generated outside Finland, %
Operating proﬁt, EUR million 1) 4)
% of revenue

FAS
2004

2003

2002

2002

1,695

2,533

2,738

2,612

2,612

1,453

2,124

2,282

2,155

2,155

18

14

16

17

18

18

16

21

27

24

25

23

23

67

61

59

60

58

59

202

166

112

196

Income statement and proﬁtability

2004
Continuing

3)

149

59
40

8

8

7

8

5

2

Share of associates’ results, EUR million 1)

–2

–2

–4

–3

–6

5

Financial income and expenses (net), EUR million 2)

37

30

57

68

22

30

% of revenue

1

2

3

3

Interest cover 1) 4)

9

9

4

5

-

-

-

40

-

-

162

134

51

125

121

16

6

7

3

5

4

1
8

Gains and losses on discontinued operations, EUR million
Proﬁt before tax, EUR million

4)

% of revenue

2)

2)
2),3)

1

1

12

9

Net proﬁt for the period (attributable to equity
holders of the parent), EUR million

117

88

15

78

76

Return on investment, (ROI) %

12

11

6

11

8

3

Return on equity, (ROE) %

11

9

2

8

7

1

Return on capital employed, (ROCE) %

11

10

8

11

8

-

6

Research and development expenses, EUR million

51

43

39

45

48

46

46

2

2

2

2

2

2

2

217

156

231

262

219

290

290

plant and equipment, EUR million

103

132

42

191

36

21

21

Capital expenditure, EUR million

462

402

165

215

236

243

243

% of revenue

3)

Cash ﬂow

Cash ﬂow from operations, EUR million
Disposals of subsidiaries and property,

% of revenue

18

20

10

9

9

9

9

–142

–115

108

238

19

67

67

12

10

13

13

11

15

15

1,811

1,617

1,135

1,135

1,534

1,547

1,474

holders of the parent), EUR million 4)

1,078

1,005

928

928

1,036

1,001

1,056

Shareholders’ equity including minority interest, EUR million

1,090

1,019

956

956

1,068

1,017

1,073

Liabilities, EUR million

1,679

1,312

1,087

1,087

1,518

1,546

1,418

Total assets, EUR million

2,769

2,331

2,043

2,043

2,586

2,563

2,491

827

620

201

201

725

733

768

Equity ratio, %

39

44

47

47

41

40

43

Gearing, %

76

61

21

210

68

72

Net debt/EBITDA, %

2.5

2.2

0.9

0.6

2.3

9,186

7,717

7,110

9,714

10,536

10,377

10,377

3,150

3,146

2,957

3,986

4,596

4,681

4,681

USD

1.317

1.180

1.362

1.362

1.263

1.049

1.049

SEK

9.040

9.388

9.021

9.021

9.080

9.153

9.153

PLN

3.831

3.860

4.085

4.085

4.702

4.021

4.021

Cash ﬂow after capital expenditure, EUR million
Cash ﬂow return on capital invested, %
Balance sheet and solvency

Non-current assets, EUR million

Interest-bearing net liabilities, EUR million
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Shareholders’ equity (attributable to equity

72
3.6

Personnel

Personnel (average)
of which in Finland
Exchange rates

Key exchange rates (31 December)

1)

The share of associates’ results is presented after ﬁnancial expenses. Operating proﬁt for 2002 has been changed by the Group’s share associates’ results.

2)

Financial income and expenses include impairment and guarantee losses on loan receivables from associated companies, totaling EUR 44.2 million in 2004.

3)

The non-recurring-item in 2004 from discontinued operations is included in operating proﬁt.

4)

The operating proﬁt was decreased by an impairment loss of EUR 78.2 in 2002.

57

EPS/ROCE

Operating proﬁt

Revenue
EUR million

EURMilj.
million
e
02

03

05

04

%

EUR
Milj.
e

200

10

1.2

160

8

1.0

10

0.8

8

02

06

3,000

2,000

03

04

05

06

120

6

0

EUR million
300

03

04

05

06

0

0.0

100

0
EPS
ROCE

Operating profit
Discontinued operations’
share of profit
Operating profit, %

Net debt and ﬁnancial expenses
EUR million

02

03

04

12

2

0.2

0

%
02

06

6

2

Gearing

05

4

40

Cash ﬂows

04

0.4

4

Revenue
Discounted operations’
share of revenue

03

0.6
80
1,000

%
Euroa
02

05

06

1,000

200

80

800

100

60

600

0

40

400

–100

20

200

0

0

%
02

03

04

05

06

8
6
4

–200
Cash flow from operations
Cash flow after capital
expenditure

Revenue by region

5% 1%

2
0
Net debt
Net financial expences

Comfort zone
Net debt divided
by equity

Capital expenditures
by business area *

Capital expenditures
by character *

8%

18%

24%
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13%

26%

48%

43%

19%
11%

39%
Finland
Other EU
Other Europe
America
Aasia
Other

Kemira
Kemira
Kemira
Kemira
Other

Pulp&Paper
Water
Specialty
Coatings

* Excluding acquisitions
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33%

12%
Maintenance
Improvement
Expansion

40,1 EUR million
54,5 EUR million
70,1 EUR million

* Excluding acquisitions

Deﬁnitions of key ﬁgures

PER SHARE FIGURES

FINANCIAL FIGURES

Earnings per share (EPS)

Interest-bearing net liabilities

Net proﬁt attributable to equity holders of the parent

Interest-bearing liabilities - money market investments

Average number of shares

- bank and cash

Cash ﬂow from operations

Equity ratio, %

Cash ﬂow from operations, after change in net

Equity x 100

working capital and before investing activities

Total assets - prepayments received

Cash ﬂow from operations per share

Gearing, %

Cash ﬂow from operations

Interest-bearing net liabilities x 100

Average number of shares

Shareholders’ equity

Dividend per share
Dividends paid
Number of shares at end of year

Interest cover
Operating proﬁt + depreciation
Net ﬁnancial expenses

Dividend payout ratio
Dividend per share x 100

Return on investment, (ROI) %

Earnings per share

(Proﬁt before tax + interest expenses +
other ﬁnancial expenses) x 100

Dividend yield

(Total assets - non-interest-bearing liabilities) *)

Dividend per share x 100
Share price at end of year
Equity per share
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at end of year

Return on equity, (ROE) %
Net proﬁt attributable to equity holders of the parent x 100
Equity

*)

Number of shares at end of year
Cash ﬂow return on investment (CFROI), %
Share price, year average

Cash ﬂow from operations x 100

Shares traded (EUR)

(Total assets - non-interest-bearing liabilities) *)

Shares traded (volume)

Share price at end of year
Earnings per share

Return on capital employed (ROCE), %
Operating proﬁt + share of associates’ results x 100
(Net working capital + property, plant and equipment available

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Price per earnings per share (P/E)

for use + intangible assets + investments in associates) *)

Price per equity per share
Share price at end of year

Net debt / EBITDA

Equity per share attributable to equity holders of the parent

Interest-bearing net liabilities
Operating proﬁt + depreciation

Price per cash ﬂow per share
Share price at end of year
Cash ﬂow from operations per share
*)

Average

Share turnover, %
Number of shares traded as a percentage of
weighted average number of shares
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Consolidated income statement (IFRS)
EUR million

Note

1/1 – 31/12/2006

1/1 – 31/12/2005

2, 3

2,522.5

1,994.4

4

59.2

69.3

Cost of sales

5, 6, 7, 8

–2,256.5

–1,779.3

Depreciation

9

–123.5

–118.9

Operating proﬁt

2

201.7

165.5

131.8

100.0

Revenue
Other operating income

Financial income
Financial expenses
Financial income and expenses, net
Share of associates’ results

–169.0

–130.5

10

–37.2

–30.5

2, 10

–2.3

–1.5

162.2

133.5

Proﬁt before tax
Income tax

11

Net proﬁt

–42.0

–42.1

120.2

91.4

116.6

88.5

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent
Minority interest
Net proﬁt

2.9

120.2

91.4

Earnings per share, basic, EUR

12

0.96

0.73

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR

12

0.96

0.73
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Consolidated balance sheet (IFRS)
EUR million

ASSETS

Note

31/12/2006

31/12/2005

Goodwill

13

581.0

558.1

Other intangible assets

13

108.9

70.9

Property, plant and equipment

14

987.1

864.9

Non-current assets

Investments
Holdings in associates

15, 33

8.1

9.2

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets

15

84.3

83.7

Deferred tax assets

21

Deﬁned beneﬁt pension receivables
Other investments
Total investments
Total non-current assets

7.7

6.8

24.6

15.3

9.5

7.7

134.2

122.7

1,811.2

1,616.6

293.2

219.2

Current assets

Inventories

17

Receivables

18

Interest-bearing receivables
Interest-free receivables
Current tax assets
Total receivables

9.1

7.0

551.8

423.2

13.6

8.6

574.5

438.8

Money market investments – cash equivalents

32

35.0

28.3

Bank and cash

32

41.1

28.0

943.8

714.3

Total current assets
Non-current assets held for sale

36

14.4

-

2,769.4

2,330.9

Share capital

221.6

221.3

Capital paid-in in excess of par value

257.9

257.8

Treasury shares

–26.8

–27.5

59.6

64.3

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Fair value reserve
Reserve fund
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Minority interest
Total equity

3.1

2.8

562.5

486.8

1,077.9

1,005.5

12.6

13.7

1,090.5

1,019.2
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Equity

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities

20, 24, 25

395.1

404.0

Deferred tax liabilities

21

105.9

100.5

Pension liabilities

26

66.8

55.4

Provisions

22

55.3

94.6

623.1

654.5

508.5

272.0

508.2

342.4

14.7

14.3

15.5

28.5

1,046.9

657.2

Total non-current liabilites
Current liabilities

Interest-bearing current liabilities

23, 24, 25

Non-interest-bearing current liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

22

Total current liabilities
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held for sale

36

8.9

-

Total liabilities

1,678.9

1,311.7

Total equity and liabilities

2,769.4

2,330.9
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Consolidated cash ﬂow statement (IFRS)
EUR million

2006

2005

199.4

165.5

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating proﬁt
Adjustments to operating proﬁt

1)

Depreciation
Interest received
Interest paid
Dividend income
Other ﬁnancial items

–91.0

–26.1

123.6

118.9

12.5

2.5

–42.9

–33.7

2.0

5.5

–1.3

–24.5

Income tax paid

–45.1

–45.5

Total funds from operations

157.2

162.6

Change in net working capital

Change in inventories

–8.1

–10.0

Change in current receivables

–51.8

–23.7

Change in non-interest-bearing current liabilities

119.5

26.7

59.6

–7.0

216.8

155.6

Change in net working capital, total
Total cash ﬂows from operations
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of subsidiary companies, net of cash acquired

–297.3

–285.5

Acquisitions of associates

–0.1

–0.1

Purchase of other shares

–1.1

–3.6

–163.5

–112.7

41.8

8.7

Purchase of other property, plant and equipment
Disposal of Group companies
Disposal of associates
Proceeds from sale of other shares
Proceeds from sale of other property, plant and equipment

-

4.6

1.4

51.9

59.6

66.3

Net cash used in investing activities

–359.1

–270.4

Cash ﬂow before ﬁnancing

–142.3

–114.8

173.4

–370.8

1.5

5.8

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Change in non-current loans (increase +, decrease –)
Change in non-current loan receivables (increase –, decrease +)
Short-term ﬁnancing, net (increase +, decrease –)
Dividends paid
Share issue
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Other

191.1
–43.2

0.3

0.6

–0.4

2.7

162.2

–213.8

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

19.9

–328.6

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

76.2

56.3

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

56.3

384.9

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

19.9

–328.6

Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities

1)

33.8
–46.3

Non-cash ﬂow items included in operating income (e.g. one-time impairments) and gains / losses on the sale of property, plant and equipment.

The above ﬁgures cannot be directly derived from the balance sheet. The cash ﬂows of the business areas are shown in connection with the segment data.
In the cash ﬂow statements (2005 and 2006), income from insurance payments related to the property damage part of the Helsingborg sulphuric acid tank
accident is reported as part of the cash ﬂows from investing activities. The business interruption compensation is included in cash ﬂows from operation.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
EUR million

Share capital

Share issue

Capital paidin in excess
of par value

Reserve fund

Fair value
reserve

Exchange
differences

Treasury
shares

Retained
earnings

Minority
interest

Total

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

220.7

0.1

257.5

2.8

49.0

–47.4

–28.2

473.3

28.2

956.0

Net proﬁt

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

88.5

2.9

91.4

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

–41.1

–2.1

–43.2

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets – fair value

-

-

-

-

4.1

-

-

-

-

4.1

Shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2005

Treasury shares issued to key employees

-

-

-

-

-

-

0.7

–0.7

-

-

0.6

–0.1

0.3

-

-

-

-

-

-

0.8

Exchange differences

-

-

-

–0.1

-

21.8

-

-

4.1

25.8

Hedge of net investment in foreign entities

-

-

-

-

-

–8.3

-

-

-

–8.3

in shareholders’ equity

-

-

-

-

11.2

-

-

-

-

11.2

Acquired minority interest

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

–19.6

–19.6

Share-based compensation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0.7

-

0.7

Sharesubscriptions based on stock options

Cash ﬂow hedging: amount recognised

Other changes

-

-

-

0.1

-

-

-

-

0.2

0.3

Equity at December 31, 2005

221.3

-

257.8

2.8

64.3

-33.9

–27.5

520.7

13.7

1,019.2

Equity at January 1, 2006

221.3

-

257.8

2.8

64.3

-33.9

–27.5

520.7

13.7

1,019.2

Net proﬁt for the ﬁnancial period

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

116.6

3.6

120.2

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

–43.6

–2.8

–46.4

Treasury shares issued to key employees

-

-

-

-

-

-

0.7

–0.7

-

-

0.3

-

0.1

-

-

-

-

-

-

0.4

Exchange differences

-

-

-

-

-

–1.5

-

-

0.4

–1.1

Hedge of net investment in foreign entities

-

-

-

-

-

4.5

-

-

-

4.5

in shareholders’ equity

-

-

-

-

–4.7

-

-

-

-

–4.7

Acquired minority interest

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

–2.3

–2.3

Share-based compensation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.1

-

1.1

Sharesubscriptions based on stock options

Cash ﬂow hedging: amount recognised

Other changes
Equity at December 31, 2006

-

0.3

–0.3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

–0.4

-

–0.4

221.6

-

257.9

3.1

59.6

–30.9

–26.8

593.4

12.6

1,090.5
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Transfer between restricted and non-restricted equity
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

CHANGES IN SHARE VOLUME
In (1,000)
Jan.1, 2005

Shares outstanding

Treasury shares

Total

120,306

4,190

124,496

Sharesubscriptions based on stock options

306

-

306

Treasury shares issued to key employees

108

-108

-

–6

6

-

Dec. 31, 2005

120,714

4,088

124,802

Jan.1, 2006

Shares from the share-based arrangement given back

120,714

4,088

124,802

Options subscribed for shares

166

-

166

Treasury shares issued to target group

117

–117

-

–9

9

-

120,988

3,980

124,968

Shares from the share-based arrangement given back
Dec. 31, 2006

Kemira had in its possession 3,979,670 of its treasury shares at December 31, 2006. Their average share price was EUR 6.73 and they represented 3.2%
of the share capital and the aggregate number of votes conferred by all shares.
The share premium account is a reserve accumulating through subsriptions entitled by the Management stock option program 2001 and is based on the
Finnish Companies Act (734/1978). The Reserve fund is a reserve accumulating through local legislation of Group companies. According to IFRS, the Fair
Value reserve is a reserve accumulating based on available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets (shares) measured at fair value and hedge accounting.
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Notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Subsidiaries
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the parent company and

Kemira is a chemical group comprising the following four strategic busi-

its subsidiaries. In these companies, the parent company holds, on the

ness units: Kemira Pulp&Paper, Kemira Water (water treatment chemi-

basis of its shareholdings, more than half of the voting rights directly or

cals), Kemira Specialty and Kemira Coatings.

through its subsidiaries or otherwise exercises control. Divested compa-

The business area names changed on February 1, 2007. The new

nies are included in the income statement until the date of sale or un-

business area names used in the annual report – Kemira Pulp&Paper,

til the date on which control ceases, and companies acquired during the

Kemira Water, Kemira Specialty and Kemira Coatings – equal the former

year are included from the date on which control transfers to the Group.

Pulp & Paper Chemicals, Kemwater, Performance Chemicals and Paints
& Coatings.

All intra-Group transactions are eliminated. The purchase method is
used to eliminate intra-Group shareholdings. The excess of the acquisi-

Kemira is seeking to be a global group of leading chemical busi-

tion cost over fair value of the net assets acquired is allocated partly to

nesses with a unique competitive position and a high degree of mutu-

the identiﬁable assets and liabilities. Any resulting excess is recorded as

al synergy. The company’s business also includes the water-soluble fer-

goodwill.

tilizer business as well as the energy units remaining with Kemira as a
result of the spin-off of GrowHow.
The Group’s parent company, Kemira Oyj, is domiciled in Helsinki,
Finland, and its registered address is Porkkalankatu 3, FI-00101 Helsinki.

Proﬁt for the ﬁnancial year attributable to the holders of parent company equity and minority shareholders is presented in the income statement. The portion of equity attributable to minority shareholders is stated as an individual item (minority interest) under equity in the balance
sheet. Minority shareholders’ share of accrued losses is recognized up

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

to the maximum amount of their investment and any excess is allocated against the share of majority shareholders, except to the extent that
minority shareholders have a binding obligation to cover losses.

Basis of preparation
Kemira prepares its consolidated ﬁnancial statements in accordance with

Associates

IAS and IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards), issued by the

Associated companies are companies over which the Group exercises

IASB (International Accounting Standards Board), and the related SIC and

signiﬁcant inﬂuence (shareholding of 20 – 50 percent). Holdings in asso-

IFRIC interpretations. In the Finnish Accounting Act and its provisions, the

ciated companies are presented in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

International Financial Reporting Standards refer to the approved stand-

using the equity method. The Group’s share of the associated compa-

ards and their interpretations under European Union Regulation No.

nies’ results for the ﬁnancial year is stated as a separate item in the

1606/2002, regarding the application of the International Financial Re-

consolidated income statement, in proportion to the Group’s holdings.

porting Standards applicable within the Community. Kemira has applied

If the Group’s share of an associate’s losses exceeds the Group’s in-

IFRS since the ﬁnancial year 2004 and applied IFRS 1 First-time Adoption

vestment in the associate, this excess is provided for only to the extent

of IFRS on January 1, 2003, the date of transition to IFRS. The Group has

that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations on behalf

applied the standards effective as of December 31, 2006 to the ﬁnancial

of the associate.

year 2006, including comparatives for the ﬁnancial year 2005.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared based on

Joint ventures

historical cost unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

Joint ventures are companies over which the Group shares control with

Among the items measured at fair value are available-for-sale ﬁnancial

other parties. They are included in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements

assets, ﬁnancial assets and liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss

line by line using the proportionate consolidation method.

and share-based payments on their grant date.

- The revised IAS 19 (Employee Beneﬁts) allows the option of rec-

Foreign subsidiaries
In the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros using the ﬁnancial year’s av-

ognising all actuarial gains and losses directly under equity. The Group

erage exchange rates and their balance sheets using the exchange

has not changed its recognition principles in this respect, but the revised

rates quoted on the balance sheet date. Any resulting translation dif-

standard has led to a larger number disclosure requirements.

ference is recognised as a separate item under equity. Goodwill and fair

Standards, interpretations and amendments effective in 2006 but

value adjustments to assets and liabilities that arise on the acquisition of

not relevant to the Group:

a foreign entity are accounted for as part of the assets and liabilities of

IAS 21 Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

the acquired entity and translated into euros at the rate quoted on the

IAS 39 Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intra-group

balance sheet date.

Transactions

The section, “Hedge accounting”, describes hedging of net invest-

IAS 39 The Fair Value Option

ment in the Group’s foreign units. In the consolidated ﬁnancial state-

IAS 39 Financial Guarantee Contracts

ments, the exchange rate gains and losses of such loans and forward

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

and currency swap contracts are credited or charged to equity, as re-

IFRIC 8 Scope of Share-Based Payments (IFRS 2)

quired by hedge accounting, against the translation differences aris-

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

ing from the translation of the shareholders’ equity amounts of the last

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

conﬁrmed balance sheets of the subsidiaries. Other translation differ-
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Since January 1, 2006, the Group has applied the following revised
standard:

Notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements

ences affecting shareholders’ equity are stated as an increase or decrease in equity.

The funded portion of the Finnish system under the Employees’ Pensions Act (TEL) and the disability portion are accounted for as a deﬁned
beneﬁt plan in respect of the pension plans managed by the Group’s

Items denominated in foreign currency

own pension funds. Pension fund assets are measured in accordance

In their day-to-day accounting, Group companies translate foreign cur-

with IAS 19 (Employee Beneﬁts). In respect of the TEL plans managed

rency transactions into their functional currency at the exchange rates

by insurance companies, the disability portion is likewise treated as a de-

quoted on the transaction date. In the ﬁnancial statements, foreign cur-

ﬁned beneﬁt plan.

rency-denominated receivables and liabilities are measured at the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet date, and non-monetary

Share-based payments

items using the rates quoted on the transaction date. Any foreign ex-

Cash payments received from share subscriptions based on the exercise

change gains and losses related to normal business operations are

of stock options under the program determined in 2001 are recognised

treated as adjustments to sales and purchases. Exchange rate differ-

in share capital or the share premium fund. According to the transition

ences associated with the hedging of ﬁnancing transactions and the

provisions of IFRS 2, no expense is recognised in the income statement

Group’s overall foreign currency position are stated in foreign exchange

for options granted prior to November 7, 2002.

gains or losses under ﬁnancial income and expenses. Subsidiaries mainly

Stock options under the share-based incentive plan for key employ-

hedge sales and purchases in foreign currencies, using forward contracts

ees, as decided by the Board of Directors, are measured at fair value on

as hedging instruments primarily taken out with the Group Treasury. The

their grant date and expensed over the instrument’s vesting period. On

effects of subsidiaries’ hedging transactions are recognised as adjust-

each balance sheet date, the Group updates the assumed ﬁnal number

ments to business units’ revenue and purchases.

of shares and the amounts of the related cash payment. Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, Share-based payments, provide infor-

Revenue

mation on the arrangement and its measurement factors.

Revenue includes the total invoicing value of products sold and services
rendered less, as adjusting items, sales tax, discounts, rebates and for-

Borrowing costs

eign exchange differences in accounts receivable.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

Revenue recognition

Income taxes

The sale of goods is recognised as revenue in the income statement

The consolidated ﬁnancial statements include income taxes based on

when major risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been

the taxable proﬁt of the Group companies for the ﬁnancial period, cal-

transferred to the buyer. Construction contracts account for a very insig-

culated according to local tax rules, and changes in deferred tax assets

niﬁcant share of consolidated sales. Revenue and costs associated with

and liabilities.

construction contracts are recognized as revenue and expenses, using
the percentage-of-completion method.

Deferred tax liability is calculated on all temporary differences arising between the carrying amount and the taxable value. Deferred tax
assets, related e.g. to unused tax losses, are recognized to the extent

Pension obligations

that it is probable that taxable proﬁt will be available against which the

The Group has various pension plans, in accordance with the local condi-

Group companies are able to utilize these deferred taxes arising from

tions and practices in the countries in which it operates, generally funded

tax losses carried forward in future ﬁnancial years. The tax bases in

through contributions to separate pension funds or insurance companies.

force on the date of preparing the ﬁnancial statements or enacted by

Contributions under deﬁned contribution plans are recognised in the in-

the balance sheet date for the following ﬁnancial year are used in calcu-

come statement for the period when an employee has rendered service.

lating tax assets and liabilities.

The Group calculates obligations under deﬁned beneﬁt plans sepaFINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

rately for each plan. The amount recognised as a deﬁned beneﬁt liabil-

Research and development expenditure

ity (or asset) equals the net total of the following amounts: the present

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs, whereby re-

value of the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation less the fair value of plan as-

search ﬁndings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or

sets, plus any actuarial gains and less any actuarial losses. Deﬁned ben-

substantially improved products and processes, is capitalized if the product

eﬁt plans are calculated at Group level by using the Projected Unit Cred-

or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has suf-

it Method to make an estimate of the amount of beneﬁt that employ-

ﬁcient resources to complete its development and use or sell the intangi-

ees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior peri-

ble asset. Since most of the Group’s development costs do not meet the

ods. Actuarial techniques are used to make a reliable estimate and the

above-mentioned recognition criteria, they are expensed as incurred.

resulting expenses are recognised accordingly. The rate used to discount

Capitalized development costs are included in “Other intangible as-

the present value of post-employment beneﬁt obligations is determined

sets” and amortized over the asset’s useful life of a maximum of ﬁve

by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds or gov-

years.

ernment bonds.
The Group recognises as income or expenses the excess of accumu-
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Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

lated actuarial gains or losses that falls outside the higher of the follow-

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) and intangible assets (with deﬁnite

ing: 10% of the present value of the pension obligation or 10% of the

useful lives) are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation/amor-

fair value of plan assets.

tization and any impairment losses.

Kemira 2006

Depreciation/amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over

sideration given or received for it. Following their initial measurement,

the asset’s useful life. The most commonly applied depreciation/amor-

ﬁnancial assets are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets at fair value through

tization periods according to the Group’s accounting policies are as fol-

proﬁt or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale assets.

lows:
Machinery and equipment

3 – 15 years

Buildings and constructions

25 years

Intangible assets

5 – 10 years

Goodwill is measured at cost less any impairment losses. Gains and
losses on the sale of non-current assets are included in operating income and expenses, respectively. Interest expenses are not recognised

Category

Financial instrument

Measurement

Financial

Forward contracts, currency

Fair value

assets at fair

options, currency swaps,

value through

forward rate agreements,

proﬁt or loss

interest rate futures, interest
rate options, interest rate

as part of the acquisition cost of non-current assets. The costs of major

swaps, electricity forwards,

inspections or overhaul of PPE performed at regular intervals and identiﬁed as separate components are capitalized and depreciated over their

propane futures, certiﬁcates

useful lives. Depreciation on PPE discontinues when they are re-classi-

of deposit, commercial
papers, mutual funds

ﬁed as available for sale assets.

Government grants

Loans and other

Long-term loan receivables,

(Amortized)

receivables

bank deposits, trade receiva-

acquisition cost

Government grants related to the purchase of PPE are presented in
the balance sheet by deducting the grant from the carrying amount of
these assets. The grants are recognised in the income statement in the

bles and other receivables
Available-for-

form of smaller depreciation during the asset’s useful life. Government

sale ﬁnancial

grants related to research and development are deducted from expens-

assets

Shares

Fair value

es.
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss are measured

Leases

at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be ex-

Leases, for which the Group acts as a lessee, are classiﬁed as ﬁnance

changed between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length

leases if substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership transfer

transaction. Derivative contracts not fulﬁlling the criteria set for hedge

to the Group.

accounting under IAS 39 are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets held for trading. These are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets at fair value through proﬁt

fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum

or loss. In the balance sheet, these items are shown under prepaid ex-

lease payments. Leased assets are presented as part of non-current as-

penses and accrued income and accrued expenses and prepaid income.

sets and the related lease liability is shown in interest-bearing liabilities.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized

In respect of ﬁnance leases, depreciation on the leased asset and inter-

through proﬁt or loss on the transaction date.

est expenses from the related liability are shown in the income statement.
In respect of operating leases, lease payments are accounted for as
expenses.
When the Group is a lessor, it recognizes assets held under a ﬁnance

Loans and receivables include long-term receivables carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and accounting for
any impairments.
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are measured at fair value if it is
considered that the fair value can be determined reliably. Unrealized

lease as receivables in the balance sheet. Assets held under other oper-

changes in the value of available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are recognised

ating leases are included in PPE.

directly under equity up to the time of sale, at which point they are

In accordance with IFRIC 4 (Determining whether an Arrangement

derecognised and transferred to the income statement. Available-for-

Contains a Lease), since January 1, 2006 the Group has also treated ar-

sale ﬁnancial assets include shares in listed and non-listed companies,

rangements as leases that do not take the legal form of a lease but which

shareholding in Teollisuuden Voima Oy representing the largest invest-

convey rights to use assets in return for a payment or series of payments.

ment. Teollisuuden Voima Oy is a private, electricity-generating company owned by Finnish manufacturing and power companies, to which

Inventories

Teollisuuden Voima Oy (TVO) supplies electricity at cost. The company

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

owns and operates two nuclear power plants in Olkiluoto in the munici-

Cost is determined on a ﬁrst-in ﬁrst-out (FIFO) basis or using a weight-

pality of Eurajoki. In addition to the Olkiluoto nuclear power plant, TVO is

ed average cost formula, depending on the nature of the inventory. Net

a shareholder of the Meri-Pori coal-ﬁred power plant. Kemira Oyj’s hold-

realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of

ing in TVO is measured at fair value, based on the discounted cash ﬂow

business less the estimated costs of sale. The cost of ﬁnished goods and

resulting from the difference between the market price of electricity

work in process include an allocable proportion of production overheads.

and the cost price.

Financial assets, ﬁnancial liabilities and derivative contracts

through proﬁt or loss and other ﬁnancial liabilities. Financial liabilities at

When ﬁnancial assets or liabilities are initially accounted for on the trade

fair value through proﬁt and loss include derivatives not fulﬁlling the cri-

date, they are measured at cost, which equals the fair value of the con-

teria set for hedge accounting.

Financial liabilities are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial liabilities at fair value
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At their inception, ﬁnance leases are recognised at the lower of the

Notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements

Hedge accounting

Category

Financial instrument

Measurement

Financial

Forward contracts, currency

Fair value

liabilities at fair

options, currency swaps,

their fair value offsets, in full or in part, changes in the fair value of the

value through

forward rate agreements,

hedged item or cash ﬂows. Hedge accounting is used to hedge against

proﬁt or loss

interest rate futures, interest

the interest rate risk and the currency risk associated with a net invest-

According to IAS 39, hedge accounting refers to a method of accounting

rate options, electricity

ment in a foreign unit, as well as the commodity risk. The hedge ac-

forwards, interest rate swaps
Other liabilities

aimed at allocating one or more hedging instruments in such a way that

counting models used include cash ﬂow hedge and hedge of a net in-

Short and long-term

(Amortized)

loans, pension loans

acquisition cost

vestment in a foreign operation.
Cash ﬂow hedge is used to hedge against cash ﬂow changes attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or li-

The fair values of forward rate agreements and units in mutual funds

terest rate instruments are used as instruments in hedging cash ﬂows.

markets on the balance sheet date. The value of other ﬁnancial instru-

The Group applies only selected hedging items to its cash-ﬂow hedge

ments measured at fair value is determined on the basis of valuation

accounting, as speciﬁed by IAS 39. Changes in the fair value of deriva-

models using information available in the ﬁnancial market. For value de-

tive instruments associated with cash ﬂow hedge are recognised in eq-

termination, Kemira uses values calculated on the basis of market data

uity, provided that they fulﬁll the criteria set for hedge accounting and

entered in the Twin treasury management system.

are based on effective hedge. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss

Changes in the value of forward contracts are calculated by meas-

on the hedging instrument is recognised under ﬁnancial items in the in-

uring the contracts against the forward exchange rates on the balance

come statement. Derivatives not fulﬁlling the hedge accounting criteria

sheet date and comparing these with the countervalues calculated

are recorded in ﬁnancial items through proﬁt or loss.

through the forward exchange rates on the date of entry into the for-

A net investment made in a foreign operation is hedged against in-

ward contracts. The fair value of currency options is calculated using the

terest rate ﬂuctuations by raising long-term loans in foreign curren-

Black & Scholes valuation model for options as adapted to Kemira’s cur-

cy and by entering into forward rate agreements and currency swaps.

rency environment. The input data required for valuation, such as the

Changes in the value of the effective portion of the fair value of deriv-

exchange rate of the destination country’s currency, the contract ex-

ative contracts fulﬁlling the criteria for hedging a net investment in a

change rate, volatility and the risk-free interest rate are obtained from

foreign operation are recognised directly under equity. In forward ex-

the Reuters system. The fair value of interest rate derivatives is deter-

change contracts, the interest rate difference to be left outside the

mined using the market value of similar instruments on the balance

change in value of the hedging relationship is recognised as ﬁnancial in-

sheet date. Other derivatives are measured at the market price on the

come or expenses. Any gains or losses arising from hedging a net in-

balance sheet date.

vestment are recorded in the income statement when the net invest-

All of the derivatives open on the balance sheet date are measured
at their fair value. As a rule, open derivative contracts at fair value are

ment is sold. The ineffective portion of the hedging is recognized immediately under ﬁnancial items in the income statement.

recognised through proﬁt or loss under ﬁnancial items in the consolidat-

Hedge effectiveness is monitored as required by IAS 39. Effective-

ed ﬁnancial statements. The number of embedded derivatives used by

ness refers to the capacity of a hedging instrument to offset changes in

the Group is low.

the fair value of the hedged item or cash ﬂows from a hedged transac-

The company assesses any impairment losses on its ﬁnancial instru-

tion, which are due to the realisation of the risk being hedged. A hedg-
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ments on each balance sheet date. An impairment of a ﬁnancial asset

ing relationship is considered to be highly effective when the change

occurs when the company has identiﬁed an event with a negative ef-

in the fair value of the hedging instrument offsets changes in the cash

fect on the future cash ﬂows from the investment. For items measured

ﬂows attributable to the hedged risk in the range of 80 – 125 percent.

at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss equals the differ-

Hedge effectiveness is assessed on an ongoing basis, prospectively and

ence between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of es-

retrospectively. Testing for hedge effectiveness is repeated on each bal-

timated future cash ﬂows from the receivable. This is discounted at the

ance sheet date.

ﬁnancial asset’s original effective interest rate. For items measured at

Hedge accounting discontinues when the criteria for hedge account-

fair value, the fair value determines the amount of impairment. Impair-

ing are no longer fulﬁlled. Gains or losses recognised in equity are dere-

ment charges are recognized under ﬁnancial items in the income state-

cognised and transferred immediately under ﬁnancial income or ex-

ment.

penses in the income statement if the hedged item is sold or falls due.

Consisting of cash in hand, demand deposits and other short-term,

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of those deriva-

highly liquid investments, cash and cash equivalents have a maximum

tives not fulﬁlling the hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39 are report-

maturity of three months from the date of purchase. Binding credit fa-

ed directly in the income statement.

cilities are included in current interest-bearing liabilities.
The Group sells certain trade receivables to ﬁnance companies with-
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ability in the balance sheet or a highly probable future transaction. In-

as well as publicly traded shares are based on prices quoted in active

At the inception of a hedge, the Group has documented the existence of the hedging relationship, and it includes identiﬁcation of the hedg-

in the framework of limits stipulated in the agreement. The credit risk

ing instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk be-

associated with these sold receivables and contractual rights to the ﬁ-

ing hedged, the objectives of risk management and the strategy for un-

nancial assets in question are transferred from the company on the sell-

dertaking hedging as well as a description of how hedge effectiveness is

ing date and the related expenses are charged to ﬁnancial expenses.

assessed.
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Treasury shares

recoverable amount. Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Purchases of own shares (treasury shares), including the related costs,

provides more detailed information on impairment.

are deducted directly from equity in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

If there has been a change in the estimates used to determine an
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized, an impairment loss should be reversed only to the extent that

Provisions

the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a

would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recog-

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is

nized. An impairment loss for goodwill is never reversed.

probable that an outﬂow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of this obligation can be

Emissions trading

made. A restructuring provision is recognised only if a detailed and ap-

Kemira holds assigned emissions allowances, under the EU emissions trad-

propriate plan has been prepared for it and the plan’s implementation

ing system, only at its Helsingborg site in Sweden. Kemira calculates its

has begun or it has been notiﬁed to those whom the restructuring con-

carbon dioxide allowances and provisions for emissions according to the

cerns. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the

current IFRS. Carbon dioxide allowances are accounted for as intangible as-

expenditure required to settle the present obligation on the balance

sets measured at cost. Carbon dioxide allowances received free of charge

sheet date. If the time value of money is material, provisions will be dis-

are measured at their nominal value (zero). Provisions for the fulﬁllment

counted.

of the obligation to return allowances must be recognized if the free-ofcharge allowances are not sufﬁcient to cover actual emissions. Kemira’s

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

balance sheet shows no items related to emissions allowances since the

Non-current assets held for sale and assets connected with discontin-

volume of actual emissions is lower than that of the free-of-charge emis-

ued operations are classiﬁed as held for sale, under IFRS 5 (Non-cur-

sions allowances and the Group has not bought allowances in the market.

rent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations). They are meas-

Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Environmental Risks

ured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to

and Liabilities, provides information on emissions allowances.

sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Depreciation on these assets

Management judgment on key assumptions and policies

discontinues at the time of classiﬁcation. A discontinued operation must

Preparing the ﬁnancial statements requires the company’s manage-

be recognised as a separate business unit or a unit representing a geo-

ment to make certain future accounting estimates and assumptions,

graphical area. The proﬁt or loss of the discontinued operation is stated

and actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

as a separate item in the consolidated income statement.

The impairment tests of goodwill and other assets include determining future cash ﬂows, which, in light of the most signiﬁcant assump-

Impairment of assets

tions, are based on gross margin levels, discount rates and the project-

On each balance sheet date, the Group’s assets are assessed to deter-

ed period. Major adverse developments in cash ﬂows and interest rates

mine whether there is any indication of an asset’s impairment. If any in-

may necessitate the recognition of an impairment loss.
Kemira’s investments include non-listed shares, holdings in Teollisuu-

set or the cash-generating unit must be calculated on the basis of the

den Voima Oy representing the largest investment. Kemira’s sharehold-

value in use or the net selling price. Annual impairment tests cover

ing in the company is measured at fair value, based on the discount-

goodwill and intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives, or intangible

ed cash ﬂow resulting from the difference between the market price of

assets not yet ready for use.

electricity and the cost price. Developments in the actual fair value may

Kemira has deﬁned its strategic business unit as a cash-generating unit. The level of a strategic business unit is one notch down from a
business area. Goodwill impairment is tested by comparing the strate-

differ from the estimated value, due e.g. to electricity prices, the forecast period or the discount rate.
Determining pension liabilities under deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans

gic business unit’s recoverable amount with its carrying amount. Kemira

includes assumptions, and signiﬁcant changes in these assumptions

does not have material intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives oth-

may affect the amounts of pension liabilities and expenses. Actuarial

er than goodwill. All goodwill has been allocated to the strategic busi-

calculations include assumptions by the management, such as expected

ness units.

long-term return on assets in pension funds, the discount rate and as-

The recoverable amount of a strategic business unit is deﬁned as its

sumptions of salary increases and the termination of employment con-

value in use, which consists of the discounted future cash ﬂows to the

tracts. Actual share price changes in the market, among other things,

unit. Estimates of future cash ﬂows are based on continuing use of an

may differ from the management’s assumptions.

asset and on the latest three-year forecasts by the business unit’s man-

Recognising provisions requires the management’s estimates, since

agement. The growth rate used to extrapolate cash ﬂows subsequent to

the exact euro amount of obligations related to provisions is not known

the forecast period was assumed to be zero. Cash ﬂow estimates do not

when preparing the ﬁnancial statements. For recognition of tax losses

include the effects of improved asset performance, investments or fu-

and other deferred tax asset, the management assesses the probabili-

ture reorganisations. The Kemira Corporate Center’s expenses are allo-

ty of a future taxable proﬁt against which unused tax losses and unused

cated to the strategic business units in proportion to revenue.

tax credits can be utilized. Actual proﬁts may differ from the forecasts

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenev-

and in this case the change will affect the taxes in future periods.

er the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
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dication of an impaired asset exists, the recoverable amount of the as-
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EUR million

Changes to the accounting policies after December 31, 2006

IFRS 8 (Operating Segments), issued on November 30, 2006, will be
adopted by the Group at a later date.

The Group has not applied the following standards, whose use is not

The Group assesses that the adoption of the revised standards will

mandatory for the ﬁnancial year starting on January 1, 2006, but which

not have any material effect on its future ﬁnancial statements. How-

can be applied prior to their effective date:

ever, the resulting changes will add disclosures to the Financial State-

IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) will be adopted by the

ments.

Group in 2007.
Revised IAS 1 (disclosures about capital) will be adopted by the
Group in 2007.

2

SEGMENT DATA

Business segments

At the beginning of 2006, the Group was organized in the following
main business areas: Pulp & Paper Chemicals, Kemwater, Performance Chemicals and Paints & Coatings. The new business area
names used in the ﬁnancial statements are Kemira Pulp&Paper,
Kemira Water, Kemira Specialty and Kemira Coatings, corresponding to the former Pulp & Paper Chemicals, Kemwater, Performance
Chemicals and Paints & Coatings. Intra-Group transfer prices are
based primarily on market prices. In some cases, for example where
marketing companies are involved, cost-based prices are used,
thereby including the margin (cost plus method).
On January 1, 2006, Kemira adopted a revised business-area-speciﬁc accounting practice applying to companies with several business
areas using products from the same production site. This change sim-

2006

pliﬁed the treatment of joint products by shifting from intra-Group
sale to shared product costs. In addition, some production and service
units were transferred between business areas. These changes had
an effect on segment information by business area but not on Grouplevel ﬁgures. Business-area comparatives for 2005 were adjusted to
match this new accounting practice.
The assets and liabilities of businesses comprise assets and liabilities which can be allocated, directly or justiﬁably, to the businesses in
question. The assets of the business segments include property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, holdings in associated companies,
inventories and non-interest-bearing receivables. Current non-interest-bearing liabilities are included in the liabilities of the business segments.

Kemira

Kemira

Kemira

Kemira

Pulp&Paper

Water

Specialty

Coatings

980.5

458.2

442.1

12.8

9.4

14.1

Other

Group

562.8

78.9

2,522.5

-

–36.3

-

Income statement

External revenue
Intra-Group revenue
Total revenue
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993.3

467.6

456.2

562.8

42.6

2,522.5

Operating proﬁt

90.8

35.3

45.8

72.1

–42.3

201.7

Share of associates’ results

–0.5

0.6

-

1.4

–3.9

–2.3

1,031.8

532.1

531.0

398.8

27.2

2,520.9

0.4

4.4

-

3.3

-

Assets of businesses
of which holdings in associates
Unallocated assets
Consolidated assets, total
Liabilities of businesses

2,769.4
243.1

288.1

93.2

98.4

48.1

Unallocated liabilities

1,678.9
–166.4

–202.2

–32.1

–46.9

–14.4

–462.0

Impairments and reversals of impairments

–2.1

–0.6

-

-

–1.5

–4.2

Other non-cash items

–1.6

–0.9

-

-

–4.7

–7.3

3.5

-

-

0.3

10.6

14.4

106.4

38.2

73.0

55.1

–56.0

216.8

–130.2

–194.2

–20.9

–8.3

–5.5

–359.1

Non-current assets held for sale
Cash ﬂow from operations
Net capital expenditure

70

770.9
908.0

Consolidated liabilities, total
Capital expenditure

8.1
240.4

Kemira 2006

EUR million

2005

Kemira

Kemira

Kemira

Kemira

Pulp&Paper

Water

Specialty

Coatings

708.0

345.9

396.0

7.3

7.3

12.4

715.3

353.2

Operating proﬁt

61.5

Share of associates’ results

–0.7

Other

Group

457.5

87.0

1,994.4

-

–27.0

-

408.4

457.5

60.0

1,994.4

28.2

45.4

55.9

–25.5

165.5

1.6

-

1.3

–3.7

–1.5

941.4

284.4

542.1

321.5

64.7

2,154.1

1.3

4.8

-

3.0

0.1

Income statement

External revenue
Intra-Group revenue
Total revenue

Other information

Assets of businesses
of which holdings in associates
Unallocated assets
Consolidated assets, total
Liabilities of businesses

2,330.9
120.3

58.8

70.1

64.4

43.1

Unallocated liabilities

Impairments and reversals of impairments
Other non-cash expenses

356.7
955.0

Consolidated liabilities, total
Capital expenditure

9.2
176.8

1,311.7
256.2

56.6

62.1

18.0

9.0

–2.9

-

-

-

-

401.9
–2.9

1.9

-

–1.1

0.5

–32.2

–30.9

Cash ﬂows

Cash ﬂow from operations
Net capital expenditure

90.4

36.9

53.6

57.4

–82.7

155.6

–252.1

–53.1

–40.6

–4.5

79.9

–270.4

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
2006

2005

Revenue

Finland

442.8

368.4

1,001.1

848.8

Rest of Europe

270.1

174.0

North and South America

663.5

479.2

Asia

121.9

103.1

Other EU countries

Other countries
Total

23.1

20.9

2,522.5

1,994.4

935.6

950.0

1,122.0

868.2

Finland
Other EU countries
Rest of Europe

104.4

44.1

North and South America

548.1

412.6

57.1

53.6

Asia
Other countries
Total

2.2

2.4

2,769.4

2,330.9

62.8

236.0

193.4

63.9
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Assets

Capital expenditure

Finland
Other EU countries
Rest of Europe
North and South America
Asia
Other countries
Total
The revenue of geographical segments is based on the location of customers and the total carrying amount of assets is based on
the geographical location of assets.

31.9

2.8

160.1

98.0

12.9

1.2

0.9

-

462.0

401.9
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3

REVENUE
2006

2005

Kemira Pulp&Paper

993.3

715.3

Kemira Water

467.6

353.2

Kemira Specialty

456.2

408.4

Kemira Coatings

562.8

457.5

Revenue by business segment

Other and intra-Group sales

42.6

60.0

2,522.5

1,994.4

Finland

18

18

Other EU countries

39

43

Rest of Europe

11

9

North and South America

26

24

Asia

5

5

Other countries

1

1

100

100

2006

2005

31.9

49.5

Continuing operations total
Revenue by geographic segment, as a percentage of total revenue

Total

4

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment
Rental income

1.6

2.0

12.5

6.1

Consulting

4.6

3.9

Sale of scrap and waste

0.1

0.2

–0.1

0.6

Insurance compensation

Income from royalties, knowhow and licences
Other income from operations
Total

7.0

59.2

69.3
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Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment in 2006, include the

portion. The property damage compensation is based on the value

gains on sale of the manufacturing-facility in Stockholm (EUR 16.4

of new investments, and has been accounted for by recording in

milion) as well as the gains on sale of the Helsingborg facility and the

income an amount equal to the capital expenditure by year-end (EUR

South Korean hydrogen peroxide unit

10.6 million). The proﬁt is affected by the impairment of assets dam-

Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment in 2005 includes
gains on sale of the Kemira-house, the Oulu research center building,
the Coil Coatings business, power plants and other shares.
The insurance payments for the Helsingborg accident are divided
between a property damage portion and a business interruption

72

8.6

Kemira 2006

aged (EUR 0.7 million) and the deductibles and other costs related to
the accident (EUR 3.9 million).
In 2006, the amount of insurance compensation (EUR 7.6 million)
equalling capital expenditure was recognised as other operating
income, related to the Helsingborg accident.

EUR million

5

COST OF SALES
2006

2005

–14.1

–2.2

–5.1

–6.0

1,251.7

888.9

–8.3

2.5

Change in inventories of ﬁnished goods
Own work capitalised 1)
Materials and services
Materials and supplies
Purchases
Change in inventories of materials and supplies
External services
Total materials and services

26.5

21.4

1,269.9

912.8

420.4

366.5

30.0

21.1

Personnel expenses
Rents
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

0.4

1.6

555.1

485.5

2,256.5

1,779.3

Other expenses
Total
1)

Own work capitalised comprises mainly wages, salaries and other personnel expenses and changes in inventories relating to self-constructed property,
plant and equipment for own use.
In 2006, other expenses included a net decrease in non-current and current provisions amounting to EUR 52.4 million (net increase EUR 40.4 million).
In 2005, other expenses included write-offs due to the decision to reorganise the production at Kemira Chemicals Inc (EUR 6.7 million) and other impairment of assets at Kemira Kemi AB (EUR 2.2 million). 2004 impairments were reversed by EUR 1.4 million due to the revised Kemira Water strategy.
External services include audit fees of EUR 1.9 million (EUR 2.1 million) and fees for ancillary services of EUR 2.3 million (EUR 0.3 million) paid to the companies operated by the ﬁrm of authorised public accountants KPMG, in different countries.
Auditing fees and fees for ancillary services paid to auditing companies other than KPMG were EUR 2.1 million (EUR 1.7 million).

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development expenses total

7

2005

51.3

43.1

2006

2005

0.1

0.1

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

Emoluments of the Supervisory Board
Remuneration of the Board of Directors and managing directors 1)
Other wages and salaries
Pension expenses for deﬁned beneﬁt plans

17.1

9.5

309.0

269.3

8.9

12.1

Pension expenses for deﬁned contribution plans

30.6

24.4

Other personnel expenses

54.7

51.1

420.4

366.5

Total
1)

2006

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

6

The remuneration of Kemira Oyj’s managing director was EUR 1,349,319 (1,205,177) including bonuses EUR 651,111 (686,386). The managing director
received as part of bonuses 13,800 (14,200) Kemira shares. The remuneration of Kemira Oyj’s deputy managing director was EUR 614,548 (710,567),
including bonuses and option salaries EUR 327,225 (452,601). The deputy managing director received as part of bonuses 6,900 (7,100) Kemira shares.
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Personnel, average

2006

2005

Kemira Pulp&Paper

2,285

2,050

Kemira Water

1,596

1,479

Kemira Specialty

1,102

1,440

Kemira Coatings

3,541

2,375

Other

662

373

Total

9,186

7,717

Personnel in Finland, average

3,150

3,146

Personnel outside Finland, average

6,036

4,571

Total

9,186

7,717

The personnel of joint ventures consolidated according to the proportionate method of accounting totaled an average of 46 (112 in 2005).
Personnel at year end

8

9,327

7,670

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Stock options under the share based incentive plan 2001

Kemira Oyj’s Annual General Meeting in 2001 decided on a stock

as Kemira Oyj’s share price performance in relation to a benchmark

option program, entitling members of the Company’s management

index. The share subscription price (exercise price) on December

to receive stock options conferring the right to subscribe for a maxi-

31, 2006, under the terms of the stock options, was EUR 2.11 (2.47)

mum of 2,850,000 Kemira Oyj shares from May 2, 2004 to May 31,

per share. The subscription price is reduced by the amount of paid

2007. The commencement of the subscription period was condi-

dividends. A total of 77,389 (243,400) stock options remained out-

tional and tied to Kemira’s consolidated earnings per share after

standing on December 31, 2006. The stock options outstanding on

ﬁnancial items and before taxes and extraordinary items, as well

the balance sheet date will lapse on May 31, 2007.

Changes in the number of stock options

Stock options outstanding at beginning of period

2006

2005

Number of

Average

Number of

Average

stock options

exercise price

stock options

exercise price

1000s

EUR / share

1000s

EUR / share

549

243

Options exercised
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

March
May-December
Stock options outstanding and exercisable at end of period

–36

2.47

–266

–130

2.11

–40

2.81
2.47

77

2.11

243

2.47

The stock option plan 2001 has not been expensed. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 2, only share-based plans decided after Nov. 7,
2002, are recorded in the income statement.

Share-based incentive plan

In 2004, Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors decided on a new sharebased incentive plan designed for key employees as part of the

74

comprise two components: Kemira shares and cash.
The value of these shares is determined by their closing price

Group’s incentive schemes. This scheme is divided into three

quoted on the grant date (at the price quoted on the date of agree-

performance periods of 2004, 2005 and 2006, and bonus payments

ing on the share-based payment). If the requirement of holding the

are contingent on meeting set ﬁnancial targets, in terms of earnings

granted shares for two years following their transfer is not fulﬁlled,

per share and return on capital employed. Any bonuses payable

they must be returned to Kemira.

Kemira 2006

EUR million

All of the granted shares and cash payments are accounted for over

employees on December 31, 2006 (72). Bonuses payable in shares

three years within the vesting period. Expected dividends are not

are charged to personnel expenses and recognised as an addition

taken into account in the fair value measurement. Cash bonus pay-

to equity, while cash bonus payments are charged to personnel

ments are measured at fair value on the basis of the share price on

expenses and recognised as liabilities. In February 2006, Kemira

the balance sheet date, and the bonus is 1.5-fold the value of trans-

Oyj’s Board of Directors decided on a new share-based incentive

ferred shares. The actual amount of bonuses will reﬂect to what

plan for key employees. The scheme is divided into three perform-

extent set targets were achieved. The incentive plan involved 78

ance periods of 2007, 2008 and 2009.

Annual share-based incentive plans / grant dates

2006
Share price
(EUR) at

No. of shares

grant date

for three years

Share-based plan in 2004: share transfer in 2005 / April 27, 2004

10.35

107,920

Returned shares in 2005

10.35

–5,680

Share-based plan in 2005: share transfer in 2006 / March 22, 2005

11.66

116,610

Returned shares in 2006

10.35

–8,520

Share-based plan in 2006: share transfer in 2007 / May 2, 2006

14.68

148,071

Total

Expenses arising from share-based payments

358,401

2006

2005

Share component

1.2

0.7

Cash component

2.7

2.0

Total

3.9

2.7

Liabilities arising from share-based payments, Dec. 31

0.4

0.3

2006

2005

Intangible rights

7.8

6.1

Other intangible assets

9.3

7.7

Buildings and constructions

17.0

17.0

Machinery and equipment

87.1

85.0

9

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTS

Depreciation according to plan

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Other tangible assets
Total

2.3

3.1

123.5

118.9
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FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
2006

2005

Financial income

Dividend income

-

2.6

0.1

2.1

Other interest income

14.5

1.1

Other ﬁnancial income

0.9

2.0

Exchange gains

116.3

92.2

Total

131.8

100.0

–51.6

–28.6

Interest income from long-term investments

Financial expenses

Interest expense
Other ﬁnancial expenses

–2.0

–3.5

Exchange losses

–115.4

–98.4

Total

–169.0

–130.5

–37.2

–30.5

Net ﬁnancial expenses as a percentage of revenue

1.5

1.5

Net interests as a percentage of revenue

1.5

1.3

Total ﬁnancial income and expenses

Exchange gains and losses

Realised
Unrealised
Total

5.4

–23.0

–4.5

16.8

0.9

–6.2

Share os associates’ results

Share of associates’ proﬁts

2.5

2.9

Share of associates’ losses

–4.9

–4.4

Total

–2.3

–1.5

The exchange rate differences on foreign currency loans and foreign currency derivatives have been credited or charged directly to shareholders´ equity
and hedged against the translation differences arising from the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries according to the hedge of net investments in foreign
operations. In 2006, these foreign exchange net losses were EUR 4.5 million (in 2005, the net gain was EUR 8.3 million).
Interest income on non-current investments does not include income from associated companies. All other ﬁnancial items constitute income and expenses from entities others than associates.

11

INCOME TAXES
2006

2005

Income taxes, current year

39.5

35.0

Income taxes, previous years

–0.1

6.5

1.4

0.3

Deferred taxes
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Other taxes
Total

1.2

0.3

42.0

42.1

Tax losses

Certain Group subsidiaries have tax losses totalling EUR 319.1 million

because there is uncertainty regarding the extent to which they can

(EUR 358.7 million), which can be applied against future taxable

be used. A limited right to make deductions applies to about 82%.

income. All tax losses have not been entered as deferred tax assets
Comparison of taxes calculated according to the current tax rate with taxes according to the income statement

Tax at the current tax rates

49.9

38.4

Taxes from previous ﬁnancial years

–0.1

6.5

Tax-free income / non-deductible expenditure

7.9

3.4

Unapplied losses during the ﬁnancial year

3.3

1.5

–18.3

–6.3

Used tax losses

76

Others

–0.7

–1.4

Income tax charge

42.0

42.1

Kemira 2006

EUR million
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EARNINGS PER SHARE
2006

2005

Proﬁt before tax

162.2

133.5

Income taxes for the ﬁnancial year

–42.0

–42.1

Net proﬁt

120.2

91.4

Earnings per share, basic

Attributable to minority interest
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Weighted average number of shares 1)
Earnings per share, EUR

–3.6

–2.9

116.6

88.5

120,877,281

120,628,237

0.96

0.73

120,877,281

120,628,237

141,535

254,615

Earnings per share, diluted

Average number of shares 1)
Effect of options outstanding (average)
Potential treasury share transaction related to share-based payment plan (average)
Average number of shares, diluted
Earnings per share, diluted, EUR

140,729

121,050,590

121,023,581

0.96

0.73

Weighted average number of shares outstanding. adjusted by the number of shares bought back.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible

Goodwill on

Other intangible

rights

Goodwill

consolidation

assets

Prepayments

2006 total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year

63.0

29.8

529.0

74.2

2.9

698.9

Acquisition of subsidiaries

37.8

17.4

16.6

0.1

-

71.8

7.2

0.1

-

12.4

–1.6

18.1

-

-

-

–0.3

-

–0.4

Non-current assets held for sale

–0.1

-

-

–0.4

-

–0.4

Other changes

–0.2

–0.5

–0.6

–0.2

-

–1.4

Increases
Decreases

Exchange rate differences
Acquisition cost at end of year

–0.5

–1.1

–10.8

0.1

-

–12.2

107.2

45.8

534.2

86.0

1.3

774.4

–28.2

-

-

–41.0

-

–69.2

Accumulated amortisation
at beginning of year
Accumulated amortisation relating
to decreases and transfers

-

-

-

0.3

-

0.3

–7.8

-

-

–9.3

-

–17.1

Impairment and charges

-

-

–0.1

-

-

–0.1

Non-current assets held for sale

-

-

-

0.3

-

0.3

0.1

0.5

–0.1

0.1

-

0.5

-

0.2

0.6

–0.1

-

0.7

–35.9

0.7

0.3

–49.7

-

–84.6

71.3

46.5

534.5

36.3

1.3

689.9

Amortisation during the ﬁnancial year

Other changes
Exchange differences
Accumulated amortisation at end of year
Net carrying amount at end of year
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1)

31,774

There was no goodwill on consolidation related to associated companies in 2006 and 2005. Apart from goodwill, the Group did not have material
intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Prepayments
and non-current

Land and
water

Buildings and

Machinery and

Other tangible

assets under

areas

constructions

equipment

assets

construction

2006 total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year

51.9

457.8

1,392.9

38.3

50.9

1,991.8

Acquisition of subsidiaries

4.8

19.8

68.1

2.4

56.8

151.9

Increases

0.2

11.5

75.7

1.8

65.2

154.4

Disposals of subsidiaries

–0.1

–0.1

–0.5

-

-

–0.6

Decreases

–4.2

–9.2

–27.0

–0.8

–0.1

–41.4

Non-current assets held for sale

–9.9

–19.8

–29.3

–2.3

-

–61.3

Other changes

0.3

–1.6

–19.0

–6.5

–1.5

–28.2

Exchange rate differences

1.4

1.2

–7.7

–1.0

–3.1

–9.3

44.5

459.6

1,453.3

31.9

168.0

2,157.3

-

–219.0

–886.0

–21.9

-

–1,126.8

Acquisition cost at end of year
Accumulated depreciation
at beginning of year
Accumulated depreciation relating
to decreases and transfers

-

5.5

19.3

0.4

-

25.1

Depreciation during the ﬁnancial year

-

–16.9

–87.1

–2.3

-

–106.3

Impairment and charges

-

–0.4

–0.1

-

-

–0.4

Non-current assets held for sale

-

1.1

4.6

1.4

-

7.1

Other changes

-

5.2

28.1

4.0

-

37.3

Exchange rate differences

-

–6.6

0.3

0.2

-

–6.1

Accumulated depreciation at end of year

-

–231.1

–920.9

–18.1

-

–1,170.1

44.5

228.5

532.4

13.7

168.0

987.1

Net carrying amount at end of year
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INVESTMENTS

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Share of associates’ results
Increases

2005

2006

2005

Holdings in

Available-for-

Available-for-

associates

associates

sale assets

sale assets
124.3

9.2

7.8

83.7

–0.5

–0.8

-

-

0.1

0.1

1.1

3.6
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Increases, acquired subsidiaries

-

1.9

-

-

Decreases

-

–0.2

–0.6

–45.3

Change in fair value

-

-

0.1

1.1

–0.6

0.4

–0.1

-

8.1

9.2

84.3

83.7

2006

2005

-

0.3

Other receivables

7.1

3.5

Deferred tax assets

7.7

6.8

Non-current loan receivable

2.4

3.9

24.6

15.4

134.2

122.7

Exchange rate differences
Net carrying amount at end of year

Receivables from associates

Deﬁned beneﬁt pension receivable
Total investments
Associated companies are speciﬁed in Note 33.
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IMPAIRMENT TEST

The Group’s Accounting Policies set out the principles and process of

duction and service units were transferred between business areas.

testing assets for impairment. On January 1, 2006 Kemira adopted

These changes had effect on degment information by business area

revised business-area-speciﬁc accounting practice applying to compa-

but not on Group-level ﬁgure.

nies with several business areas using products from same production
site. This change simpliﬁed the treatment of joint products by shifting

The carrying amounts of non-current assets and goodwill, by segment are the following:

from intra-Group sale to shared product costs. In addition, some pro-

Segment

Carrying amount
31/12/2005*)

30/9/2006

31/12/2005

Kemira Pulp&Paper

676

725

327

321

Kemira Water

179

200

67

69

Kemira Specialty

368

374

109

107

Kemira Coatings
Total
*)

Of which goodwill

30/9/2006*)

189

174

67

61

1,412

1,473

570

558

Excludes the assets of the Kemira Corporate Center and the former water-soluble fertilizers unit

Discount rates were determined for each CGU, based on the volatility

cast period. Expected sales growth varies between 2 percent and 5

of cash ﬂows between 2001 and 2006, and varied from 6 percent to

percent. The growth rate used to extrapolate cash ﬂows subsequent

12 percent. Forecasts for cash-ﬂow growth reﬂect the management’s

to the three-year forecast period was assumed to be zero.

perception of developments in sales and cost items during the fore-

Range of discount rates

Segment

Kemira Pulp&Paper
Kemira Water

2006

2005

6 – 9%

6 – 8%

7 – 8%

6 – 8%

Kemira Specialty

9 – 12%

8 – 11%

Kemira Coatings

9 – 10%

7 – 8%

would be a decline in the cash ﬂows’ growth rate, both during and
after the forecasting period. A general increase in interest rates has also
been taken into consideration as well as a change in the company’s
willingness to take risk. Only a drastic, simultaneus change in several

17

INVENTORIES

Materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods
Prepayments
Total

factors could involve the risk of impairment losses in some units.
The Group’s recoverable amount is more than double the carrying
amount.
Impairment tests did not reveal any need to recognize impairment
losses.

2006

2005

97.5

82.1

3.9

4.4

190.7

131.8

1.1

0.9

293.2

219.2
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The sensitivity analysis was made under the assumption that there
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2006

2005

Interest-bearing receivables

Loan receivables

-

0.2

Other receivables

9.1

6.8

Total interest-bearing receivables

9.1

7.0

436.0

346.2

-

0.3

5.1

2.5

Non-interest-bearing receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables from associates
Prepayments
Current tax assets

13.6

8.6

Accrued income

86.9

58.9

Other receivables

23.8

15.3

Total non-interest-bearing receivables

565.4

431.8

Total receivables

574.5

438.8

Items due over one year include trade receivables EUR 1.9 million, prepaid expenses and accrued income EUR 0.2 million and other non-interest-bearing
receivables EUR 0.3 million (EUR 0.6 million in 2005) as well as other interest-bearing receivables EUR 1.5 million (EUR 6.8 million in 2005).

Due dates of ﬁnance lease receivables

Within one year

0.8

1.0

After one year but no more than ﬁve years

1.9

2.3

Gross investment in ﬁnance lease agreements

2.7

3.3

Within one year

0.8

1.0

After one year but no more than ﬁve years

1.8

2.1

Total

2.6

3.1

Future ﬁnance income

0.1

0.2

Gross investment in ﬁnance lease agreements

2.7

3.3

The present value of minimum lease payments

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006
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RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE

Parties are considered belonging to each other’s related parties if

ties also include the members of the Supervisory Board, Board of

one party is able to exercise control over the other or substantial

Directors and the Group’s Management Boards, the CEO and his

inﬂuence in decision-making concerning its ﬁnances and business

deputy and their near family members. Key management persons

operations. The Group’s related parties include the parent company,

are the members of the Group Management Boards.

subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures. Related par2006

2005

Salaries and other short-term employee beneﬁts

4.1

3.9

Post-employment beneﬁts

3.2

2.3

Share-based payment

1.6

2.4

Total

8.9

8.6

Employee beneﬁts of key management personnel, EUR million

No loans had been granted to management at Dec. 31, 2006, or Dec. 31, 2005, nor were there contingency items and contingent liabilities on behalf of
key personnel. Persons belonging to the Company’s key management, including parties closely associated with them, are not involved in substantial
business relationships with the Company.
The management’s share-based incentive plan is included in Note 8.

Board of Directors and Supervisory Board emoluments, EUR
Members of the Board of Directors

2006

2005

Anssi Soila, Chairman

67,740

63,080

Eija Malmivirta, Vice Chairman

52,200

50,150

Elizabeth Armstrong

57,000

36,750

Heikki Bergholm

41,400

40,150

Ove Mattson

45,600

38,250

Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen

38,400

36,250

Markku Tapio

39,600

38,250

Aulis Ranta-Muotio, Chairman

12,800

12,800

Mikko Elo, I Vice Chairman

8,000

8,000

Heikki A. Ollila II Vice Chairman

8,000

8,000

Susanna Rahkonen

6,400

6,600

Risto Ranki

6,800

6,800

Pekka Kainulainen

6,800

6,800

Mikko Långström

6,600

6,800

Katri Sarlund

6,800

6,400
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Members of the Supervisory Board

Management’s pension commitments and termination beneﬁts

The managing director of Kemira Oyj is entitled to retire at the age

that has been closed to new members since January 1, 1991. The

of 60. The managing director’s beneﬁt is based on an agreement

supplementary pension foundation’s beneﬁts cover all personnel

according to which the maximum remuneration for the managing

whose years of service and other conditions concerning the granting

director is 60% of the pensionable earnings. The related deﬁned-

of a pension have been fulﬁlled. Similar arrangements have been

beneﬁt pension commitment of Kemira Oyj at December 31, 2006

made in other Group companies.

was EUR 5.3 million (2.2 million).
The deputy managing director of Kemira is entitled to retire at

The period of notice of Kemira Oyj’s managing director is 6
months. In case the company would give notice to the managing

the age of 60. The maximum remuneration for the deputy manag-

director, he will receive a remuneration equaling 12 months’ salary.

ing director is 66% of the pensionable earnings. This possibility is

The respective periods for the deputy managing director are 6

based on the beneﬁts of the supplementary pension foundation

months and 18 months.
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Other related party disclosure

Sales and purchases of goods and services to and from associates

shareholding for Group use and also for selling it to outside compa-

as well as receivables from associates are included in Note 15 and

nies. Sales of electricity to subsidiaries in 2006 were EUR 28.3 mil-

33. The amount of contingent liabilities on behalf of associates are

lion (EUR 9.8 million) and to outside companies EUR 1.9 million (EUR

presented in Note 29.

6.5 million). The shareholders may buy electricity at a price that

Kemira’s Finnish pension foundations and funds are legal units
of their own and manage part of the pension assets of the Group’s
personnel in Finland. The assets include Kemira shares representing
0.15% of the company’s shares outstanding.

covers its production expenses. This price has been clearly below
the average market prices.
Under the Finnish Companies Act over one percent holdings are
included in related parties. These holdings are listed in “Shares and

The pension foundations own 2.6% of Pohjolan Voima stock.

Shareholders” in table “Largest shareholders”.

Kemira Oyj buys electricity from Pohjolan Voima in proportion to its
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NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
2006

Debentures and other bond loans

2005

-

-

Loans from ﬁnancial institutions

330.2

321.3

Loans from pension institutions

55.6

74.8

Other non-current liabilities to others

9.2

7.9

395.1

404.0

2008 (2007)

20.9

14.6

2009 (2008)

16.4

21.9

2010 (2009)

83.9

9.3

2011 (2010)

84.2

78.5

2012 (2011) or later

189.7

279.7

Total

395.1

404.0

Loans from ﬁnancial institutions

149.8

232.0

Loans from pension institutions

37.2

44.5

Total
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities maturing in

Interest-bearing liabilities maturing in 5 years or longer

Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities
Total

2.8

3.2

189.7

279.7

-

16.5

-

16.5

The foreign currency breakdown of non-current loans is presented in management of ﬁnancial risk, Note 32.
The Group has no convertible bonds.
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Debentures and other bond loans

Loan
FI 0003008599
Total

82

Kemira 2006

Loan currency
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EUR

EUR million
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
Acquired /

Recognised
in the income

Recognised

disposed

1/1/2006

statement

in equity

subsidiaries

31/12/2006

Cumulative depreciation in excess of / less than plan

80.8

0.5

–1.0

–2.3

78.0

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets

17.1

-

1.1

-

18.2

5.3

1.0

-

-

6.3
15.0

2006
Deferred tax liabilities

Pensions
Fair value of acquired subsidiaries

1)

14.7

–5.7

-

6.0

Other

4.8

5.2

–0.7

–0.3

9.0

Total

122.7

1.0

–0.6

3.4

126.5

Tax assets deducted

–22.2

–20.6

Total deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet

100.5

105.9

Deferred tax assets

Internal stock margin

1.3

0.5

-

-

1.8

Provisions

7.2

–0.5

-

-

6.7

Tax losses

15.5

–3.1

-

-

12.4

Pensions

0.9

2.1

-

-

3.0

Other

4.1

0.6

-

–0.3

4.4

Total

29.0

–0.4

-

–0.3

28.3

Deferred tax liabilities deducted
Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet

–22.2

–20.6

6.8

7.7

Recognised

Acquired /

in the income

Recognised in

disposed

1/1/2005

statement

equity

subsidiaries

31/12/2005

Cumulative depreciation in excess of / less than plan

52.9

6.7

-

21.2

80.8

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets

18.0

-

–0.9

-

17.1

Pensions

4.1

1.2

-

-

5.3

Fair value of acquired subsidiaries 1)

2.8

-

-

11.9

14.7

2005
Deferred tax liabilities

Other

1.0

3.8

-

-

4.8

Total

78.8

11.7

–0.9

33.1

122.7

Tax assets deducted
Total deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet

–15.5

–22.2

63.3

100.5

Internal stock margin

1.4

–0.1

-

-

Provisions

5.7

1.5

-

-

7.2

Tax losses

4.2

11.3

-

-

15.5

Pensions

1.0

–0.1

-

-

0.9

Other

5.3

–1.2

-

-

4.1

17.6

11.4

-

-

Total
Deferred tax liabilities deducted
Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet
1)
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Deferred tax assets
1.3

29.0

–15.5

–22.2

2.1

6.8

The increase in deferred tax assets relating to the fair value measurement of acquired subsidiaries was recognised under goodwill.
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PROVISIONS
Environmental
Restructuring
provisions

and damage
provisions Other provisions

Total

Non-current provisions

Balance at beginning of year

0.7

19.3

74.5

Increase in provisions

0.1

1.5

9.4

11.0

-

–4.5

–34.3

–38.8

Provisions used during the period
Provisions released during the period

94.5

-

–0.9

–10.5

–11.4

0.8

15.4

39.1

55.3

Balance at beginning of year

8.5

3.6

16.4

28.5

Increase in provisions

2.2

0.1

5.7

8.1

–4.4

–1.1

–9.1

–14.6

Provisions released during the period

0.0

–1.3

–5.2

–6.4

Balance at end of year

6.3

1.4

7.8

15.5

2006

2005

Loans from ﬁnancial institutions

187.8

22.8

Loans from pension institutions

15.7

15.7

Current portion of other non-current loans

14.8

11.9

Balance at end of year
Current provisions

Provisions used during the period
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CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing current liabilities

Finance lease liabilities

3.0

3.4

Other interest-bearing current liabilities

287.2

218.2

Total interest-bearing current liabilities

508.5

272.0

Non-interest-bearing current liabilities

Prepayments received

4.9

2.2

278.6

201.0

Current provisions

15.5

28.5

Current tax liabilities

14.7

14.3

169.8

121.8

Trade payables

Accrued expenses
Other non-interest-bearing current liabilities

54.8

17.4

538.4

385.2

1,046.9

657.2

Personnel expenses

54.3

44.2

Items related to revenues and purchases

27.3

21.2

Interest

20.8

12.2

Total non-interest-bearing current liabilities
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Total current liabilities
Accrued expenses

Exchange rate differences

2.0

9.3

Other

65.4

34.9

Total

169.8

121.8

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities

395.0

404.0

Interest-bearing current liabilities

508.5

272.0

Short-term investments

–35.0

–28.3

Cash and cash equivalents

–41.1

–28.0

Total

827.4

619.7
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FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES – MATURITY
2006

2005

Within one year

0.5

0.7

After one year but no more than ﬁve years

1.5

1.4

Over ﬁve years

1.0

1.3

Total

3.0

3.4

Within one year

0.4

0.5

After one year but no more than ﬁve years

1.1

1.2

Over ﬁve years

1.0

1.3

Total

2.5

3.0

Future ﬁnance charges

0.5

0.4

Total ﬁnance lease liabilities

3.0

3.4

Finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payments
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Finance lease liabilities – present value of minimum lease payments
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DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

Under deﬁned beneﬁt plans, pension beneﬁts are determined by

plans managed by insurance companies, are treated as a deﬁned

salary, retirement age, disability, mortality or termination of employ-

contribution plan. The “corridor” method is used to account for any

ment.

actuarial gains and losses.

The funded portion of the Finnish system under the Employees’

The table below shows the effect of the deﬁned beneﬁt pen-

Pensions Act (TEL) and the disability portion are treated as a deﬁned

sion plan on the Group’s income statement and balance sheet, as

beneﬁt plan in respect of the pension plans managed by the Group’s

required by IAS 19. Pension liabilities, plan assets and actuarial gains

own pension funds, and the assets of Kemira’s own pension funds

and losses of the businesses acquired and divested have changed

are measured according to IAS 19 (Employee Beneﬁts). The TEL

obligations and assets.
2006

2005

Balance sheet

Liability for deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Receivable for deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Net liability

65.8

52.1

–24.6

–15.3

41.2

36.8

8.9

12.1

484.9

481.1

51.9

45.8

–552.3

–543.3

–15.5

–16.4

Income statement

Deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet

Present value of funded obligations
Present value of unfunded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of pension obligations
Unrecognised past service costs

23.8

-

Unrecognized actuarial gains (+) and losses (–)

56.7

53.2

Net liability

65.0

36.8

Movements in the present value of deﬁned beneﬁt obligation

Liability at beginning of year

526.9

484.2

Current service costs

12.4

10.2

Interest costs

24.0

24.5

Actuarial gains (–) and losses

–3.7

20.4

Exchange rate differences on foreign plan

–1.4

–0.3

The effect of companies acquired and divested during the period

–1.2

-

Beneﬁts paid

–25.3

–24.2

Curtailments

–1.3

–1.0

Settlements

5.6

10.5

Past service costs
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Liability at end of year

0.8

2.6

536.8

526.9

543.3

492.8

26.7

23.1

Movements in the fair value of plan assets

Plan assets at beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Employer contributions

9.7

6.8

Actuarial gains (–) and losses

1.4

34.8

Exchange differences on foreign plan

–1.0

1.2

Effect of companies acquired and divested during the period

–9.1

8.3

–24.2

–24.1

5.5

–0.3

Beneﬁts paid
Settlements
Transfer within the system
Plan assets at end of year
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-

0.7

552.3

543.3

EUR million

Amounts recognized in the income statement

2006

2005

Current service cost

12.4

10.2

Interest cost

24.0

24.5

–26.7

–23.1

Expected return on plan assets
Past service costs

0.8

2.8

–1.6

–0.5

Curtailments

–

–1.1

Transfer within the system

–

–0.7

8.9

12.1

28.1

57.9

Discount rate

4.0 – 8.0%

4.5 – 5.5%

Expected return on plan assets

2.7 – 7.3%

4.5 – 8.0%

Inﬂation

2.0 – 3.5%

2.0 – 3.0%

Future salary increases

2.0 – 4.0%

2.6 – 4.5%

Future pension increases

1.5 – 3.1%

1.3 – 3.0%

Equity instruments

315.2

263.8

Bonds and other long-term interest-bearing investments

136.7

226.9

Net actuarial gains (–) /losses for ﬁnancial year (+)

Income statement total
The above amount, EUR 8.9 million (12.1), is included in employee beneﬁts in the income statement.

Actual return on plan assets

Actual return on plan assets
Principal actuarial assumptions

Plan assets

Short-term interest-bearing investments

13.6

8.2

Assets in insurance companies *)

29.9

26.5

Kemira Oyj treasury shares

2.5

13.0

8.0

Other

40.8

7.4

Total

552.3

543.3

Funds managed by insurance companies, under the deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan, form part of the investment assets of the insurance companies, which
bear the associated investment risk. For this reason, more detailed information on the individual plans’ asset allocation is not available.
The total expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 6.35%. This rate of return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the
returns on individual asset categories. The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments.
Expected contributions to post-employment beneﬁt plans for 2007 total EUR 4.7 million.

31/12

2006

2005

2004

2003

Present value of deﬁned beneﬁt obligation

536.8

526.9

484.3

1,109.7

Fair value of plan assets

1,004.1

552.9

543.3

492.9

Actuarial gains (+) and losses (–)

56.7

53.2

39.7

43.3

Deﬁcit / surplus (–)

41.2

36.8

31.1

148.9

4.0

–9.1

19.5

1.6

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments on plan assets

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

*)

3.1

Real estate in Group use
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SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
2006

2005

301.5

318.6

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition cost
Cash and cash equivalents at acquisition date
Cash ﬂow on acquisition net of cash acquired

–4.2

–33.1

297.3

285.5

Acquired assets and liabilities

Net working capital

109.1

30.6

Property, plant and equipment

176.4

157.8

Shares and holdings

-

1.9

Interest-bearing receivables, cash and cash equivalents excluded

3.0

1.1

Other non-interest-bearing receivables

1.7

9.1

–8.8

–246.7

–20.8

–51.2

2.2

16.3

34.5

366.6

297.3

285.5

Interest-bearing liabilities
Non-interest-bearing liabilities
Minority interest
Goodwill on acquisition
Total assets of acquired subsidiaries
Proceeds from the disposals of subsidiary shares

Proceeds from the disposal

42.7

9.0

Cash and cash equivalent in disposed companies

–0.9

–0.3

Total cash ﬂow on disposals of subsidiaries

41.8

8.7

4.2

0.6

20.8

0.5

Assets and liabilities disposed

Net working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Other non-interest-bearing receivables
Interest-bearing liabilities

–1.4

Non-interest-bearing liabilities

–0.5

-

Gain/loss on disposal

18.2

9.0

Total assets and liabilities of disposed subsidiaries

41.8

8.7

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

OOO Kraski Teks

Responsible for the paints business of the Kemira Group, Tikkurila

cash and ﬁnanced using the Group’s existing ﬁnancing agreements.

acquired 100% of voting stock of OOO Kraski Teks, one of the larg-

Of the purchase price, EUR 19.8 million at fair value was allocated

est players in the Russian decorative paints market, on February

to trademarks under intangible assets, EUR 3.8 million to buildings

3, 2006. Tikkurila and OOO Kraski Teks will together form a strong

under PPE and the related deferred tax liabilities of around EUR 5.6

player in the rapidly expanding Russian decorative paints market.

million were recognized under goodwill. Using the Relief-from-Roy-

Through this acquisition, Tikkurila increased its market share to 20%

alty method, the fair value of trademarks was determined by the

and became the market leader. Tikkurila’s product portfolio can now

present value of avoided royalty payments. The building’s fair value

offer strong brands in all price segments.

is based on external expert opinions.

At a debt-free price of EUR 33 million, the acquisition was paid in

Carrying

recorded

amounts prior

on business

to business

combination

combination

19.8

0.0

Property, plant and equipment

9.4

5.6

Inventories

3.6

3.6

Trade receivables and other receivables

3.1

3.1

Cash and cash equivalents

1.5

1.5

Total assets

37.4

13.8

Interest-bearing current liabilities

11.1

11.1

Other liabilities

2.9

2.9

Deferred tax liabilities

5.6

Total liabilities

19.6

14.0

Net assets

17.8

–0.2

Cost of business combination (net)

23.4

Goodwill
Acquisition cost

5.6
23.4

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired

-1.5

Cash outﬂow on acquisition

22.0
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Intangible assets, trademarks

Fair values

In February-December 2006, Kraski Teks posted revenue of EUR 79.9 million and the effect of the acquisition on operating proﬁt totaled EUR 5.2 million.

The Paper Chemicals business of Lanxess

Kemira acquired the global assets of Lanxess Group’s Paper
Chemicals Business on April 1, 2006. The main products of this
division are colorants, optical brighteners and sizing agents for
paper industry.
Kemira has now a full-range of paper chemicals products to
the global paper industry. The acquired division has two production units, one in Leverkusen Germany and one in Bushy Park,

South Carolina, USA and it also outsources a signiﬁcant portion
of its products to customers from a third party. This deal makes
Kemira the largest supplier of pulp and paper chemicals to the
global pulp and paper industry and also strengthens Kemira´s
position in emerging markets.
The acquisition price, around EUR 79 million, was paid in cash and
through existing ﬁnancing agreements.
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Fair values

Carrying

recorded

amounts prior

on business

to business

combination

combination

Intangible assets

0.0

0.0

Property, plant and equipment

16.6

16.6

Inventories

33.0

32.6

Trade receivables and other receivables

34.8

34.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

0.0

0.0

84.4

83.9

Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term liabilities

0.1

0.0

10.8

10.8

Other liabilities

3.5

3.5

Total liabilities

14.3

14.2

Net assets

70.0

69.7

Cost of business combination (net)

81.2

Goodwill

11.2

Acquisition cost

81.2

Cash and cash equicalents in subsidiary acquired

0.0

Cash outﬂow on acquisition

81.2

Goodwill of EUR 11.2 million arose on the acquisition. The acquisition resulted in EUR 11.2 million in goodwill, based on the acquired business’s expected
future earnings and attainable major synergies.
During Apr. 1 – Dec. 31, 2006, the acquired business had revenue of EUR 165.8 million and operating proﬁt of EUR 0.5 million.

The Cytec water treatment business

Kemira acquired the Cytec Industries, Inc.’s water treatment and

2007. Kemira also signed transition service agreements with nine

acryl amide business on October 1, 2006. Cytec’s water treatment

Cytec companies, concerning certain transition services with respect

chemicals product line consists of water treatment solutions for

to the products of the business (Overseas units). The assets related

industrial and municipal water treatment plants. The acquisition

to these transition service agreements will be transferred to Kemira

includes three production plants located in the US (Mobile/Alabama,

within six months from closing.

Longview/Washington and Fortier/Louisiana), and two in Europe
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

(Bradford/UK and Botlek/the Netherlands).
The acquisition of Cytec’s water treatment chemicals business

included in the consolidated ﬁnancial statement on December 31,

is in line with Kemira’s growth strategy. It also enables Kemira to

2006. The purchase price allocation of the Cytec water treatment

signiﬁcantly broaden its current product portfolio and gain greater

business was made on a preliminary basis for the ﬁnancial state-

geographical presence in key markets and within key customer seg-

ments December 31, 2006.

ments. The acquired business’ market regions include the US, South
America, Asia and Europe.
The purchase price totaled EUR 189.2 million subjects to adjustment of net working capital. The acquisition was ﬁnanced using the
Kemira Group’s cash and through existing ﬁnancing agreements.
As part of the acquisitions, in addition to the purchase of the
business (asset purchase agreement) which was closed 1 October, 2006, Kemira signed a share purchase agreement for all Cytec
Manufacturing BV shares. The closing of this phase was 11 January
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Control over the entire Cytec water treatment business transferred to Kemira on October 1, 2006. The assets and liabilities are

Kemira 2006

The assets and liabilities of Manufacturing BV were measured
in the 2006 ﬁnancial statements value of the payments plus the
remaining payment of EUR 15.8 million paid at the closing on January 11, 2007.
The ﬁnal IFRS-compliant valuation of the business acquisition will
be completed upon the closing of the acquisition’s phases and the
completion of net working capital adjustments.
The acquired unit’s revenue for October 1 – December 31, 2006
totaled EUR 67.7 million and operating proﬁt EUR 2.8 million.

EUR million

Aggregate of other business combinations

Kemira made the following aqcuistions in 2006: Finncolor s.r.o.

(percentage of voting stock acquired in 2006); Kemwater de

(100%), Gropa A/S (100%), Roma 8660 Skanderborg A/S (100%),

México, S.A de C.V (49%), Kemwater Närke Ab (8.33%), Kemwa-

Scandinavian Tanking System A/S (100%) and Storage and Produc-

ter ProChemie s.r.o.(35%), TOB Tikkurila (49%), Holmbergs Färg i

tion System A/S (100%), Oy Galvatek Ab (100%), Bayer Agencies

Skövde Ab (9%), Kemira-Swiecie Sp.z.o.o (35%).

Paper chemical business and the IFAC business.

These business combinations are individually immaterial.

Kemira increased its shareholdings in the following businesses

Fair values

Carrying

recorded

amounts prior

on business

to business

combination

combination

Trademarks and trade names

1.5

-

Other intangible assets

3.7

0.2

10.2

5.5

0.2

0.2

Property, plant and equipment
Other investments
Inventories

10.4

8.3

Trade receivables and other receivables

11.6

11.6

2.7

2.7

40.3

28.5

Deferred tax liabilities

2.9

0.7

Non-current liabilities

2.6

3.4

Other liabilities

16.6

16.6

Total liabilities

22.1

20.8

Net assets

17.9

10.5

Cost of business combinations (net)

32.6

Goodwill

14.7

Acquisition costs

32.7

Contingent purchase prices

–2.5

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired

–2.7

Cash outﬂow on acqusition

27.4

The effect of the business combinations on revenue and proﬁt
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Kemira’s revenue for Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2006, would have been EUR
2,787 million and operating proﬁt EUR 218 million if all the business
combinations carried out during the period had been completed on
January 1, 2006.
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COLLATERAL AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
2006

2005

Loans from ﬁnancial institutions

0.5

11.3

Mortgages given

0.5

11.5

Loans from pension institutions

59.9

57.2

Mortgages given

63.1

62.2

Other loans

1.1

1.0

Mortgages given

1.2

1.2

Total mortgage loans

61.5

69.5

Total mortgages given

64.8

74.9

19.5

17.5

Loans secured by mortgages in the balance sheet and for which mortgages given as collateral

Contingent liabilities

Assets pledged
On behalf of own commitments
Guarantees
On behalf of own commitments

6.4

On behalf of associates

32.6

61.5

1.4

4.2

Maturity within one year

14.9

12.3

Maturity after one year but within ﬁve years

42.9

41.4

Maturity after ﬁve years

75.2

70.5

On behalf of associates

2.3

2.5

On behalf of own commitments

0.4

-

On behalf of others
Operating leasing liabilities

Other obligations

There were no collateral or contingent liabilities related to managing directors, members or deputy members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board during 2006 and 2005.

Major off-balance sheet investment commitments

United States Department of Justice Antitrust Division, relating to the

Major amounts of contractual commitments for the acquisition of

hydrogen peroxide business in the US. Kemira Oyj, Kemira Chemi-

property plant and equipment were EUR 16 million on December

cals, Inc and Kemira Chemicals Canada, Inc. have recently received

31,2006 for the construction of the chemical plant in Uruguay.

claims or were named in class action lawsuits ﬁled in US federal

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

and state courts and in Canada by direct and indirect purchasers of
Litigation

The Group has extensive international operations and is involved

In these civil actions it is alleged that the US plaintiffs suffered

in a number of legal proceedings incidental to those operations.

damages resulting from a cartel among hydrogen peroxide sup-

The Group does not expect the outcome of any legal proceedings

pliers. The existence of the United States Department of Justice’s

currently pending to have a materially adverse effect upon its con-

Antitrust Division’s investigations and the European Commission’s

solidated results, taking provisions into account.

ruling in a case of infringement of competition law in May 2006 are

Kemira Chemicals, Inc. has received a grand jury subpoena to
produce documents in connection with an investigation by the
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hydrogen peroxide and persalts.

Kemira 2006

relied upon in support of the allegations.

EUR million
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Nominal values
2006

2005

389.4

314.7

19.6

24.7

42.8

94.1

Currency instruments

Forward contracts
of which hedges of net investment in a foreign operation
Currency options
Bought
Sold

45.3

111.2

115.9

121.9

109.2

160.4

83.8

69.6

Bought

-

10.0

Sold

-

15.0

10.0

10.0

10.0

10.0

Electricity forward contracts (Gwh)

1,227.0

1,884.0

of which cash ﬂow hedge (Gwh)

1,227.0

1,884.0

1,000.0

-

1,000.0

-

Currency swaps
Interest rate instruments

Interest rate swaps
of which cash ﬂow hedge
Interest rate options

Bond futures
of which open
Other instruments

Propane swap contracts (tons)
of which cash ﬂow hedge (tons)

Nominal values of the ﬁnancial instruments do not necessarily corresbond to the actual cash ﬂows between the counterparties and do not therefore give a
fair view of the Group’s risk position.

Fair values

31/12/2006

31/12/2005

Assets total

Liabilities total

Total net

Assets total

Liabilities total

Total net

6.6

–1.1

5.5

1.3

–6.7

–5.4

2.2

0.0

2.2

0.1

–3.2

–3.1

0.4

–0.2

0.2

0.3

–1.2

–0.9

Bought

0.1

–0.1

0.0

–

–0.3

–0.3

Sold

0.2

–0.1

0.2

0.3

–0.9

–0.6

8.4

-

8.4

0.8

–0.9

–0.1

4.7

-

4.7

3.6

–0.7

2.9

4.2

-

4.2

3.4

–0.1

3.3

-

-

-

-

–0.2

–0.2

Currency instruments

Forward contracts *)

ment in a foreign operation
Currency options *)

Currency swaps
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of which hedges of net invest-

Interest rate instruments

Interest rate swaps
of which cash ﬂow hedge
Interest rate options
Sold

-

-

-

-

–0.2

–0.2

-

–0.2

–0.2

-

–0.1

–0.1

-

–0.2

–0.2

-

–0.1

–0.1

10.4

-

10.4

17.3

-

17.3

10.4

-

10.4

17.3

-

17.3

Propane swap contracts (tons)

-

–0.1

–0.1

-

-

-

of which cash ﬂow hedge

-

–0.1

–0.1

-

-

-

Bond futures
of which open
Other instruments

Electricity forward contracts (Gwh)
of which cash ﬂow hedge

*)

Includes closed foreign exchange positions. The open position is shown in the hedging section of the currency risk table, Note 32.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND LIABILITIES

The bulk of Kemira’s business is in the chemical industry, whose prod-

the ﬁve sites of the water chemicals business acquired from Cytec Inc.,

ucts and operations are governed by numerous international agree-

and liabilities related to their previous operations are stated in the bill

ments and regional and national legislation all over the world. The

of sale.

Group treats its environmental liabilities and risks in ﬁnancial state-

Provisions for environmental remediation totaled EUR 16.8 million in

ments in accordance with IFRS and observes established internal princi-

2006, the largest pertaining to the future rehabilitation of the dumping

ples and procedures.

areas connected to the Pori and Helsingborg sites, the isolation of the

In the context of all of its major M&As in 2006, Kemira carried out
due diligence analyses related to the pollution of soil and groundwater

sold waste disposal area at the Kokkola site and the reconditioning of
the sediment of a lake adjacent to the Vaasa plant.

caused by the sites’ previous operations.
Acquisitions and divestments did not alter the Group’s environmen-

Emissions allowances

tal liabilities signiﬁcantly. No signiﬁcant environmental liabilities were

The Group holds assigned emissions allowances, under the EU Emis-

connected to the purchase of the Lanxess Group’s paper chemicals

sion Trading System, at one site in Sweden. In net volumes, these al-

business, announced at the end of 2005, and that of the Kraski Teks

lowances at Group level showed a surplus of 5,592 carbon dioxide tons

paint business in Russia. Kemira conducted detailed assessments at

in 2006.

32

MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group Treasury is tasked with managing ﬁnancial risks in accord-

50% of the forecast net foreign currency cash ﬂow is hedged. A mini-

ance with the treasury policy in force. Approved by the Board of Direc-

mum of 30% and a maximum of 100% of the forecast ﬂow must al-

tors, the treasury policy deﬁnes treasury management principles. The

ways be hedged. A 10% fall in foreign exchange rates against the euro,

Board of Directors approves the annual Treasury plan and the maxi-

based on the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet date, and

mum permissible ﬁnancial risk levels.

without hedging would reduce earnings by about EUR 6.1 million. For-

Financial risk management aims to protect the Company from unfavorable changes in ﬁnancial markets, thus contributing to safeguarding the Company’s proﬁt performance and shareholders’ equity. Kemira

eign exchange risks also derives from the translation of into euros of
income statement and balance sheet items into euros.
In hedging the net investment in its units abroad, Kemira moni-

uses only instruments whose market values and risks can be moni-

tors the equity ratio. In accordance with the Group’s policy, Kemira
must take equity hedging measures if a change of +
–5.0% in foreign ex-

tored continuously and reliably. It uses derivative instruments only for

change rates causes a change of more than 1.5 percentage points in

hedging purposes, not for speculative gain.

the equity ratio.

Foreign exchange risk

in Swedish krona, US dollars and Polish zlotys. The objective is to hedge

employs various ﬁnancial instruments within the set limits. The Group

The largest equity amounts of Group companies are denominated
Foreign currency cash ﬂow risk arises from the net currency ﬂows de-

the balance sheet risk by maintaining a balance between foreign cur-

nominated in currencies other than the domestic currency within and

rency -denominated liabilities and assets, currency by currency. Kemira

outside the eurozone. The most important currency exposures are in

hedges foreign currency equity items through either long-term loans or

the US dollar and the Swedish krona. Kemira mainly uses forwards and

forward contracts.

currency options in hedging against foreign exchange risks, which had

On the balance sheet date, part of the equity denominated in the
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less than a one year maturity at the end of 2006. At Group level, the

Swedish krona, the US dollar and the British pound were hedged with

subsidiaries’ hedging entries are eliminated. The table below shows an

long term loans. The equity of the Group’s company in Canada and Ja-

estimate of the largest Group-level foreign currency cash ﬂow risks.

pan is hedged using forward contracts. At the end of 2006, the nominal amount of hedges of net investments in foreign operations totaled

Currency

USD

SEK

PLN

NOK

CAD Others

EUR 186.6 million (2005: EUR 143.5 million). All in all, these transactions
correspond to a 27% hedge ratio.

(EUR million)
Net ﬂow

51

21

14

13

9

6

Hedging

30

10

6

2

3

2

hedging

21

12

8

11

6

4

Hedge ratio, %

59

46

41

16

35

38

Exposure after

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is associated with the Group’s loan portfolio management. In accordance with the treasury policy, the benchmark of the
Group’s interest rate risk is the duration of the loan portfolio, which
must be in the range of 6 – 24 months. The Group may borrow by way
of either ﬁxed or ﬂoating rate instruments and use both interest rate

At the turn of 2006/2007, the foreign currency operative cash ﬂow

and interest rate futures, in order to meet the goal set under the relat-

(the hedge ratio in 2005 was 55%). The hedge ratio is monitored daily.

ed policy.

In hedging the total cash ﬂow risk, the neutral level is achieved when
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swaps and interest rate options as well as forward rate agreements

forecast for 2007 was EUR 114 million, 46% of which was hedged

Kemira 2006

EUR million

The duration of the Group’s interest-bearing loan portfolio was 16

production costs. In hedging its propane purchases, Kemira uses pro-

months at the end of 2006. Excluding interest rate derivatives, the du-

pane swaps, which are treated in accordance with cash ﬂow hedge ac-

ration is 10 months. At the end of 2006, 29% of the Group’s entire

counting in a manner similar to that of the electricity cash ﬂow hedges.

loan portfolio, including derivatives and pension loans, consisted of
ﬁxed-interest borrowings (2005: 41%). Pension loans are classiﬁed as

Credit risk

ﬁxed rate loans.

The Group’s treasury policy deﬁnes the credit rating requirements for
counterparties to investment activities and derivative agreements as

around 4.9% (2005: 4.1%), excluding exchange rate differences and

well as the related investment policy. The Group seeks to minimize its

dividends. The most signiﬁcant impact on the average interest rate

counterparty risk by dealing solely with counterparties which are ﬁnan-

arises from variation in the interest rate levels of the euro, the US dollar

cial institutions with a good credit rating as well as by spreading agree-

and the Swedish krona.

ments among them.

Fixed-interest ﬁnancial assets and liabilities are exposed to price

Group Treasury approves the new banking relationships of subsidi-

risks arising from changes in interest rates. Floating rate ﬁnancial assets

aries. At present, there are 14 approved ﬁnancial institution counterpar-

and liabilities, whose interest rate changes alongside market interest

ties, all of which have a credit rating of at least A, based on Standard

rates, are exposed to cash ﬂow risks due to interest rates. Investments

& Poor’s credit rating information. A counterparty with a credit rating

in equity instruments do not have interest rate exposure.

below A or an unrated counterparty requires a separate approval from

An increase of one percentage point in interest rates at the end of

the Board of Directors. The maximum risk assignable to the Group’s ﬁ-

2006 would have lowered the market value of the loan portfolio by

nancial institution counterparties on the balance sheet date amount-

EUR 9.7 million, including interest rate derivatives, and by EUR 5.6 mil-

ed to EUR 40.2 million on the balance sheet date. Kemira monitors its

lion without derivatives. The proportion of ﬁxed-interest loans in the

counterparty risk on a monthly basis by deﬁning the maximum risk as-

loan portfolio has been increased by means of interest rate deriva-

sociated with each counterparty, based on the market value of receiv-

tives. As a consequence of this treasury policy, the Group’s average in-

ables. For each ﬁnancial institution, Kemira has deﬁned an approved

terest rate is generally higher than the short-term market interest rates

limit. Credit risks associated with ﬁnancing did not result in credit losses

when low rates prevail and, on the other hand, lower than the market

during the ﬁnancial year.

interest rates when high rates prevail. If interest rates rose by one per-

Counterparty risk in treasury operations is due to the fact that a

centage point on January 1, 2007, the resulting interest expenses in-

contractual party to a ﬁnancing transaction is not necessarily able to

curred by the Group over the next 12 months would increase by about

fulﬁll its contractual obligations. Risks are mainly related to investment

EUR 4.8 million. During 2007, Kemira will re-price 74% of the Group’s

activities and the counterparty risks associated with derivative con-

net ﬁnancing portfolio, including derivatives. The Group’s average in-

tracts. Group Treasury may invest a maximum of EUR 150 million in liq-

terest rate maturity is 17 months. Kemira will price ﬂoating rate instru-

uid assets in the commercial papers of Finnish companies. The maxi-

ments when the next interest rate review is conducted, and the inter-

mum investment in a single company totals EUR 30 million for a period

est rate maturity for ﬁxed-interest instruments is the same as their re-

of up to six months. The Group’s credit risk equals the amount of its ﬁ-

maining maturity.

nancial receivables on December 31, 2006.

On the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding interest rate

Kemira sells its products only to companies whose credit informa-

derivatives of a market value of EUR 4.7 million. Some of the inter-

tion does not indicate payment irregularities. The Group does not have

est rate swaps are used to hedge the Group’s loan portfolio, and they

any signiﬁcant credit risk concentrations because of its extensive cus-

are accounted for in accordance with the principles of hedge account-

tomer base spread across the world. Credit limits apply to most cus-

ing set out in IAS 39. The Group’s accounting policies section describes

tomers and are monitored systematically. Some customers are insured

Group policy regarding hedge accounting.

through credit insurance taken out by each business unit. In addition,

The price of electricity varies greatly according to the market situ-

documentary payments are in use, such as letters of credit.

ation. Kemira Group takes hedging measures with respect to its electricity purchases in order to even out raw material costs. In line with

Liquidity risk

its hedging policy, the Group hedges its existing sales agreements in

In order to safeguard its liquidity, the Group uses account overdrafts,

such a way that the hedges cover the commitments made, primari-

money market investments and a revolving credit facility. The Group’s

ly using electricity forwards on the power exchange as hedging instru-

cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2006 stood at EUR 76.2 mil-

ments. Currency and regional price risks connected with hedges are ful-

lion, of which short-term investments accounted for EUR 35 million and

ly hedged by making agreements in HELEUR amounts. Electricity deriva-

bank deposits EUR 41.1 million. The unused revolving credit facility was

tives are treated in accordance with cash ﬂow hedge accounting, as dis-

EUR 566.8 million.

cussed above. The forecast physical deliveries of the underlying asset,

The Group diversiﬁes its reﬁnancing risk by raising ﬁnancing from

or purchases, are not recorded until the delivery period. If the price of

various sources in different markets. The Group has bank loans, pen-

electricity were not hedged and if changes occurred in production vol-

sion loans, insurance company loans as well as short-term domestic

umes or the cost structure, a change of one euro in the market price

and foreign commercial paper programs, with the objective of balanc-

per megawatt hour would affect proﬁt before tax by EUR 3 million in

ing the maturity schedule of the loan portfolio and maintaining a sufﬁ-

the Group.

ciently long maturity for long-term loans.

The annual price trend of propane is highly cyclical and on average

The Group has a EUR 600 million domestic commercial paper pro-

predictable. The long-term market trend has prompted the hedging of

gram enabling it to issue commercial papers with a maximum maturi-

propane purchases in order to promote stability and predictability in

ty of one year. In addition, it has concluded a ﬁve-year revolving credit
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The average interest rate of the Group’s loan portfolio stands at

Notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
EUR million

agreement of a nominal amount of EUR 750 million. At the turn of the

represents and warrants that its ﬁnancial standing will remain such that

year 2006/2007, EUR 183.2 million of this revolving credit facility was

the consolidated shareholders’ equity is always at least 25 per cent of

in use. The credit contains a covenant according to which the Company

consolidated total assets (equity ratio).

Money market, investments,
cash and other receivables

2006

EUR million

2005

Carrying amount

Fair value

Carrying amount

Fair value

Bank deposit

41.1

41.1

28.0

28.0

Short term placements

35.0

35.5

28.3

29.1

2.4

2.4

3.9

3.9

78.6

79.0

60.2

61.0

Non-current loan receivables
Total

The fair value of current receivables by discounting the carrying amount at an effective interest rate of 3.8% –4.0% (2.0% – 2.2% in 2005).
The fair value of non-current receivables is based on market prices, the effective rate varying between 0% and 4.2% (0 –3.5% in 2005)

Interest-bearing loans

EUR million

31/12/2005

31/12/2006
Fair

Carrying

Fair

Carrying

Currency

value

amount

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012-

value

amount

EUR

279.9

279.0

143.7

18.1

5.8

4.3

19.3

87.8

207.3

203.5

SEK

87.0

86.3

0.9

0.2

-

44.4

40.9

-

90.4

90.7

USD

214.9

210.7

42.7

0.2

10.3

35.0

22.3

100.2

153.0

151.1

Maturity

Other

37.5

37.4

34.6

2.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

9.3

9.1

Total

619.3

613.4

221.8

20.5

16.2

83.7

82.6

188.6

460.1

454.4

Effective interest rate varied between 0 and 12% (0 – 12% in 2005). The ﬁgures include planned repayments of loans for 2007.

Current and non-current term interest-bearing loans

EUR million

31/12/2006

31/12/2005
Maturity

Loan type
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Bonds

Drawn

Undrawn

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012-

Drawn

Undrawn

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

16.5

-

Loans from ﬁnancial
institutions

430.2

0.0

38.6

20.5

16.2

83.7

82.6

188.6

366.8

-

Revolving credit facility

183.2

566.8

183.2

-

-

-

-

-

71.2

678.8

272.0

328.0

272.0

-

-

-

-

-

201.0

399.0

18.2

0.0

18.2

-

-

-

-

-

20.5

-

903.6

894.8

512.0

20.5

16.2

83.7

82.6

188.6

676.0

1,077.8

Commercial paper
programme
Other short-term i-b loans
Total

96

Kemira 2006

EUR million

33

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Group Holding , %
Cairo

Egypt

Stockholm

Sweden

45.1

Ekomuovi Oy

Lahti

Finland

22.4

FC Energia Oy

Ikaalinen

Finland

34.0

FC Power Oy

Ikaalinen

Finland

34.0

Lahti

Finland

39.9

Haapaveden Puhdistamo Oy

Haapavesi

Finland

40.5

Haapaveden Ymparistöpalvelut Oy

Haapavesi

Finland

40.5

Ontario

Canada

50.0

Joutseno

Finland

50.0

Delaware

United States

50.0

Amman

Jordan

49.0

Rowley

United States

50.0

Manila

Philippines

40.0

Sala

Sweden

50.0

Sala

Sweden

50.0

Stockholm

Sweden

20.0

Summarised ﬁnancial information on associates (companies’ total amounts)

2006

2005

Assets

137.4

146.4

Liabilities

103.0

114.4

Revenue

89.7

95.3

Net proﬁt

–3.9

–2.9

2006

2005

32.4

8.2

BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB

Galvatek Technology Oy

HD Tech Inc
Honkalahden Teollisuuslaituri Oy
Huron Federal LLC
Kemira Arab Potash Company
KemMaq JV
Kemwater Phil., Corp.
Scanspac & Co KB
Scanspac AB
Swedish Water Corporation AB

Transactions with associated companies

Sale of goods
Sale of services

26.0

-

2.0

Total revenue

32.4

10.2

Sale of goods

28.4

6.0

-

0.9

28.4

6.9

Sale of services
Total revenue
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Aluminium Sulphate Co. of Egypt S.A.E.
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JOINT VENTURES

The Group’s joint ventures are Kemira-Ube Ltd, OOO Sto-Tikkurila

ments include shares of the joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, income

and Alcro Parti AB. Biolchim S.p.A was sold in 2006. The Group has a

and expenses as follows:

50% voting right in joint ventures. The consolidated ﬁnancial state2006

2005

4.4

7.1

Non-current assets
Current assets

6.1

15.3

10.5

22.4

Non-current liabilities

0.7

3.2

Current liabilities

4.3

8.8

Total liabilities

5.0

12.0

Total assets

Revenue
Costs

19.9

29.4

–17.5

–25.6

–1.4

–1.6

Depreciation
Financial income and expenses
Income taxes
Net proﬁt
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Kemira Kemi AB acquires the remaining 49% shareholding in Kem-

•

Kemira acquires four subsidiaries, wholly owned by Parcon A/S, in
Tanking Systems A/S and Storage and Production System A/S.

•

Kemira acquires Oy Galvatek AB (including subsidiaries Galvatek

Kemira Kemi AB acquires the remaining 8.33% shareholding in

Polska Sp.z.o.o. 100%, Galvatek Sweden AB 100% and associated

Kemwater Närke AB in February.

companies Galvatek Technology Oy 40% and Ekomuovi Oy 21%) in
October.

Kemira establishes a new company, Kemira Japan K.K, in Japan in
February.

•

Kemira establishes a new company, Kemira PPC Germany GmbH, in

•

Tikkurila establishes a new company, TOO Tikkurila, in the Republic

Germany in March.

•

Kemira acquires the Lanxess paper business unit in April. The

In October Kemira acquires the water treatment and acrylamide
business of Cytec Industries Inc., a US company.

•

Kemira acquires the remaining 35% of the shares in Kemira-Swiecie Sp.z.o.o. Kemira’s shareholding in Zao Kemira-Novo increases to
72% in November.

of Kazahkstan in March.
•

1.3

October: Gropa A/S, Roma 8660 Skanderborg A/S, Scandinavian

Tikkurila acquires OOO Kraski Teks, a Russian paint company in February.

•

–0.8

0.6

Taiwan in October.
•

water de México, S.A. de C.V. in January.
•

–0.1

CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE IN 2006

Acquired Group companies and founded subsidiaries
•

–0.4

•

Kemira establishes a new company, OOO KemiraHIM, in Russia in
December.

Lanxess paper business unit is wholly owned by Kemira Group comFINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

panies in different countries.
•

•

Kemira Group’s shareholding in Kemwater ProChemie s.r.o. rises to

Divested and liquidated Group companies

95.10% in April when Kemira Kemi AB increases its holding in the

•

Sia Tikkurila Coatings merges with Sia Tikkurila-Vivacolor in January.

company to 90%.

•

Erikem Inc, a dormant company owned by Finnish Chemicals Oy, is

•

Tikkurila Group winds up its dormant companies, Rosma AB and

•

Tikkurila Group sells its dormant company, Nordisk Branschgaranti

Kemira Kemi AB’s dormant company, Ahlbo Kemi AB, is renamed
Kemira Service Partner AB and starts operating in April.

•

Tikkurila increases its shareholding in TOB Kolorit Paints, an Ukranian
company, from 51% to 100% in July.

•

•
•
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AB, in March.
•

Tikkurila Group sells its dormant company, Färgmästaren JE Englund,

•

Kemira sells its shareholding (50%) in Biolchim Spa, including its

Russia in August.

•

Alcro-Beckers AB sells AB Lövholmsgränd 12 in May.

Tikkurila buys a new marketing company, Finncolor s.r.o., in the

•

Kemira GrowHow S.A. is liquidated in June.

Czech Republic in September.

•

Kemwater Services Oy merges with Kemira Oyj in September.

Kemira establishes a new company, Kemira Taiwan Corporation, in

•

Alcro-Beders AB sells Färgmästaren i Eskilstuna AB in December.

Kemira establishes a new company, Kemira Korea Corporation, in
South Korea in August.

•

Prodafa AB, in March.

Alcro-Beckers AB increases its shareholding in Holmbergs Färg
i Skövde AB from 91% to 100% in July.

•

liquidated in January.

in March.

Tikkurila establishes a jointly owned company, OOO Sto-Tikkurila, in

Kemira 2006

holding in Biolchim Tunisie, in March.

EUR million

•

Kemiron Inc., Kemiron Paciﬁc, Inc., Kemiron North America Corpora-

Changes in intra-Group holdings

tion, Kemiron Atlantic, Inc., Kemiron NorthWest, Inc., Kemiron Gulf,
Inc., Midland Resources Inc., Kemiron Great Lakes, LLC, Eaglebrook

•

International Group, Ltd and Eaglebrook Inc. merge with Kemira Water Solutions, Inc. in December.
•

February.
•

Kemira Oyj buys Kemira Chimica S.p.A. from Kemira Ibérica S.A in

•

Kemira Oyj acquires Kemira Mexico S.A. de C.V, except one share,

Kemiron Equipment , LLC merges with Kemira Logistics, Inc. in December.

•

Kemiron Aqua Mansa, LLC is liquidated in December.

Kemira Oyj buys Kemwater Christal S.A. from Kemira Kemi AB in

September.
from Kemira Kemi AB in December.

Corporate name changes

Previous name

Current Name

Ahlbo Kemi AB

Kemira Service Partner AB

Kemwater de México, S.A. de C.V.

Kemira de México, S.A. de C.V.

Kemira GrowHow España S.A.

Kemira Speciality Crop Care España S.A.

TOB Kolorit Paints

TOB Tikkurila

Kemira Services Holland B.V.

Kemira Water Solutions B.V.

Kemiron Companies, Inc.
Eaglebrook Inc. of Canada
Kemira Pigments Asia Paciﬁc Pte. Ltd.

Kemira Water Solutions, Inc.
Kemira Water Solutions Canada Inc.
Kemira Asia Paciﬁc Pte. Ltd.

Finncolor s.r.o

Tikkurila s.r.o

Kemiron -Trans, Inc

Kemira logistics, Inc.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DIRECTLY
ASSOCIATED LIABILITIES

Non-current assets held for sale include the Kemira Pulp&Paper seg-

2006. In 2005, the sites were closed down and a write-down of EUR

ment’s assets of US and Canada-based sites and the assets of Onep-

8.2 was recognized and a provision was made. Negotiations with buy-

oint Oy which is located in Kokkola, Finland. OnePoint Oy is not includ-

ers for the sale of the sites are continuing.

ed in any reportable segment. The total liabilities of OnePoint Oy are

The Montreal site (E.Q.U.IP) in Canada was classiﬁed as a non-cur-

included in liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classi-

rent asset held for sale in December 2006. Negotiations with buyers

ﬁed as held for sale. The assets and liabilities of Gamol, a small Swed-

for the sale of the site are continuing.

ish company integrated with the Kemira Coating segment, were included in these items as well.
In December 2006, a letter of intent was signed for the sale of the

Other disposal groups’ values are recognized at carrying amount,
except for OnePoint’s which is recognized at fair value. The non-current
asset held for sale includes the company’s property, plant and equip-

Finnish service company Onepoint Oy. In reference to this, the com-

ment and intangible assets of EUR 2.5 million, inventories EUR 1.8 mil-

pany was classiﬁed as held for sale. The assets of the company were

lion, receivables EUR 4.1 million and cash and equivalents EUR 2.0 mil-

measured at fair value and an impairment loss of EUR 1.5 million was

lion. The liabilities of the disposal group classiﬁed as held for sale in-

recognised in the income statement as well as a decrease in property,

clude OnePoint Oy’s non-interest-bearing liabilities of EUR 6.8 million

plant and equipment and intangible assets.

and interest-bearing liabilities of EUR 2.0 million. The assets of other

The US-based production companies (Midway, West Oak, Shreve-
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disposal groups totaled EUR 4.0 million and liabilities EUR 0.1 million.

port, Fortville and Montreal) were classiﬁed as held for sale in January

37

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Kemira has sold its 50% shareholding in Kemira Arab Potash Company Ltd (Kemapco) to Arab Potash Company Ltd (APC).
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Kemira Oyj Financial statements (FAS)
EUR million

INCOME STATEMENT (FAS)

Revenue
Change in inventories of ﬁnished goods
Own work capitalised
Other operating income
Materials and services
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expense
Operating loss/proﬁt

1/1 – 31/12
2006

2005

266.1

235.6

–2.0

4.6

1.5

2.1

15.5

44.9

–125.6

–109.6

–74.0

–64.1

–19.2

–21.3

–115.4

–65.3

–53.1

26.9

3.8

–13.3

–49.3

–13.6

52.0

46.7

Proﬁt before appropriations and taxes

2.7

60.3

Appropriations

1.3

3.3

Income tax

–8.9

–21.3

Net loss/proﬁt

–4.9

42.3

Financial income and expenses
Loss/proﬁt before extraordinary items, appropriations and tax
Extraordinary items

The Annual Report contains the Parent Company’s ﬁnancial statements in summary. Kemira has sent a copy of the full, ofﬁcial ﬁnancial statements to the
Trade Register and the Finnish Financial Supervision Authority.
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EUR million

BALANCE SHEET (FAS)
31/12
ASSETS

2006

2005

Non-current assets

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

23.8

16.1

106.9

105.3

928.0

874.6

3.9

10.4

Investments
Holdings in subsidiaries
Holdings in associates
Other shares and holdings
Total investments
Total non-current assets

12.9

11.9

944.8

896.9

1,075.5

1,018.3

Current assets

Inventories

15.1

17.7

Non-current receivables

452.8

471.0

Current receivables

499.7

252.2

Money market investments - cash equivalents

18.2

6.5

Cash and bank

40.8

3.9

Total current assets

1,026.6

751.3

Total assets

2,102.1

1,769.6

Share capital

221.6

221.3

Capital paid-in excess of par value

257.9

257.8

Retained earnings

266.8

267.3

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Net proﬁt

–4.9

42.3

741.4

788.7

Appropriations

43.3

44.6

Obligatory provisions

54.2

54.2

Non-current liabilities

424.3

412.5

Current liabilities

838.9

469.6

Total equity

Total liabilities

1,263.2

882.1

Total equity and liabilities

2,102.1

1,769.6
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Liabilities

Kemira Oyj Financial statements (FAS)
EUR million

CASH FLOW STATEMENT (FAS)

1/1 – 31/12
2006

2005

Cash ﬂows from operating activities

Operating loss/proﬁt

–53.1

27.4

Adjustments to operating loss proﬁt

–4.9

–32.8

Depreciation

19.2

21.3

Interest received

42.0

20.6

–44.1

–25.3

5.4

3.3

Interest paid
Dividend received
Other ﬁnancing items

5.5

–28.5

Income taxes paid

–15.9

–28.1

Total funds from operations

–45.9

–42.1

Change in net working capital

Change in inventories

2.6

–4.5

Change in current receivables

–0.5

–10.0

Change in non-interest-bearing current liabilities

23.5

3.6

Change in net working capital, total

25.6

–10.9

–20.3

–53.0

–69.9

–381.8

Total cash ﬂows from operations
Cash ﬂows from investing activities

Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Purchase of other shares
Purchase of other plant, property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries
Proceeds from sale of other shares
Proceeds from sale of other plant, property and equipment

–1.0

–3.6

–29.4

–22.6

26.0

-

-

53.6

3.0

52.4

Total capital expenditure

–71.3

–302.0

Cash ﬂow before ﬁnancing

–91.6

–355.0

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities

Change in non-current loans (increase +, decrease –)
Change in non-current loan receivables (decrease +, increase –)
Current ﬁnancing, net (increase +, decrease –)
Increase in shareholdes’ equity
Increase in share premium
Group contribution
Dividends paid
Other

554.8

–7.5

–208.4

–40.5

–310.6

0.4

0.5

-

0.3

46.7

24.1

–43.6

–44.7

3.5

–0.8

140.1

15.2

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

48.5

–339.8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

59.0

10.5

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

10.5

350.3

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

48.5

–339.8
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Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities
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181.1
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EUR million

EQUITY

2006

2005

Share capital at Jan. 1

221.3

220.7

Increase (options)
Share capital at Dec. 31
Share issue Jan. 1
Transfer to share capital
Share issue Dec. 31
Share premium account at Jan. 1
Increase (options)

0.3

0.6

221.6

221.3

-

0.1

-

-0.1

-

-

257.8

257.5

0.1

0.3

Share premium account at Dec. 31

257.9

257.8

Retained earnings at Jan. 1

309.7

312.0

Net proﬁt for the year

–4.9

42.3

–43.6

–41.0

Dividends paid
Revaluation cancelled

-

–4.3

0.7

0.7

Retained earnings and net proﬁt for the year at Dec. 31

261.8

309.7

Total equity at Dec. 31

741.4

788.8

Share-based incentive plan; shares given

1)
Because of the change of the Companies Act the presentation of treasury shares changed in 2005. Treasury shares are no longer presented under assets.
Treasury shares are included in retained earnings

Company owns 3,979,670 treasury shares, whose nominal value totals EUR 7,1 million and acquisition cost totals EUR 26.8 million.

EUR million

Number

Acquisition cost/number 1/1/2006

27.5

4,087,760

Change

–0.7

–108,090

Acquisition cost/number 31/12/2006

26.8

3,979,670
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Changes in treasury shares
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Shares and Shareholders

Shares and share capital
In accordance with Kemira Oyj’s Articles of Association, the Company’s share capital may vary between EUR 217 and 850 million, within
which limits the Company may increase or reduce the share capital
without amending the Articles of Association. On December 31,
2006, the share capital totaled EUR 221.6 million and the number of
outstanding shares 124,967,611, with each share entitling its holder
to one vote at the shareholders’ meeting.
In 2006, the Company increased its share capital 4 times, based
on subscriptions for 2001 stock options, with the result that the
number of outstanding shares increased by 166,011 new shares and
the share capital by EUR 0.3 million. Kemira Oyj shares are registered
within the book-entry system.
Shareholders
On December 31, 2006, Kemira Oyj had 16,280 registered shareholders, of which nominee-registered shareholders accounted for 21%
(17%). On the same date, the Finnish State held 48.6% (48.7%) of
the Company’s shares and voting rights. On the basis of a resolution
passed by Parliament in 2001, the State’s holding in the Company
may decrease to 15%. A new resolution by Parliament is required for
shareholdings below this level.
Purchase obligation of shares
A shareholder whose holding in the Company’s total outstanding
shares, either alone or together with other shareholders as deﬁned
in the Articles of Association, reaches 331/3 per cent or exceeds
50 per cent shall, upon other shareholders’ demand, purchase their
shares and the securities which, under the Companies Act, give title
to said shares in the manner speciﬁed in the Articles of Association.
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Listing and share trading
Listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange, Kemira Oyj share closed at EUR
17.03, up by 26% year on year. The highest quotation was EUR 17.17
and the lowest EUR 11.07, while the share price averaged EUR 14.19.
During the 2006 calendar year, Kemira Oyj’s share trading volume
on the Helsinki Stock Exchange totaled 76.3 million, valued at EUR
1,084.1 million. The Company’s market capitalization, excluding treasury shares, was EUR 2.060,4 million on December 31, 2006.
Dividend policy
Kemira aims to distribute a dividend that accounts for 30–50% of its
net operating income. The Company’s Board of Directors will propose
to the Annual General Meeting that a per-share dividend of EUR 0.48
be paid for the 2006 ﬁnancial year, accounting for a dividend payout
of 50% of net operating income.
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Board authorizations
The Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2006 authorized the Board
to decide on buying back Company shares (treasury shares) using
distributable earnings in such a way that the number of shares to
be bought back may total a maximum of 2,146,640. This number,
together with treasury shares already owned by the Company,
accounts for 5% of the Company’s share capital and voting rights.
The Company may buy back shares in order to ﬁnance acquisitions
of assets within the scope of the Company’s business operations,
develop the Company’s capital structure, incentivize its personnel (as
part of the 2004 share-based incentive plan) or dispose of the shares
in other ways or cancel them. This authorization is valid until April 11,
2007. The Company didn’t buy back any shares during 2006.
In addition, the Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of
Directors to decide on transfering a maximum of 6,240,080 treasury
shares. The Annual General Meeting authorized the Board to waive
the shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription right provided that, from
the Company’s perspective, there are signiﬁcant ﬁnancial reasons for
doing so, such as ﬁnancing or implementing mergers, acquisitions or
similar corporate transactions, or incentivizing certain employees. This
authorization is valid until April 11, 2007. On December 31, 2006, the
Company had 3,979,670 treasury shares.
In addition, the Annual General Meeting authorized the Board
of Directors to decide on increasing the Company’s share capital
by issuing new shares, stock options or convertible bonds in one or
several tranches. As a result of the share issue, share subscriptions
based on the stock options and the convertible bonds converted into
company shares, the increase of the Company’s share capital may be
maximum EUR 22,1 million and the Company may issue a maximum
total of 12,480,160 new shares, whose stated value is around EUR
1.77, accounting for a total of 10% of the Company’s registered
share capital and votes conferred by the shares. The Annual General
Meeting authorized the Board to decide on a subscription price,
bases for its determination and other terms and aspects related
to the share issue, stock options or convertible bonds. In addition,
the Annual General Meeting authorized the Board to waive the
shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription right provided that, from the
Company’s perspective, there are signiﬁcant ﬁnancial reasons for
doing so, such as ﬁnancing or implementing mergers, acquisitions
or similar corporate transactions, or incentivizing certain employees.
The Board of Directors may decide on those entitled to subscriptions,
but said decision may not be made in favor of people as referred
to in Paragraph 1, Section 4, Chapter 1 of the Companies Act. The
Board may not decide to grant stock options to Company employees
or management. The Annual General Meeting also authorized the
Board to decide that the share subscription be implemented in kind

or otherwise on certain terms and conditions as prescribed by the

must retain shares obtained through the scheme at least to the value

Companies Act. This authorization is valid until April 11, 2007. The

of their gross annual salary for as long as they remain in the Com-

Board did not exercise the authorization in 2006.

pany’s employ. On December 31, 2006, a total of 78 key employees
were involved in the share-based incentive plan. The maximum

Management stock options and share-based incentive plan

number of Kemira Oyj shares transferable under the incentive plan

Kemira currently has a stock option program launched in 2001 and

during three years comes to around 510,000.

share-based incentive plans established in 2004 and 2006.

In February 2006, the Board of Directors decided on a new sharebased incentive plan designed for key employees, which is similar to

Share-based incentive plan
In the spring of 2004, the Board of Directors decided on a new
share-based incentive plan designed for key employees as part
of the Group’s incentive schemes. This share-based incentive plan
aims at aligning with the goals of the Group’s shareholders and key
executives in order to increase the Company’s value, motivate key
executives and provide them with competitive, shareholding-based
incentives.
This incentive plan is divided into the following three, year-long
performance periods: 2004, 2005 and 2006. Any bonuses earned
are to be paid out during the year following the performance period,
depending on the achievement of the set ﬁnancial targets gauged on
the basis of earnings per share and the return on capital employed.
Bonus payments take the form of both Kemira shares and cash.
Any shares earned through the plan must be held for a minimum
of two years following the date of each payment. The key employee
must return the shares to the Company without payment if his/her
employment or service with the Company is terminated of his/her
own accord or by the Company within two years of the payment. In
addition, the President and CEO and Management Boards’ members

the 2004 share-based incentive plan in terms of its basic structure
and extent. This incentive plan is divided into the following three,
year-long performance periods: 2007, 2008 and 2009. The maximum
number of Kemira Oyj shares transferable under the incentive plan
during three years may total around 774,000.
The shares transferable under the plan comprise treasury shares
or Kemira Oyj shares available in public trading.

Management shareholding
The members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board as
well as the President and CEO and his Deputy held 119,485 Kemira
Oyj shares on December 31, 2006, or 0.10% (0.08%) of all outstanding shares and voting rights (including treasury shares and shares
held by related parties and controlled corporations). Board members
are not covered by the stock option program or the share-based
incentive plan.
Insider rules
Kemira Oyj complies with the insider guidelines issued by the Helsinki
Stock Exchange. Kemira Oyj’s insiders in the Company’s public register and Kemira’s permanent company-speciﬁc insiders may not trade
in Company shares during the 30 days prior to the release of the
Company’s interim report or ﬁnancial statements bulletin.
Information on Kemira Oyj shares held by insiders subject to
disclosure requirements is available for inspection within Finnish
Central Securities Depository Ltd’s SIRE system (address: Finnish
Central Securities Depository Ltd, Urho Kekkosen katu 5 C, Helsinki)
and NetSire service.
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Stock option program 2001
The Annual General Meeting on April 3, 2001 decided on a stock
option program whereby members of the Company’s management
were entitled to receive stock options conferring the right to subscribe for a maximum of 2,850,000 Kemira Oyj shares between May
2, 2004 and May 31, 2007. The commencement of the subscription
period was conditional and tied to Kemira’s consolidated earnings
per share after ﬁnancial items and before taxes and extraordinary
items, as well as to Kemira Oyj’s share price performance in relation
to a comparison index. On the basis of the subscriptions under the
stock option program, a total of 2,607,611 new Kemira shares were
entered in the Trade Register by the end of 2006. On December 31,
2006, the share subscription price was EUR 2.11 per share, in accordance with the conditions of the stock option program. The subscription price will be reduced by the amount of dividends distributed. On
the basis of the subscriptions under the 2001 stock option program,
the number of shares may increase by a maximum of 77,389.

Shares and Shareholders

Largest shareholders December 31, 2006
Shareholder

Number of shares

% of shares and votes

607,753,920

48.62

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company

2,318,900

1.86

3

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company

2,141,262

1.71

4

Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company

1,208,000

0.97

5

The State Pension Fund

900,000

0.72

6

Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company

769,627

0.62

7

Equity Fund Nordea Small Cap

752,900

0.60

8

Nordea Bank Finland

740,864

0.59

9

Odin Förvaltnings AS

718,561

0.57

10

OP-Suomi Arvo Investment Fund

685,000

0.55

11

Etera Mutual Pension Insurance Company

641,300

0.51

12

Evli Bank

635,970

0.51

13

OP Delta Investment Fund

564,794

0.45

14

Mutual Insurance Company Pension Fennia

422,000

0.34

15

Tapiola Mutual Insurance Company

407,800

0.33

16

OP-Suomi Pienyhtiöt Fund

390,000

0.31

17

Kemira GrowHow Pension Fund

386,760

0.31

18

Equity Fund Nordea Fennia

366,700

0.29

19

Nordea Life Assurance Finland

353,992

0.28

20

FIM Fenno Mutual Fund

344,080

0.28

3,979,670

3.18

Nominee-registered shares

25,979,559

20.79

Others, total

19,505,952

15.61

124,967,611

100.00

1

Finnish State

2

Kemira Oyj

Total

Shareholding by number of shares held December 31, 2006

Number of Shares
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2006

Number of shareholders

% of shareholders

Shares total

% of shares and votes

1–100

3,160

19.41

219,066

0.17

101–500

7,322

44.97

2,085,638

1.67

501–1,000

3,099

19.04

2,448,487

1.96

1,001–5,000

2,254

13.84

4,598,711

3.68

5,001–10,000

206

1.27

1,532,560

1.22

10,001–50,000

165

1.01

3,298,012

2.64

50,001–100,000

31

0.19

2,345,505

1.88

100,001–500,000

26

0.16

5,745,477

4.60

500,001–1,000,000

9

0.06

6,409,016

5.13

1,000,001–

8

0.05

96,285,139

77.05

16,280

100.00

124,967,611

100.00

25,979,559

20.79

Total
Including nominee-registered shares
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Board proposal for proﬁt distribution
The Board proposes to the Annual General meeting that distributa-

On December 31, 2006 Kemira Oyj’s distributable funds totaled
EUR 261,897,494, of which net loss for the period accounted for

ble funds be allocated as follows:

EUR 4,923,926.

–

Distributing a per-share dividend of EUR 0.48 for the ﬁnancial year,

–

Retaining EUR 203,823,282 under unrestricted equity

or a total of EUR 58,074,212.

No material changes have taken place in the company’s ﬁnancial
position after the balance sheet date.

Helsinki, February 5, 2007

Anssi Soila

Eija Malmivirta

Elizabeth Armstrong

Ove Mattsson

Heikki Bergholm

Markku Tapio

Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen

Lasse Kurkilahti
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Auditors´ report
To the shareholders of Kemira Oyj
We have audited the accounting records, the report of the Board of Di-

Consolidated ﬁnancial statements

rectors, the ﬁnancial statements and the administration of Kemira Oyj

In our opinion the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, prepared in ac-

for the period January 1 – December 31, 2006. The Board of Directors

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted

and the Managing Director have prepared the consolidated ﬁnancial

by the EU, give a true and fair view, as deﬁned in those standards and

statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-

in the Finnish Accounting Act, of the consolidated results of operations

ing Standards as adopted by the EU, containing the consolidated bal-

as well as of the ﬁnancial position.

ance sheet, income statement, cash ﬂow statement, statement on
the report of the Board of Directors and the parent company’s ﬁnan-

Parent company’s ﬁnancial statements, report of
the Board of Directors and administration

cial statements, prepared in accordance with prevailing regulations in

In our opinion the parent company’s ﬁnancial statements have been

Finland, containing the parent company’s balance sheet, income state-

prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other ap-

ment, cash ﬂow statement and notes to the ﬁnancial statements.

plicable Finnish rules and regulations. The parent company’s ﬁnancial

Based on our audit, we express an opinion on the consolidated ﬁnan-

statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s result of

cial statements, as well as on the report of the Board of Directors, the

operations and of the ﬁnancial position.

parent company’s ﬁnancial statements and the administration.

In our opinion the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in

the changes in equity and notes to the ﬁnancial statements, as well as

We conducted our audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on

accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other applicable Finn-

Auditing. Those standards require that we perform the audit to obtain

ish rules and regulations. The report of the Board of Directors is consist-

reasonable assurance about whether the report of the Board of Direc-

ent with the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the parent compa-

tors and the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement.

ny’s ﬁnancial statements and gives a true and fair view, as deﬁned in

An audit includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the

the Finnish Accounting Act, of the result of operations and of the ﬁnan-

amounts and disclosures in the report and in the ﬁnancial statements,

cial position.

assessing the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates

The consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the parent company’s ﬁnan-

made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall ﬁnancial

cial statements can be adopted and the members of the Superviso-

statement presentation. The purpose of our audit of the administra-

ry Board, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the par-

tion is to examine whether the members of the Supervisory Board, the

ent company can be discharged from liability for the period audited by

Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the parent company

us. The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the disposal of the

have complied with the rules of the Companies Act.

distributable funds is in compliance with the Companies Act.
Helsinki February 6, 2007
KPMG OY AB
Pekka Pajamo
Authorized Public Accountant
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Statement of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board of the Kemira Oyj has read the ﬁnancial state-

The Supervisory Board recommendsproposes that the ﬁnancial

ments of the parent company and the Group for 2006 and studied the

statements of the parent company and the Group be adopted and that

Auditors’ report at its meeting today.

the Board of Directors, the Managing Director and his deputy be dis-

The Supervisory Board advises the 2007 Annual General Meet-

charged from liability.

ing that the company has been managed well and that it has no comments to make on the ﬁnancial statements of the parent company and

The Supervisory Board concurs with the proposal of the Board of Directors for the distribution of proﬁt funds.

the Group for 2006.
Helsinki, February 12, 2007
Aulis Ranta-Muotio
Risto Ranki
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Pekka Kainulainen

Mikko Långström

Susanna Rahkonen

EUR million

QUARTERLY EARNINGS PERFORMANCE
2006
(Unaudited ﬁgures)

1–3

4–6

7–9

10–12

2005

Total

1–3

4–6

7–9

10–12

Total

Revenue

Kemira Pulp&Paper

209.5

257.9

261.9

264.0

993.3

137.7

166.1

202.5

209.0

715.3

92.3

102.1

101.7

171.5

467.6

79.6

89.9

92.5

91.2

353.2

Kemira Specialty

118.6

107.6

112.8

117.2

456.2

76.0

109.1

104.2

119.1

408.4

Kemira Coatings

118.6

170.3

164.6

109.3

562.8

99.1

138.2

129.9

90.3

457.5

13.9

9.6

11.6

7.5

42.6

11.3

22.9

13.9

11.9

60.0

552.9

647.5

652.6

669.5

2,522.5

403.7

526.2

543.0

521.5

1,994.4

26.0

20.4

24.3

20.1

90.8

11.2

6.3

23.1

20.9

61.5

6.4

9.6

9.0

10.3

35.3

5.4

7.9

8.0

6.9

28.2

Kemira Specialty

11.3

11.7

11.7

11.1

45.8

8.5

9.0

11.7

16.2

45.4

Kemira Coatings

9.6

25.0

39.0

–1.5

72.1

8.4

20.1

20.6

6.8

55.9

Other including eliminations

–7.8

–15.2

–8.9

–10.4

–42.3

–3.2

–3.7

–4.2

–14.4

–25.5

Total

45.5

51.5

75.1

29.6

201.7

30.3

39.6

59.2

36.4

165.5

Financial income and expenses

–7.1

–5.8

–11.6

–12.7

–37.2

–3.4

–12.3

–6.6

–8.2

–30.5

Share of associates’ results

–0.9

–0.6

0.3

–1.1

–2.3

–0.2

0.8

–0.8

–1.3

–1.5

Proﬁt before tax

37.5

45.1

63.8

15.8

162.2

26.7

28.1

51.8

26.9

133.5

Income tax

–10.9

–13.1

–17.9

–0.1

–42.0

–7.5

–8.9

–17.7

–8.0

–42.1

Net proﬁt

26.6

32.0

45.9

15.7

120.2

19.2

19.2

34.1

18.9

91.4

25.8

31.0

45.0

14.8

116.6

18.2

18.2

33.4

18.7

88.5

0.8

1.0

0.9

0.9

3.6

1.0

1.0

0.7

0.2

2.9

Net proﬁt

26.6

32.0

45.9

15.7

120.2

19.2

19.2

34.1

18.9

91.4

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR

0.21

0.26

0.37

0.12

0.96

0.15

0.15

0.28

0.15

0.73

Kemira Water

Other and intra-Group sales
Total
Operating proﬁt

Kemira Pulp&Paper
Kemira Water

Attributable to

Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

Capital employed, rolling
ROCE, %

1,876.6

1,662.9

10.6

9.9

Segment comparatives for 2005 have been adjusted as described in Note 2.
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Financial reports
Kemira will publish the following ﬁnancial reports for the ﬁnancial
year 2007 in Finnish and English:

Monthly trading volume on Helsinki
Stock Exchange 2002 – 2006
Million shares
2002

May 2, 2007

Interim Report for January – March

July 26, 2007

Interim Report for January – June

16

Interim Report for January – September

14

October 31, 2007
February 2008
March 2008

2003

2004

2005

2006

20
18

12

Financial Statements Bulletin

10

Annual Report

8
6

Kemira publishes its Interim Reports, press releases and Annual Reports on its website, www.kemira.com, on which visitors

4
2
0

can register to receive press releases by e-mail and order the
company’s Annual Reports. Orders for Annual Reports can also be
sent to Kemira Oyj, Group Communications, tel. +358 10 8611, fax
+358 10 862 1797 and by e-mail to postitus@kemira.com.
Share Price 2002 – 2006
Investor relations
The purpose of Kemira’s investor relations is to provide capital
markets with open and reliable information on the company and
its operating environment in order to give a factual view of Kemira
as an investment to those operating in the market. All parties in
the market must be equally and fairly informed and all relevant
information must be simultaneously and publicly available.
Kemira’s investor relations function is responsible for investor
relations and daily communications. The Group’s top management
is actively involved in investor relations and is regularly available to
capital market representatives across the world.
The company observes a 30-day closed period before it publishes its ﬁnancial statements bulletin and interim reports, and during this period Kemira’s management is not available for meetings
with capital market representatives.

EUR
2002

2003

2004

2005

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
KEMIRA
OMX Helsinki CAP
FTSE EUROFIRST 300 CHEMICALS

Ownership Dec. 31, 2006
8,5%
%
8,1

3,3%%
3,2

18,4 %
22,1 %

48,7%
%
48,6

21,7 %
17,4 %
Suomen
valtio
The Finnish
State
Ulkomaat
*)
International*
Muut
instituutiot
Other suomalaiset
Finnish institutions
Kotitaloudet
Households
Kemira
Kemira
*)
Sisältäänominee-registered
hallintarekisteröidyt
* Including
omistukset
institutions.
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2006

Investor Relations
Timo Leppä, Executive Vice President, Group Communications,
tel. +358 10 862 1700,
e-mail timo.leppa@kemira.com
Andreas Langhoff, Investor Relations Manager,
tel. +358 10 862 1140, e-mail andreas.langhoff@kemira.com

Investment analysis
At the least the following banks and brokerage ﬁrms have prepared an investment analysis of Kemira in 2006.
ABN Amro
Carnegie
Cazenove
Crédit Agricole Cheuvreux
Deutsche Bank
eQ Bank
Evli Bank
FIM
Handelsbanken
Kaupthing Bank
Mandatum
Morgan Stanley
Opstock
SEB Enskilda
Standard & Poor’s
Öhman

Annual General Meeting
Date: Monday, April 16, 2007, starting at 1:00pm
Venue: Marina Congress Center, Katajanokanlaituri 6, Helsinki.
Attendance is open to shareholders who have been entered in
Kemira Oyj’s Shareholder Register, maintained by Finnish Central
Securities Depository Ltd, by April 5, 2007.
Shareholders wishing to attend the meeting must give notiﬁcation of their intention to attend by 4:00pm Finnish time on April 5,
2007, using one of the following means:
– On Kemira’s website at www.kemira.com/Group,
– By letter addressed to Kemira Oyj, Arja Korhonen,
P.O. Box 330, FI – 00101 Helsinki
– By fax +358 10 862 1780 or
– By telephone +358 10 862 1703 on weekdays between 9:00am
and noon and between 1:00 and 3:00pm.
Shareholders wishing to be represented by proxy are requested
to provide Power of Attorney together with their notiﬁcation.
Any shareholder has the right to submit an issue pertaining to
the Company’s industry and a statutory issue for discussion by the
shareholders’ meeting, if (s)he requests this in writing from the
Board of Directors well in advance, so that the issue can be incorporated into the Notice of Meeting.
Kemira will release a stock exchange release on the Annual
General Meeting’s decisions immediately after the meeting.

The contact information of equity analysts monitoring Kemira
can be found on the company’s website at www.kemira.com
under Investors – Share.
Market value 2002 – 2006
EUR million
2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0
Market value
Total equity
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Dividend payments 2007
Dividend ex-date

April 17, 2007

Dividend record date

April 19, 2007

Dividend payout

April 26, 2007

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting
that a per-share dividend of EUR 0.48 be paid for the ﬁnancial year
2006.

Earnings per share, EPS
EUR
Euroa
1.00

02

03

04

05

06

0.75
0.50
0.25

Change of address
Kemira’s shareholders are kindly requested to report any change
of address to the bank or brokerage ﬁrm in which they have their
book-entry account. This will also update information in registers,
maintained by Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd (APK),
which Kemira uses to send mail to its shareholders. Kemira may
not change its shareholders’ address information and APK may
update only information regarding those holding their book-entry
accounts within APK

0.00
Earnings per share
Share of impairment loss

Dividend per share
EUR
Euroa
02

03

04

05

06

2.0

Basic share information
KRA1V (OMX)

ISIN Code

FI0009004824

Listing date
Number of shares, Dec. 31, 2006

0.5

124,967,611

0.0

Materials

Industry group

Materials

Sub-industry

Kemira 2006

1.0

November 10,1994

Sector
Industry
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1.5

Trading code

Chemicals
Diversiﬁed chemicals

GrowHow’s shares distributed as dividends

Locations
Kemira Pulp&Paper
Kemira Water
Kemira Specialty
Kemira Coatings

Major events
January

July

• Timo-Pekka Räty, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus.Adm.) takes up his
duties as Kemira’s Executive Vice President, Information
Technology, and becomes a member of the Group Management Board.

• Kemira spends EUR 10 million extending its Oulu formic
acid facilities.
• Tikkurila, in charge of Kemira Coatings, strengthens its
market position in the CIS region, especially in the Ukraine,
by increasing its holding in Kolorit Paints to 100%.
• Kemira and Metachem establish a jointly owned company
in São Paulo, Brazil, engaged in the production, sale and
marketing of animal feed additives.

February
• Tikkurila, in charge of Kemira Coatings, becomes the
leading decorative paint company in Russia through the
conﬁrmation of the acquisition of Kraski Teks, a paint
company.

March
• Mats Jungar, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.) takes up his duties
as President of Kemira Water and becomes a member of
the Group Management Board.

April
• Kemira becomes the world’s leading supplier of pulp and
paper chemicals through the conﬁrmation of the Lanxess
paper chemicals business’s acquisition.
• Kemira sells its holding (50%) in Bilchim Spa, a manufacturer of water-soluble specialty fertilizers.
• Kemira acquires IFAC of Germany, specializing in research
services and development projects for the cosmetics
industry.
• Annual General Meeting: the AGM re-elects the Board of
Directors chaired by Anssi Soila.

May
• The European Commission imposes a ﬁne of EUR 33
million on Kemira for anti-competitive practices associated with the company’s hydrogen peroxide business in
1994–2000.
• Kemira decides to start producing hydrogen peroxide in
Uruguay, South America, and agrees to sell its hydrogen
peroxide unit in South Korea.
• Kemira opens a water-treatment chemicals sales ofﬁce in
Klaipeda, Lithuania.
• Alcro-Beckers within the Kemira Coatings sells its factory
site in Stockholm and announces that it will build a new
plant in Nykvarn, Sweden.

June
• Tikkurila, in charge of Kemira Coatings, and Sto AG
of Germany agree to set up a co-owned company in
Moscow.
• Oulun Vesi (Oulu Water Utility) opts for the Kemicond
method, developed by Kemira, for the handling and
disposal of sludge from wastewater treatment processes.

August
• St. Petersburg Water Works and Kemira signs an agreement, extending to 2015, for producing drinking water
and purifying wastewater.

September
• Tikkurila, in charge of Kemira Coatings, establishes a
sales company in Almaty, Kazakhstan, and buys a sales
company in the Czech Republic.
• The sale of Kemira’s hydrogen peroxide unit in South
Korea is conﬁrmed.
• Kemira acquires Bayer AG’s agency business in charge
of the sales and marketing of paper chemicals.

October
• The sale of the Cytec water treatment chemicals and
acrylamide business to Kemira is conﬁrmed, this acquisition almost doubling Kemira Water’s revenue.
• Kemira expands its water chemicals business in
Scandinavia by acquiring four companies from Parcon
of Denmark, a distribution company.
• Harri Kerminen takes up his duties as President, Kemira
Pulp&Paper, and Pekka Ojanpää as President, Kemira
Specialty, both remaining members of the Group Management Board.
• Kemira expands its water treatment and environmental
business by purchasing Galvatek, a Finnish company
specializing in the treatment, recycling and recovery of
industrial side streams.

November
• Kemira expands its water chemicals business in China
by buying an 80% shareholding in Chongqing Lanjie Tap
Water Materials.
• Kemira Pulp&Paper business area enters Argentina by
agreeing to build a chlorine dioxide unit.

December
• Kemira increases its shareholding in Kemira Swieci, a
producer and seller of paper chemicals and crude tall oil,
to 100%.
• Tikkurila, in charge of Kemira Coatings, begins producing
industrial coatings in Russia by buying a 70% holding in
two paint manufacturers based in St. Petersburg.

January 2007
• Petri Boman takes up his duties as Executive Vice President, Procurement and Logistics, and becomes a member
of the Group Management Board.
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Kemira Oyj
Porkkalankatu 3
P.O. BOX 330
FI-00101
Tel. +358 10 8611
Fax +358 10 862 1119
e-mail: ﬁrstname.lastname@kemira.com
www.kemira.com
Domicile Helsinki, VAT NO FI0109823-0

